
Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

Selby District Council 
 
 

Agenda 
 

 
 
Meeting: Executive 
Date: Thursday, 8 December 2022 
Time: 4.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Doncaster Road, Selby, 

YO8 9FT 
To: Councillors M Crane (Chair), R Musgrave (Vice-Chair), 

C Lunn, D Buckle and T Grogan 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) 

 
 The Executive is asked to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3 

November 2022. 
 

3.   Disclosures of Interest  
 

 A copy of the Register of Interest for each Selby District Councillor is 
available for inspection at www.selby.gov.uk. 
 
Councillors should declare to the meeting any disclosable pecuniary 
interest in any item of business on this agenda which is not already 
entered in their Register of Interests. 
 
Councillors should leave the meeting and take no part in the 
consideration, discussion or vote on any matter in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 
Councillors should also declare any other interests. Having made the 
declaration, provided the other interest is not a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, the Councillor may stay in the meeting, speak and vote on that 
item of business. 
 
If in doubt, Councillors are advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.selby.gov.uk/


Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

4.   Financial Results and Budget Exceptions Report to 30 September 
2022 (Quarter 2) (E/22/27) (Pages 13 - 36) 
 

 The Executive are asked to consider report E/22/27 to ensure that 
budget exceptions are brought to their attention in order to approve 
remedial action where necessary. 
 

5.   Treasury Management - Quarterly Update - Quarter 2 2022/23 
(E/22/28) (Pages 37 - 48) 
 

 The Executive are asked to consider report E/22/28 which reviews the 
Council’s borrowing and investment activity (Treasury Management) for 
the period 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022 and presents 
performance against the Prudential Indicators.   
 

6.   Discretionary Housing Payments (E/22/29) (Pages 49 - 52) 
 

 The Executive are asked to consider report E/22/29 and agree that an 
amount of £40,000 of funding from the COVID 19 Council Tax Support 
Hardship fund be moved to the Discretionary Housing Payment fund. 
 

7.   Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021 - 2035 (ENDP) 
(E/22/30) (Pages 53 - 202) 
 

 That Executive consider report E/22/30 and recommend that Council 
formally makes the Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-
2035 as part of the Development Plan for Selby District following the 
positive outcome of the referendum held on 6th October 2022. 

 
 
 
 
Janet Waggott 
Chief Executive 
 

Date of next meeting 

Thursday, 5 January 2023 at 4.00 pm 

 
For enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Victoria Foreman, on 
vforeman@selby.gov.uk 
 
Recording at Council Meetings 
 

Recording is allowed at Council, committee and sub-committee meetings 
which are open to the public, subject to: (i) the recording being conducted with 
the full knowledge of the Chairman of the meeting; and (ii) compliance with 
the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings, 
a copy of which is available on request. Anyone wishing to record must 
contact Democratic Services using the details above prior to the start of the 
meeting. Any recording must be conducted openly and not in secret. 



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Selby District Council 
 
 

Minutes 
  
 

Executive 
 
Venue: Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Doncaster Road, 

Selby, YO8 9FT 
 

Date: Thursday, 3 November 2022 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 

Present: Councillors M Crane (Chair), R Musgrave (Vice-
Chair), C Lunn, D Buckle and T Grogan 
 

Also Present: Councillors R Packham and M Jordan 
 

Officers Present: Janet Waggott – Chief Executive, Suzan Harrington 
– Director of Corporate Services and 
Commissioning, Alison Hartley – Monitoring Officer, 
Martin Grainger – Head of Planning and Interim 
Head of Regulatory Services, Julian Rudd – Head 
of Economic Development and Regeneration, 
Stuart Robinson – Head of Business Development 
and Improvement, Drew Fussey – Operational 
Service Manager, Peter Williams – Head of 
Finance, Stephanie McGourlay - Economic and 
Regeneration Projects Lead, Jenny Tyreman – 
Assistant Principal Planning Officer, Richard Welch 
– Principal Planning Policy Officer, Victoria 
Foreman – Democratic Services Officer  
 

Public: 1 
 

Press: 0 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

NOTE: Only minute numbers 38 – 42 and 44 - 45 are subject to call-in 
arrangements. The deadline for call-in is 5pm on 21 November 2022. Decisions 
not called in may be implemented from Tuesday 22 November 2022. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

35 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 There were no apologies for absence. 
 

36 MINUTES 
 

 The Committee considered the minutes of the meeting held on 
Thursday 1 September 2022. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 
Thursday 1 September 2022. 

 
37 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
 The Deputy Leader, Councillor R Musgrave, declared a personal 

and pecuniary interest in agenda item 7 – 2022 – 2027 Five Year 
Housing Land Supply Report and agenda item 9 – Promotion of 
potential new settlement at Burn Airfield. Councillor Musgrave 
confirmed that he would leave the meeting during consideration of 
both items. 
 

38 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 1 2022/23 
(APRIL TO JUNE) (E/22/20) 
 

 The Leader of the Council presented the report which asked 
Members to note and approve the content, and consider any further 
action they wished to be taken as a result of current performance. 
 
The report covered the period April to June 2022, which was the 
first full quarter following the government’s lifting of Covid-19 
restrictions. 70% of KPIs reported were showing improvement over 
the longer term or had maintained 100% performance, and 78% of 
KPIs reported were on target – with 9% of KPIs within acceptable 
tolerances. 
 
The report set out what went well in Quarter 1, as well as what did 
not. There had been positive performance in supporting SMEs, 
NNDR and sundry debt collection, the processing of benefit claims, 
planning applications, FOIs and complaints, customer waiting times 
on the phone, reportable health and safety incidents, council house 
re-let times and waste collection. 
 
Areas of performance that required improvement included stage 2 
complaints, savings and staff sickness. 
 
The Leader of the Opposition was in attendance at the meeting and 
asked questions around staffing issues, housing repair backlogs, 
the work of the Low Carbon Working Group, responding to the 
consultation on the Local Plan and tree planting.  

Page 2



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

 
The Deputy Leader accepted that there would always be a constant 
number of jobs in the housing repair system and was pleased to 
report that new resources had recently been recruited to the 
Council that would be transferred to the new unitary authority. The 
backlog of repairs was mainly due to Covid and staffing issues, but 
had improved, despite there still being work to do. 
 
The Leader stated that the slowed progress of the Low Carbon 
Working Group was partly due to local government reorganisation 
(LGR) and the loss of a particular member of staff who had been 
leading on such work. It was acknowledged that the Council had 
not achieved as much as it had intended to. 
 
Responding to the Local Plan consultation the Leader accepted 
that the online process had not been easy at points, but there were 
statutory questions that had to be asked. Officers had accepted 
emails from members of the public or comments made via Ward 
Members. 
 
The Leader commended the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
  The Executive noted and approved the report. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The reporting of performance data enables the Council to 
demonstrate progress on delivering the Council Plan Priorities to 
make Selby District a great place.  
 

39 DEVOLUTION DEAL FOR YORK AND NORTH YORKSHIRE 
(E/22/21) 
 

 The Leader of the Council introduced the report which set out the 
steps being taken by City of York Council and North Yorkshire 
County Council (the Constituent Councils) towards the creation of a 
Combined Authority for York and North Yorkshire. The report also 
included details of the Devolution Deal, the Governance Review 
and the Scheme which had been prepared for consultation. 
 
Members noted that on 1 August 2022 the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced that the 
Government was minded to enter into a Devolution Deal with York 
and North Yorkshire under which the region would benefit from 
£540 million of new Government investment to spend on local 
priorities to produce growth, together with a range of devolved 
powers.  The Devolution Deal was dependent upon the City of York 
Council and North Yorkshire County Council establishing a 
Combined Authority for the area with an elected Mayor.  

Page 3



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

 
The report explained that since the announcement, negotiations 
and further work had been undertaken about the detail of the 
proposed deal, the structure of the proposed Combined Authority 
and the process to be followed to create it, subject to the necessary 
consultation. The report sought to update Selby District Council 
members on this work and the next steps to be taken by the City of 
York Council and North Yorkshire County Council. 
 
The Executive acknowledged that to develop the proposal to 
establish a Mayoral Combined Authority, there needed to be 
consideration of a governance review and the publication of a 
Scheme if it was concluded that the exercise of statutory functions 
was likely to be improved by the creation of a Mayoral Combined 
Authority. The Scheme would be subject to an eight-week public 
consultation across York and North Yorkshire in October 2022. 
 
Members asked for clarification on some figures and felt that the 
report required more detail as to what tangible benefits the area 
would see from of the money being invested in the deal, in 
particular the return ‘per head’ of the population compared to other 
Mayoral areas in the United Kingdom. The Leader believed that the 
cost equated to the Teeside scheme but not as much as the West 
Yorkshire one. 
 
Officers were asked to investigate comparisons of the funding with 
schemes in the south of the country. 
 
Further queries were put regarding the York Central Scheme, grant 
funding City of York Council had received and project funding for 
affordable low carbon homes in York. 
 
Officers advised Members that there were elements of the deal that 
had changed between its current iteration and the original bid, and 
that responses to the Members’ queries would be provided. 
 
The Leader commended the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1. The Executive supported the steps being taken 
by City of York Council and North Yorkshire 
County Council (the Constituent Councils) 
towards the creation of a Combined Authority 
for York and North Yorkshire, and in particular 
noted: 

 
(a) the ‘minded’ to Devolution Deal;  
(b) the Governance Review; and 
(c) the Scheme which had been prepared for 

consultation. 

Page 4



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

 
2. Officers were asked to provide responses to 

the queries raised in the debate following the 
meeting. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To ensure Members were consulted in relation to the proposed 
Devolution Deal and the next steps being taken towards the 
creation of a Combined Authority for York and North Yorkshire. 
 

40 HELIOS RENEWABLE ENERGY PROJECT - NATIONALLY 
SIGNIFICANT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT (E/22/22) 
 

 The Leader of the Council introduced the report which asked the 
Executive to note the content and to authorise the Head of Planning 
and Interim Head of Regulatory Services (or equivalent), in 
consultation with himself as Leader of the Council, to agree the 
Local Impact Report, Statement of Common Ground, the content of 
the draft DCO, and all further necessary representations by the 
District Council, together with post-decision monitoring of planning 
conditions and enforcement of the DCO. 
 
Members noted that the report set out the legislative background to 
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) and how these 
were dealt with. The Executive had considered similar NSIP reports 
recently in respect of the Drax Bioenergy and Carbon Capture 
Project in May 2021, the Yorkshire GREEN Project in April 2022 
and the Humber Low Carbon Pipelines Project in August 2022. 
Applicants for infrastructure projects needed to make an application 
to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) for a Development Consent 
Order (DCO). The final decision was made by the Secretary of 
State on the recommendation of PINS, but Local Planning 
Authorities were statutory consultees in the process. 
 
The Executive were reminded that the scheme was not a planning 
decision that would be taken by Selby District Council.  
 
In attendance at the meeting was Ward Member for Camblesforth 
and Carlton, Councillor M Jordan, as a significant part of the 
scheme would be in his ward. Councillor Jordan was invited to 
address the meeting by the Leader.  
 
Councillor Jordan spoke about the significant effects the proposals 
would have on the local area. These included pipelines from Drax 
Power to the North Sea, cabling from Scotland and the proposed 
and other solar farms to Drax Power, new National Grid buildings 
near Drax and the required demolition of a residential building to 
accommodate the Helios project.  
 

Page 5



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

The Leader thanked Councillor Jordan for attending and for the 
points he had made which reflected the considerable consequences 
the scheme could have on residents. Members also emphasised 
how important it was to recognise the value of consistent energy 
supplies across the country. 
 
Officers explained that they had been undertaking further work on 
battery storage applications in order to build a complete contextual 
picture to inform the process. Environmental Impact Assessments 
(EIA) and cumulative impacts were being considered for every 
scheme and such matters were being raised with the developers.  
 
The Leader asked that Members contact him with their views so he 
could construct a well-informed opinion before a response was 
provided about the scheme.  
 
The Executive asked if the Council would receive a planning fee, if 
farmers would obtain rent for the sites, what the life span of the site 
would be and if Parish Councils would also benefit from the 
scheme.  
 
Officers clarified that there was no planning fee for the Council as it 
was not a Selby District Council application; however, costs could 
be recovered. Farmers would receive rental income from having 
solar panels on their land and made the point that this could be 
quite a lucrative arrangement as it provided a consistent turnover 
for what was likely to be multiple ownerships.  
 
Councillor Jordan informed Members that all the land relating to the 
scheme would be leased, and that it was for each Parish Council to 
decide how they wished to proceed in relation to the proposals.  
 
The Leader commended the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
  The Executive 
     

i. noted the content of the report; and 
 
ii. authorised the Head of Planning and Interim 

Head of Regulatory Services (or equivalent), in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, to 
agree the Local Impact Report, Statement of 
Common Ground, the content of the draft DCO, 
and all further necessary representations by the 
District Council, together with post decision 
monitoring of planning conditions and 
enforcement of the DCO. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 

Page 6



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

 
Timescales for commenting on the DCO application once it was 
submitted are embedded in statute and it was important that 
appropriate delegation arrangements were in place so that the 
Council was able to meet the deadlines which were set by PINS. 
 

41 2022-2027 FIVE YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY REPORT 
(E/22/23) 
 

 Councillor R Musgrave left the meeting at this point. 
  
The Leader of the Council introduced the report which asked the 
Executive to approve the Five-Year Housing Land Supply 2022 – 
2027 and explained that each local authority was required by 
central government to provide a 5-year supply of deliverable 
housing land. Being able to demonstrate a 5-year housing supply 
meant that planning applications for housing could be determined 
by the Council, with all the policies in the District’s Local 
Development Plan. The 2022-2027 Five-Year Housing Land Supply 
report found that the district had a deliverable housing supply of 6.1 
years.  
  
Members noted that being able to demonstrate a deliverable five-
year supply of housing means that when determining planning 
applications for housing, policies in the development plan were 
considered up to date. Failure to demonstrate a 5-year supply 
means that relevant policies were out of date and applications for 
housing development should be granted unless: 
  

      the application of policies in the NPPF that protected areas or 
assets of particular importance provided a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or 
  

      any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole. 

  
The assessment of the Council’s Five-Year Housing Supply was 
carried out by the Planning Policy Team on an annual basis, with 
the start of each financial year being used as the base date. This 
report uses the base date of 1 April 2022. 
  
Members were unsure as to the arrangements for housing supply 
assessment following local government reorganisation (LGR) in 
April 2023, as such work was usually done on a local basis. 
  
Officers were content with the current 6.1-year supply of housing as 
had been identified and were looking closely at the interplay 
between the Development Plan and incoming planning applications; 
however, there were some sites that required further legal 

Page 7



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

consideration.   
  
The Leader of the Opposition felt that the Council’s current 
approach to housing land supply was more rigorous that it had 
been in the past, but that such supplies were used up quickly, and 
that it could be important for there to be appropriate interim 
arrangements or policies in place to cover such a gap, so that local 
areas within the Selby District continued to be represented. Officers 
explained that such provisions would depend on LGR and the 
Council’s Local Plan, alongside careful monitoring of the supply 
position.  
  
Officers were asked to supply further information to Members on 
housing land supply arrangements at other North Yorkshire local 
authorities. Some work had already been undertaken as part of a 
Member Task Group for LGR; information relating to this would be 
available quite soon.  
  
The Leader of the Council commended the report. 
  
RESOLVED: 
                        The Executive  
  

1.     approved the Five-Year Housing Land Supply 
2022 – 2027; and 
  

2.     asked Officers to provide further information to 
Members on housing land supply 
arrangements at other North Yorkshire local 
authorities. 

  
REASON FOR DECISION: 
  
To approve the Five-Year Housing Land Supply Report and the 
supply figure within it, so that the report could be used as a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications for 
housing. 
 

42 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 
1976, SECTION 65 – INCREASE OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
MAXIMUM FARES (FUEL CAP) - CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
(E/22/24) 
 

 Councillor R Musgrave re-joined the meeting at this point. 
 
The Lead Executive Member for Health and Culture presented the 
report which asked the Executive to consider the objections 
received during the statutory consultation, determine if any 
modifications or not should be made to the table of fares in light of 
the objections, and confirm the date of 18 November 2022 for the 

Page 8



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

new table of fares to come into effect, with or without modification. 
 
Members noted that on the 1 September 2022 the Executive 
approved a maximum taxi fare increase for the Selby Hackney 
Carriage trade. The proposal was in line with the recent Hackney 
Carriage (“HC”) Fare increase in Harrogate that considered the 
current increases in fuel prices at the pump. The approved 
proposed taxi fare was a maximum fare. This permitted drivers to 
charge the customer under the maximum fare amount and enabled 
them to increase or decrease their prices within the maximin fare, in 
accordance with the fuel prices at the pump. 
 
The Executive understood it was anticipated that fuel costs would 
continue to fluctuate over the next year, and the Council’s proposal 
would allow some breathing space for the trade. A consultation had 
been carried out between 13 and 27 September 2022. There had 
been 15 comments on the consultation; 13 were representations 
(against the proposed fare in some way), which had not been 
withdrawn. The objections received mainly mirrored those received 
in the soft market testing with the trade. 
 
Members expressed their support for the report’s proposals set out 
at Appendix A and noted that whilst the modifications set out a 
maximum fare, the drivers could charge less should they so wish.  
 
The Lead Executive Member commended the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
  The Executive 
 

1. considered the objections received during the 
statutory consultation; 
 

2. determined that no modifications should be 
made to the table of fares at Appendix A in light 
of the objections; and 

 
3. confirmed a date of 18 November 2022 for the 

new table of fares to come into effect. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The table of fares must come into operation by the 27 November 
2022, no later than two months after the last date for making 
representations (27 September 2022), with or without modification. 
 

43 PRIVATE SESSION - EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 It was proposed and seconded that the Executive sit in private 
session for the following business due to the nature of the business 

Page 9



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

to be transacted. 
 
RESOLVED: 

That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted the meeting be not 
open to the press and public during discussion of 
the following items as there will be disclosure of 
exempt information as described in paragraph 3 
of Schedule 12(A) of the Act. 

 
44 PROMOTION OF POTENTIAL NEW SETTLEMENT AT BURN 

AIRFIELD (E/22/25) 
 

 Councillor R Musgrave left the meeting at this point.  
 
The Lead Executive Member for Communities and Economic 
Development presented the report which sought approval to 
withdrawn land at Burn Airfield from the Local Plan process and not 
to undertake further work to promote the site for a new settlement.  
 
Members discussed the matter in detail and contrary to the report’s 
recommendations agreed that the site should not be withdrawn 
from the promotion in the Local Plan process.  
 
RESOLVED: 

The Executive agreed 
 

a) to carry out no further work at this stage to 
promote the Council’s landholding at Burn 
Airfield for potential residential-led 
development; and 
 

b) that alternative options for the future of the 
council’s land at Burn Airfield be considered 
following local government reorganisation. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The Council acquired over 200 hectares of land at Burn Airfield in 
2014 due to its strategic development potential. The land had been 
promoted to be a potential new settlement in the emerging Local 
Plan, via the Council’s Economic Development and Regeneration 
team (representing the Council as landowner). The outcome of 
flood risk work, undertaken by JBA Associated and reviewed by the 
Environment Agency, indicated that the site would be the least 
preferable location for a new settlement in the emerging Local Plan. 
The conclusion reached by the local planning authority was: 
 
‘The sequential test approach rules out the Burn Airfield site given 

Page 10



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

that there are available sites in lesser areas of flood risk available 
for development’. 
 
Instead, the Heronby proposal was suggested for allocation in the 
Local Plan as a new settlement. 
 

45 TOWN CENTRE REVITALISATION PROJECTS UPDATE 
(E/22/26) 
 

 Councillor R Musgrave re-joined the meeting at this point. 
 
The Lead Executive Member for Communities and Economic 
Development presented the report which provided an update on 
projects under the Town Centre Revitalisation Programme, 
covering the three centres of Selby, Tadcaster and Sherburn-in-
Elmet. The paper recommended approvals for capital and revenue 
costs related to projects and grant funding spend on Changing 
Places schemes. 
 
Members expressed their support for the recommendations as set 
out in the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 

The Executive 
 
1. agreed to reallocate £150k from existing budget 

within the Tadcaster Programme for Growth 
(P4G) funds to Tadcaster Bus Station project, to 
bring the total project budget to £500k, as set 
out in Section 2 of the report; 
 

2. approved £2,800 ongoing maintenance costs for 
Tadcaster Bus Station project, per annum from 
2025 funded from Environmental Services 
budget (SC0702 1105). As part of the transfer of 
the Environmental Services Contract to North 
Yorkshire Council from April 2024 the annual 
contract budget would have to be allocated to a 
number of revenue service and budget lines 
including an allocation to cover the revenue 
implications in this report;  

 
3. approved Changing Places grant funding spend 

and SDC match funding at Tadcaster and Selby, 
and ongoing maintenance costs at Tadcaster of 
£5,000 per annum from 2024 funded from 
existing budget Public Conveniences (SC0219 
3179); and 

 
4. approved the use of an identified ongoing 

Page 11



Executive 
Thursday, 3 November 2022 

£7,800 p.a budgetary underspend within the 
Existing Public Conveniences budget (SC0219 
3179) to fund the ongoing revenue implications 
of these schemes. The proposal required a 
minor permanent budget virement of £2,800 p.a 
to the Environmental Services budget (SC0702 
1105), as per recommendation 2. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 

 The three main centres in Selby District were a strategic priority 
for regeneration. 

 To make appropriate use of external funding awarded to Selby 
District Council, and to maximise funding bidding opportunities. 

 To ensure that any ongoing revenue implications for the 
schemes were captured within the Council’s existing budgetary 
framework. 

 
The meeting closed at 5.24 pm. 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

Report Reference Number: E/22/27   
___________               ________________________________________________________ 

 

To:      Executive 
Date:      8 December 2022 
Status:     Key Decision 
Ward(s) Affected:  All   
Author:  Peter Williams, Head of Finance 

Lead Executive Member:  Councillor Cliff Lunn – Lead Executive Member 
for Finance and Resources 

Lead Officer:  Karen Iveson - Chief Finance Officer 

            

 
Title: Financial Results and Budget Exceptions Report to 30th September 2022 
 
Summary:  
 
At the end of Q2, current estimated full year revenue outturn estimates indicate 
surpluses of (£371k) for the General Fund (GF) and (£68k) for the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA). This includes this years proposed pay award. The key variances are 
highlighted in the report with further detail in Appendix A. 
 
All new general fund savings have been delayed to 2024/25, post Local Government 
reorganisation (LGR). The £195k saving in the Housing Revenue Account for the 
housing system will be aligned to delivery of phase 2 of the project which is anticipated 
to be in Q3 2022, although savings will not be realised until future years and resource 
requirements for local government reorganisation may impact on delivery timescales. 
 
The capital programme is on budget at the end of quarter 2. At this moment, both the 
GF and HRA forecast their programmes to be spent by year end with the exception of 
two projects in the GF which see £0.5m of costs pushed back to 2023/24 and the 
budget for boiler replacements in the HRA which is expected to overspend by £0.14m. 
There is however considerable risk of increased costs in the HRA property 
refurbishment budget as a result of inflation and higher than expected levels of voids 
which require refurbishment. The impacts on this budget are currently being assessed 
by officers. Headlines can be found in the report below with a more detailed analysis 
in Appendix C. 
 
Programme for Growth projects spend was £1,053k in quarter 1 including £520k on 
staffing costs, £174k on the Transforming Cities Fund project and £122k on the 
Tadcaster business flood grant scheme. Project by project progress is shown in 
Appendix D. 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Recommendations: 
 
That the Executive 
  
i) endorse the actions of officers and note the contents of the report; and 

 
ii) approve re-profiled capital programmes and Programme for Growth as set 

out at Appendices C and D. 
 

Reasons for recommendation: 
 
To ensure that budget exceptions are brought to the attention of the Executive in 
order to approve remedial action where necessary. 
 
1.  Introduction and background 
 
1.1 The revenue budgets and capital programmes were approved by Council on 24 

February 2022, this report and associated appendices present the financial 
performance as at 30 September 2022 and a full year forecast against these 
budgets. 
 

1.2 There are areas of the Council which have resourcing issues, and additional 
workload pressures resulting from Local Government Reorganisation. There is 
a risk in 2022/23 that this could impact on delivery in some areas.  
 

2.   Main Report 
 

General Fund Revenue 
 
2.1 Latest forecasts show an expected full year surplus of (£371k). Details of the 

variances against budget are set out at Appendix A. 
 
2.2 The table below shows the summary position at the end of June 2022. 
 

General Fund Account Q2 2022/23 
Outturn 

Latest 
Approved 

Budget 
£000's 

Forecast 
£000's 

Forecast 
Variance 

£000's 

Service Income -32,073 -30,567 1,506 

Service Expenditure 48,267 45,882 -2,385 

Accounting adjustments / non-service 
budgets -16,194 -15,686 508 

Total Surplus / Deficit Before Pay Award 0 -371 -371 

 
2.3      The main forecasted variances against the General Fund are: 
 

 A net saving of (£283k) on the waste and recycling service. The key 
components of this are: 

Page 14



- Commodity payments savings (£473k) driven by a continued increase in the 
rate per tonne received for paper and card.  
 

- Partly offset by £189k additional costs including an anticipated increase above 
budget on contract inflation at the contract anniversary in October (RPIX @ 
12.4%) which will impact on the costs in the second half of the year, higher 
costs for trade waste disposal (see increased income below) and an increase 
in gate fees. 
 

- The commercial and other waste services have successfully maintained and 
grown the customer base resulting in an additional (£61k) of forecasted income 
for the year. 
 

- Improved investment interest returns driven by base rate rises have resulted in 
an additional (£748k) of forecasted income in year. The £350k cap on interest 
from cash investments that approved as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy means that £508k of this will be transferred to the Contingency 
reserve. This leaves an overall favourable variance of (£240k). 
 

- There is a net overspend of £83k at present on salaries but it is anticipated that 
the vacancy levels are likely to increase over the next 6 months and may offset 
this by the year end. The impact of the higher pay award in year is £337k whilst 
current estimated vacancy levels are (£254k) higher than budget. Vacancy 
levels are unusually high due to a number of posts not being recruited due to 
LGR. 
 

- There is a (£63k) saving expected on drainage board levies due to the 
difference in actual inflation on the fees compared to what was assumed in the 
budget which was based on early estimates. 
 

- There continues to be a shortfall in income against the lifeline service £84k due 
to lack of growth with the effects of the pandemic making it challenging to grow, 
£50k for Assets Team commercial work due to vacancies in the team meaning 
work is prioritised towards maintaining our dwellings and occupancy £22k of 
the industrial units due to condition issues. 
 

- New burdens support for (£77k) for the delivery of the council tax support grant 
was not included in the budget. 
 

- The cost of utilities remains a concern against rising prices, an increase has 
been forecast but we are still awaiting bills to provide an accurate estimate. 
Additional cost pressure of £62k has been forecast (some savings are 
anticipated against the old Contact Centre site).  

 
- There is a £2.271m contra between income and expenditure as a result of lower 

levels of benefit payments and therefore correspondingly lower grants.  
 
 
 

Page 15



 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
2.4  Latest forecasts show a (£68k) surplus. This will result in an increase in the 

transfer to the major repairs reserve from £4,310k to £4,378k. 
 

2.5 The table below shows the summary position at the end of September 2022. 
Full details of forecast variances against budget are set out at Appendix A. 

 

Housing Revenue Account – Q2 
2022/23 

Budget 
£000’s 

Outturn 
£000’s 

Variance 
£000’s 

Net Revenue Budget 8,339 8,122 (217) 

Dwelling Rents (12,649) (12,500) 149 

Net (Surplus) / Deficit transferred 
to Major Repairs Reserve 

(4,310) (4,378) (68) 

 
2.6 The main forecasted variances against the HRA deficit are: 
 

 (£289k) forecasted additional investment interest due to base rate 
increases. 
 

 While phase 2 of the Housing Development programme has been 
suspended, there will not be the requirement to borrow additional funds 
generating a (£60k) saving. To counter that, the HRA Business Plan 
assumed for every property sold there would be a replacement to 
maintain stock levels. To date 5 properties have been sold with 1 
addition. This has an impact on rents generated. 

 

 Housing rent collection forecasts to date shows a £149k shortfall. The 
main driver being that void rates are higher than budget which is driven 
by the assumptions in the business plan. This is mainly due to the 
condition they are left in when vacated and the resource available to 
bring back in to use. Contracts have been agreed to progress bringing 
properties back in to use which should hopefully see the void rates 
reduce. 

 

 The £195k saving which would be generated from the implementation of 
the housing system will not be achieved in year due to timing of the 
implementation of phase 2 plus continuing requirement of resources as 
a result of covid-19 and LGR. 

 

 An increase of 50% above budget for utility costs is forecast which 
equates to £67k. There is still a shortage of bill data to confirm this 
estimated level of additional cost, so this will be kept under close review. 
 

 Planned savings 
 
2.7 All new general fund savings have been delayed to 2024/25, post Local 

Government reorganisation (LGR).  
 

Page 16



2.8 The £195k saving in the Housing Revenue Account for the housing system will 
be aligned to delivery of phase 2 of the project, which is anticipated to be in Q3 
2022, although savings may not be realised until future years and resource 
requirements for local government reorganisation may impact on delivery 
timescales. 

 
Capital Programme 
 

Capital 
Programme Q2 
2022/23 

Actual 
Year 
to 
Date 
£k 

Budge
t Year 
to Date 
£k 

Year To 
Date 
Varianc
e £k 

Full 
Year 
Budge
t £k 

Full 
Year 
Forecas
t £k 

Full 
Year 
Varianc
e £k 

GF 264  271 -7 3,694 3,194 -500 

HRA 3,909  3,910  -1  13,578 13,717 139  

Total 4,173 4,181 -8 17,272 16,911 -361 

 
2.9 The overall capital programme shows an underspend at the end of quarter 2 of 

just (£8k) with both GF and HRA on budget. 
 
2.10 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account programmes are expected to be 

fully spent by the end of the year with the exception two projects in the general 
fund. The car park improvement works at Portholme Crescent was delayed due 
to it being used as a walk-in covid testing centre. Whilst this has now been 
removed, the works on the car park are not expected to take place until 2023/24 
resulting in a £350k in year underspend. Procurement is underway on the skate 
park refurbishment, but bidders have stated that the work cannot be undertaken 
until the next financial year, so it is expected that this project (£150k) will be 
undertaken in 2023/24. 

 
2.11 The capital programmes are impacted by increasing costs. Where possible 

projects will be re-engineered to deliver within budget, but it is anticipated that 
in the general fund less play areas will be able to be delivered within the existing 
budget than planned, due to rising costs leaving an estimated shortfall of £34k.  

 
2.12 Emerging budget pressures in the HRA are impacting heavily on two capital 

budgets. 
 
2.12.1 Boiler replacement programme 
 

An additional £139k (against the budget of £759k) has been forecast to 
undertake priority work in 22/23 due to a higher-than-expected number of 
breakdown/ replacements. These largely relate to boilers from the same 
manufacturer that were originally installed between 2010-12. The business plan 
assumes boiler replacement on a 15-year cycle but increasing breakdowns and 
obsolescence of parts means that replacements are required earlier than 
planned. Going forward the phasing of future replacements will need to be 
considered as part of the next HRA business plan refresh. 

 
 

Page 17



2.12.2 Refurbishment programme  
 

22/23 has seen a marked increase in both the number of voids and the level of 
work required to bring properties up to a decent lettable standard. Based on an 
average of £38k per property, as at November 2022, an estimated additional 
£643k (against the budget of £4.4m) will be needed to complete the 42 voids 
currently issued to the contractors for assessment. In addition, a further 
estimated £1.14m will be needed to resolve the 30 voids that have not yet been 
issued.  
 
Across the previous three financial years, refurbishment voids have accounted 
for approximately 34% of all voids received; however, of the properties within 
the portfolio which are currently void, this figure has risen to 82%. 
 
Alongside void property works there is also a risk of additional reactive urgent 
works on homes over the winter which could cause a further shortfall in budget 
provision.  
 
To date these costs have been mitigated by suspending planned improvements 
but the pace of voids continues far beyond numbers previously experienced. 
 
Officers are assessing the potential for reducing the scope of works on void 
properties to ensure we meet our legal requirements. Once we have a clearer 
view of the forecast costs on this basis, we will then be able to bring forward 
potential funding and/or phasing solutions. An update will be presented to the 
Executive meeting. 
 
At this stage we await an updated stock condition survey in order to assess the 
medium to longer term implications for the HRA and will work with colleagues 
across North Yorkshire as we develop a single HRA for North Yorkshire 
Council. It should also be noted that growing inflation in the construction and 
related industries is likely to put further pressure on these budgets. 
 
There may be opportunity to rephase some of the future improvement works to 
accommodate in part or full, these additional costs, and/or consideration to the 
current ‘Decent Homes Plus Standard” may be required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
Programme for Growth (P4G) 
 

Programm
e For 
Growth Q2 
2022/23 

Full 
Year 
Budg
et £k 

Actu
al 
Year 
to 
Date 
£k 

Full 
Year 
Forec
ast £k 

Full 
Year 
Varian
ce £k 

Budget 
Full 
Progra
mme 
Spend 
£k 

Forecast 
Full 
Program
me 
Spend 
£k 

Project 
Budget 
Remaini
ng £k 

Expenditur
e 

5,260 1,053 5,214 -46 19,073 19,073 0 

Funded by:       

Reserve 
-
4,649 -767 -4,552 -97 18,195 18,195 0 

Grant 
Funding -611 -286 -612 1 878 878 0 

 
2.12 A report was taken to Executive in July with proposals to re-allocate money 

within the P4G programme. This was approved and those amendments to the 
programme are reflected in this report and the project detail in Appendix D. 

 
2.13 The total programme for growth for delivery from 2022/23 onwards is £19,072k 

of which £5,260k was expected to be spent in 2022/23. This has been 
reforecast slightly lower at Q2 to £5,214k. 

 
2.14 The pay award offer will increase P4G salaries, but this is expected to be funded 

from existing vacancies in the programme. 
 
2.15 There are a number of projects where spend is expected to vary from the 

phasing of the budget including: 
 

- Growing Enterprise – money put aside to support businesses impacted by 
the TCF project is now likely to be spread across two years, as is spend to 
support businesses post covid. This has resulted in (£120k) being phased 
to 2023/24.  

 
- Timing of delivery of low carbon budgets is now predominantly expected in 

2023/24 with (£272k) of spend being rephased to the next financial year. 
 
- A number of projects in Sherburn being delivered by local partners are 

expected to be delivered in 2022/23 which had previously been anticipated 
to be spent in 2023/24. £312k of this funding has been phased back in 
2022/23 to assist with this deliver. In addition, the project at New Lane is 
expected to commence this year, so £50k of the £200k budget has been 
rephased from 2023/24 to 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



2.16 In year spend in quarter 2 includes: 
 

- £122.5k which has been transferred to Two Ridings Community Foundation 
to fund and administrate the Tadcaster Business Flood Grant Scheme. 22 
businesses are currently being funded through the scheme. 
 

- £62.1k on the High Street shop front scheme. 
 

- £164.5k for the acquisition of the Selby Railway Club as part of the 
Transforming Cities Fund programme. 

 

- £520k of staff costs. 
 
2.17 Excellent progress has been made across a range of other project areas with 

project-by-project detail on delivery to be found in Appendix D. 
 
3.  Alternative Options Considered  
 
3.1 Not applicable. 

 
4. Implications 
 
4.1  Legal Implications 
 
4.1.1 There is a legal requirement to balance the budget. 

 
4.2 Financial Implications 
 
 The financial issues are set out in the report. The impacts of the potential 

overspend in relation to the HRA capital programme are currently under 
investigation. Should these costs not be manageable within the approved 
budget then an additional drawdown from HRA reserves and/or rephasing of 
the programme will be needed. The necessary approvals will be sought should 
this be required. 

 
4.3 Policy and Risk Implications 
 

Increased budget pressure from rising prices, in particular on the capital 
programme and programme for growth, could put more pressure on budgets in 
future years. There is a particularly high risk in the HRA capital programme. 
Projects are keeping this under review and looking to mitigate increases within 
existing budgets to help mitigate price increases. 

 
4.4 Corporate Plan Implications 
 
 The financial position and performance against budget is fundamental to 

delivery of the Council Plan, achieving value for money and ensuring financial 
sustainability. 

 
 

Page 20



4.5 Resource Implications 
 
 Resource requirements for Local Government Reorganisation has put 

considerable pressure on the Council to deliver all of its priorities from the 
Council plan. An additional £900k including carry forward from 2021/22 is in the 
budget to manage additional costs as a result of Local Government 
Reorganisation. At the end of quarter 2, £17.4k of this funding has been drawn 
down for additional legal support. 

 
4.6 Other Implications 
 
 None. 
 

 4.7 Equalities Impact Assessment  
 

 There are no equalities impacts as a direct result of this report. 
 
5. Conclusion 
 
5.1 The general fund at the end of quarter 1 is forecasting a (£371k) surplus for the 

year. 
 
5.2 Interest receivable is forecast to exceed the £350k cap in the general fund, 

resulting in an expected £508k transfer to contingency reserve as per the 
medium-term financial strategy. 

 
5.3 The housing revenue account is forecasting a (£68k) surplus at the end of 

quarter 2 which will increase the contribution to the Major Repairs Reserve. 
 
5.4 There has been increased pressure on resources and capacity to deliver the 

Council’s priorities with local government reorganisation requiring considerable 
resource which is only set to increase. 

 
5.5 The impact of inflation is impacting on costs in all areas. There is a particular 

risk for the HRA capital programme which is facing increasing pressure as a 
result of rising costs and a much higher proportion of voids being refurbishment 
voids. Officers are assessing the impacts and potential solutions to this issue. 

 
6. Background Documents 

 
None. 

 
7. Appendices 

 
Appendix A – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Revenue Budget 
Exceptions 
 
Appendix B – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Savings 
 

Page 21



Appendix C – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital 
Programme 
 
Appendix D – Programme for Growth 
 
Contact Officer:  
Peter Williams, Head of Finance  
Selby District Council 
pwilliams@selby.gov.uk  

Page 22

mailto:pwilliams@selby.gov.uk


P
age 23



P
age 24



Appendix B : Planned Savings

2022/23 Planned 
Savings Budget

2022/23 Planned 
Savings Actual

2022/23 Planned 
Savings Variance

£000’s £000's £000's

Transforming Suzan Harrington Process improvements /on-line transactions High 195 0 195

Total -            195                 

Strategic Category Lead HRA - Potential Saving Risk

The new housing/asset management system is in the process of being 
implemented and will be completed in 2022/23. The project has 
experienced resource pressures and it will take time to adapt to the new 
system, meaning minimal savings realised to date but this will be kept 
under review during and following the implementation.

Update/Comments

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



General Fund Original Revised Year to date Year to date Year to date Year to date
Comments

Budget Incl C/F Budget Revised Budget Actual
Variance 

Before Carry 
Forwards

Variance 
After Carry 
Forwards

Transforming Customer Services 104,090 104,090 21,045 20,455 -590 104,090 0 0

Covid-19 and other delays have prevented the start of work on the reception 
alterations delaying the contact centre move. The Call Centre continues to 
operate from the first floor extension at the Civic Centre and face to face 
appointments are being offered for the most vulnerable customers. Due to 
LGR, a reassessment is taking place of the requirement for wholesale 
changes to the Civic Centre reception and are now looking at modifying 
existing meeting rooms to ensure face to face services can be delivered 
effectively.

Website Development 10,000 10,000 0 0 0 10,000 0 0

This project is to enhance the platform to allow for future development of the 
website. Currently reviewing the scope of this projects with NYCC / LGR on 
the horizon, it is anticipated by Q3 a clearer picture of future requirements for 
the SDC platform is known.

GIS System 26,820 26,820 0 0 0 26,820 0 0

This budget has been carried forward to fund the Contact Centre 
arrangements. Pending decisions from the Customer LGR workstream this 
budget will be used to support the required systems. 

Benefits & Taxation System upgrade 28,850 28,850 14,425 12,378 -2,047 28,850 0 0

This budget is linked to software upgrades supporting Channel Shift as part 
of the Digital Strategy. This years budget includes a carry forward to deliver 
the e-billing processes. 15,000 15,000 15,000

FMS Project 20,000 20,000 20,000 18,073 -1,927 20,000 0 0

This budget is to maintain the current Finance software suite. Initial payment 
of £18k has been made, the balance of the budget may be required for 
system changes in the run up to LGR.

IDOX Planning System 28,225 28,225 16,113 16,100 -13 28,225 0 0

To support the IDOX suite of software applications for upgrades and patches 
as part of the IDOX Roadmap. This ensured that we remained PSN 
compliant throughout 2022/23.  

15,000 15,000 15,000

Adobe Licence Replacement 15,000 15,000 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 Licences replacement programme was delayed to 2022/23

Finance System Replacement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Replacement for the finance system has been reforecast into 2024/25 
although this will be reviewed as part of LGR transition. 150,000

SAN Storage 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
To replace the existing Councils storage area network with storage on NYCC 
SAN. 30,000

Committee Management System 3,000 3,000 0 0 0 3,000 0 0
A decision on the ModernGov software upgrade is expected in Q3 2022/23 
as part of legislative changes.

Upgrade to Assure from M3 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0

This budget is to migrate from M3 to Assure software as part of the Digital 
Transformation programme. The Assure migration is now live, the balance of 
the budget has now been paid.

Cash receipting System 17,600 17,600 0 0 0 17,600 0 0

This budget is to carry out the configuration work to decomission PARIS in 
Q3 2022/23, and run feeder files directly out of Civica Pay.  The works are 
due to be completed in Q3 and invoiced thereafter.

Northgate Revs & Bens 3,600 3,600 0 0 0 3,600 0 0
Budget required for system upgrades following legislative changes in relation 
to e-billing in line with the Digital Strategy.

Asset Management Plan - Leisure & Parks 15,005 15,005 2,503 2,400 -103 15,005 0 0
A work programme for 2022/23 is currently being pulled together.

17,746

Committee Room Microphone system 65,000 65,000 48,000 47,183 -817 65,000 0 0

The Committee Room microphone system has been upgraded pending 
receipt of the invoice. Any balance remaining in this budget is to be utilised to 
upgrade the projector in the Civic Suite.

Carry 
Forward

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast 
25/26

Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022

Forecast
Forecast 

23/24

Approved Programme & Carry Forward 
Proposal

P
age 27



Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022
General Fund Original Revised Year to date Year to date Year to date Forecast Comments

Budget Incl C/F Budget Budget Actual Variance Variance

Skate Park 150,000 150,000 0 0 0 0 150,000 -150,000

To improve and enhance the outdoor skatepark adjacent to Selby Leisure 
Centre.  A procurement has taken place but the submissions are still being 
evaluation.  Bidders have stated that the works can't be carried out until the 
next financial year, the budget is requested to be carried forward to 2023/24. 

150,000

Industrial Units Maintenance 229,400 229,400 0 0 0 229,400 0 0

The Energy Auditor assessments are complete & are now working on 
finalising the detailed specification for the Prospect centre ahead of issue of 
tenders, works to be completed in 2022/23.
Further work is required to understand the needs in relation to the Sherburn 
units, anticipate works commencing in this financial year.
Agreed no further works will be undertaken at the Vivars pending the 
strategic masterplanning exercise in relation to One Public Estate.

Industrial Units Investment 640,163 640,163 4,041 3,600 -441 640,163 0 0

The Energy Auditor assessments are complete & are now working on 
finalising the detailed specification for the Prospect centre ahead of issue of 
tenders, works to be completed in 2022/23.
Further work is required to understand the needs in relation to the Sherburn 
units, anticipate works commencing in this financial year.
Agreed no further works will be undertaken at the Vivars pending the 
strategic masterplanning exercise in relation to One Public Estate.

300,669

Car Park Improvement Programme 490,398 490,398 0 0 0 140,398 350,000 -350,000

Work to progress improvement to Back Micklegate and Micklegate car parks 
is delayed in order to maximise funding options through external funding bids 
such as the Heritage Action Zone funding; however delays have also been 
encountered due to discussions with Landowners.
Portholme Crescent is now back in use as a car park following the removal of 
the walk-in testing centre for Covid-19.  Work to engage architects to 
prepare initial design concepts has been delayed due to LGR, it is now 
expected that this work will commence in the next financial year. The budget 
for this work is requested to be carried over into 2023/24.
Work is under way at Britannia car park, Tadcaster. Work is expected to be 
completed in Q3 2022/23.

350,000

ICT - Channel Shift 2 Website & Intranet 13,320 13,320 3,330 2,900 -430 13,320 0 0

Citizens Access Portal (Revenues) is now live, Citizens Access Portal 
(Benefits) has been delayed pending review of its suitability with regards to 
LGR. The remaining budget will also be used for e-forms development.

ICT - Channel Shift 3 Website & Intranet 18,000 18,000 0 0 0 18,000 0 0

Channel shift Phase 3 - Housing management CX Portal project was 
delayed due to Channel Shift 2 delays, this is in development. As a result of 
the delays on these projects Channel Shift 3 will be completed in 2022/23.

ICT - Disaster Recovery Improvements - 
Software / Hardware

12,040 12,040 0 0 0 12,040 0 0

This budget is for improvements aligned to Microsoft requirements & 
Disaster Recovery Improvements in 2022/23.  A number of Oracle server 
upgrades will be required throughout Q3 2022/23 to ensure that they remain 
compatible following software upgrades. 

ICT - End User Devices - 
Software / Hardware

60,260 60,260 0 0 0 60,260 0 0

Budget is used for the replacement hardware in relation to the digital 
workforce strand of the digital strategy. Discussions are ongoing in relation to 
replacement of hardware in connection with LGR. 49,500 49,500 49,500

ICT - Digital Workforce - 
Telephones - Mobile Working

21,270 21,270 0 0 0 21,270 0 0

Budget is for replacement Mobile hardware in relation to the digital workforce 
strand of the digital strategy.  A further 25 trades tablets are potentially 
required depending on the performance outcomes with the new Housing 
system.  Following the implementation of the Housing System in Q3 a review 
can be undertaken to assess the requirements going forward, any decisions 
will be taken in conjunction with LGR requirements.

9,500 9,500 9,500

South Milford Retaining Wall 15,000 15,000 0 0 0 15,000 0 0

We are still awaiting confirmation from the parish priest as to whether 
approval for the improvement works to the wall will need to go through a 
Faculty application (similar to Listed Building Approval). The budget has 
been carried forward into this financial year, it is currently unknown how long 
the process will take.

Forecast 
25/26

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast 
23/24

Forecast
Carry 

Forward

P
age 28



Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022
General Fund Original Revised Year to date Year to date Year to date Forecast Comments

Budget Incl C/F Budget Budget Actual Variance Variance

Council Play Area Maintenance 272,440 272,440 7,110 6,877 -233 272,440 0 0

Works have started on Petre Avenue, Volta Street, Parkland Drive and 
Woodlands Avenue play areas with an estimated completion by the end of 
Q3 for all four sites.  Costs have increased significantly on the final play area  
and as no contract has been awarded for works here it may be that work to 
the final site is delayed until either costs reduce or we can submit a bid for 
additional capital funding to the new North Yorkshire Council next year.

Pick Protection Software 8,000 8,000 0 0 0 8,000 0 0
This is a one off budget to maintain the current PICK Protection software.  
The work has been completed and is expected to be invoiced in Q3.

Sherburn GP Surgery 750,000 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 0 0
Due diligence was completed in Q2 & the payment has been made in Q3.

Private Sector - Home Improvement Loans 55,044 55,044 0 0 0 55,044 0 0

RAS Loans remain an important tool in providing support for emergency 
repairs in homes owned by vulnerable people. Historically, RAS loans are 
repaid to the council upon sale of the property allowing them to be recycled 
into new loans. This allows more vulnerable households to receive the help 
they need. 

30,000

Empty Property Grants 121,780 121,780 0 0 0 121,780 0 0

Despite some slowdown in delivery due to covid, Empty Homes Grants 
remain popular and are an excellent way of sourcing much needed private 
rented accommodation for vulnerable households at risk of homelessness.  
There are 2 self contained proposals being processed for completion in 
2022/23 and discussions are already underway with owners about potential 
other schemes. Our linking of Empty Homes Grant to the homelessness 
service has attracted a lot of positive interest amongst our district council 
colleagues and it is hoped that the scheme may be extended throughout 
North Yorkshire Council from 2023/24.    

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 495,589 495,589 130,795 130,302 -493 495,589 0 0

Due to underspends as a result of Covid the budget has been profiled 
through to 2024/25. This helps the annual budget by reflecting more 
accurately the amount granted in the year from the Better Care Fund. 
YTD 30 have been completed and the expectation is 65 people will have had 
their home adapted by the end of the year. The year to date spend does not 
reflet all works carried out due to the lag in invoice processing.  YTD 61 
referrals have been received. This year there will several significant spends 
on major adaptations with contributions from NYCC as the costs exceed the 
DFG statutory and discretionary grant available. The average time from 
Approval to completion has gone up to approx. 84 days from 79. This is 
primarily due to supply chain issues and competing demands on contractors.

500,000 531,981

Total General Fund 3,693,894 3,693,894 271,360 264,268 -7,092 3,193,894 500,000 -500,000 1,467,415 770,981 89,000

Forecast 
25/26

Forecast 
23/24

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast
Carry 

Forward

P
age 29



Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022

Housing Revenue Account Original Revised Year to date Year to date Year to date Forecast Comments
Budget Incl C/F Budget Budget Actual Variance Variance

Housing & Asset Management System 103,660 103,660 43,830 43,065 -765 103,660 0 0

The remaining capital balance is expected to be paid following the Phase 2 
project completion in Q3 2022/23. 

St Wilfrid's Court 93,733 93,733 0 0 0 93,733 0 0

The programme scoping meeting identified requirement for significantly more 
investment than is available in the current budget.  This budget will therefore 
be utilised to address some of the higher priority issues identified during visit, 
as well as any essential health and safety related works.

Environmental Improvement Plan 74,672 74,672 0 0 0 74,672 0 0

Work to progress the scheme was delayed due to Covid-19.
Of the 6 sites this budget is supporting 3 have been completed with works on 
the remaining 3 to be completed in 2022/23.   

Housing Acquisition and Development 9,391,273 5,927,976 151,516 151,516 0 5,927,976 0 0

Programme for the development of HRA properties on phase 2 small sites, 
Starts on these sites has been delayed due to Covid. Work including, 
feasibility studies, asbestos surveys and garage clearance has been 
completed.
Planning permission for development of the fourth schemes has now been 
secured. The HDP board have agreed not to go out to tender, but to 
financially assess based on current indicative build rates, once this is 
completed further affordability can be assessed. 
This budget is also allocated to the purchase of S106 properties and for the 
1:1 replacement programme, there has been one purchase of a 1:1 property 
in Q1.
The forward forecast has been adjusted for the purchase of S106 properties 
in 2022/23 and a small number of 1:1 purchases.  The timing of the S106 
properties is subject to contract and the 1:1 purchases are a challenge given 
the active property market at present.

3,463,297

Community Centre Refurbishment 64,377 64,377 0 0 0 64,377 0 0

Work to identify requirements outlined for the community centres under the 
FRA process has been completed.
We have agreed a programme of works to upgrade Fire Safety measures in 
a number of our community centres, work has commenced in Q2 and will be 
completed in this financial year.

Forecast 
25/26

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast
Forecast 

23/24

Approved Programme & 
Carry Forward Proposal

Carry 
Forward

P
age 30



Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022
Housing Revenue Account Original Revised Year to date Year to date Year to date Forecast Comments

Budget Incl C/F Budget Budget Actual Variance Variance

Energy Efficient Programme 758,759 758,759 596,380 596,082 -298 897,699 0 138,940

A programme of properties was identified for boiler and/or system upgrade 
this financial year.  In Q2 2022/23 our gas contractor has completed a further 
64 installs which included some boilers replaced due to early failure. 
We continue to monitor material/labour availability and upward financial 
pressures on the same; although thus far these have not manifest in a 
request for increased rates. 
We have delivered a small programme of installing 5 air source heat pumps 
where the existing solid fuel or electric only systems are beyond economical 
repair.

554,852 566,504 1,573,263

Health and Safety Improvement Programme 1,053,122 1,053,122 425,561 425,358 -203 1,053,122 0 0

A significant programme of work has been allocated to our major works 
contractor and anticipate to complete 2000 in the financial year (not all of 
these invoices have been processed as yet). With the focus of being safe 
and legal we have switched our requirements around to focus on our 
compliance work in the lead in to LGR therefore in Q2 we have completed 
126 properties for survey and 471 electrical surveys
Material availability and cost increases continue to pose a significant risk to 
delivery of the programme.

601,353 613,981 626,261

Property Refurbishment Programme 4,403,810 4,403,810 2,665,905 2,665,789 -116 4,403,810 0 0

A significant programme of work has been allocated to our major works 
contractor and anticipate to complete 2000 in the financial year (not all of 
these invoices have been processed as yet). With the focus of being safe 
and legal we have switched our requirements around to focus on our 
compliance work in the lead in to LGR therefore in Q2 we have completed 
126 properties for survey and 471 electrical surveys
Material availability and cost increases continue to pose a significant risk to 
delivery of the programme.

3,984,323 4,091,037 4,126,994

Property Investment Programme 1,098,340 1,098,340 27,170 27,283 113 1,098,340 0 0

A significant programme of work has been allocated to our major works 
contractor and anticipate to complete 2000 in the financial year (not all of 
these invoices have been processed yet).  With the focus of being safe and 
legal we have switched our requirements around to focus on our compliance 
work in the lead in to LGR therefore in Q2 we have completed 126 properties 
for survey and 471 electrical surveys.
Material availability and cost increases continue to pose a significant risk to 
delivery of the programme.
The half year spend is below forecast due to ongoing investigations 
regarding works required to an unadopted highway within a HRA housing 
estates.
An element of the fire safety works mentioned within the Community Centres 
Refurbishment Works also includes works to general communal areas which 
will be covered under this budget. 

467,928 477,754 531,011

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total HRA 17,041,746 13,578,449 3,910,362 3,909,093 -1,269 13,717,389 0 138,940 9,071,753 5,749,276 6,857,529

Total Capital Programme 20,735,640 17,272,343 4,181,722 4,173,361 -8,361 16,911,283 500,000 -361,060 10,539,168 6,520,257 6,946,529

Annual
Budget

GF
Capital Receipts 1,089,427 1,089,427 330,669 0 0
Grants & Contributions 495,589 495,589 500,000 531,981 0
Asset Management Reserves 1,003,893 503,893 517,746 0 0
IT Reserve 354,985 354,985 119,000 239,000 89,000
CIL 750,000 750,000 0 0 0
TOTAL 3,693,894 3,193,894 1,467,415 770,981 89,000

HRA
Capital Receipts 1,878,255 1,185,595 692,659 0 0
Major Repairs Reserves 7,546,813 7,685,753 5,608,456 5,749,276 6,857,529

Forecast 
25/26

Forecast 
25/26

Forecast 
23/24

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast 
24/25

Forecast
Forecast 

23/24
Carry 

Forward

Forecast

P
age 31



Appendix C : 2022/23 Selby District Council Capital Programme - To 30 September 2022

IT Reserve 103,660 103,660 0 0 0
S.106 Commuted Sums - affordable housing subsidy 7,513,018 4,742,381 2,770,638 0 0
TOTAL 17,041,746 13,717,389 9,071,753 5,749,276 6,857,529

P
age 32



Appendix D : Programme for Growth 2022/23 Financial Year Project Updates
Multi Year schedule for the project lifespan

Project Lead Officer Amended Multi-
Year Budget

In Year Budget 22/23
Spend to Date 

22/23
Forecast Full Year 

Spend 22/23
Forecast In Year 

variance
Multi-Year Project 

Budget
Forecast Full 

Programme Spend
Project Budget 

Remaining
Update Forecast 22/23 Forecast 23/24 Forecast 24/25 Forecast 25/26

Healthy Living Concepts Fund Angela Crossland 77,031 30,000 0 30,000 0 77,031 77,031 0
Of the remaining £77,031 in this fund - £10k allocated to develop active travel sustainable travel packs in line with the visitor economy niche 
trails work, £30k allocated to development of project with Yorkshire Wildlife Trust for Barlow Common to develop project and funding bids as 
they arise (Barlow Common delayed due to Covid). Remaining £13k will support public health initiatives identified as part of covid recovery 
plans. Barlow Common project still in train. To look at enhancement of visitor experience. 

30,000 47,031

Visitor Economy (Tourism & Culture) - P4G Angela Crossland 617,747 195,784 48,920 195,784 0 617,747 617,747 0

There has been slippage in the early part of 22/23 because of lack of capacity through vacant posts and staff sickness.  This has impacted on the 
delivery of the refreshed Viistor Economy Strategy and the Cultural Development Framework.  Work on the Food & Drink Improvement Plan is 
underway; planning has begun on the Residents Festival will take place in April 23; an artist residency exploring how the social history of Barlby 
Road's industries can be told is complete; artists are in place working on public artworks for the Selby Station gateway project and the 
improvement of Tadcaster Bus Station. Development work for a high street culture programme in Tadcaster is underway.   Work on the Arts 
Council Priority Place programme is underway, with links into the UK Shared Propserity Fund.  The Priority Place Plan delivers on the 5 priorities 
of the Cultural development Framework.  The budget is fully committed as the match for a significant investment from Arts Council England 
through their Place Partnership Fund - the back-loading into 2023/24 refelcts this.  The Arts Council will also provide additional capacitythrough 
their own officers.  Budget and actuals for Visitor Economy salaries previously captured within this line have now been aligned with wider P4G 
salaries, and captured within the Staffing lines below.

195,784 421,963

Visitor Economy (Tourism & Culture) - S106 
Funding

Angela Crossland 81,722 0 0 0 0 81,722 81,722 0

£81,722 of Section 106 funding within the Visitor economy Budget. £31,722 relating to Kellingley Colliery, to be used for public artwork to creat 
an entrance feature at the main entrance on Weeland Road, making reference to the previoys use of the site as a former colliery. £50,000 
relating to Staynor Hall, to also be used for public art to be integrated into the Recreational Open space and/or the Landscape Management 
Areas

0 81,722

HAZ Selby Stories (p4G Funded spend) Angela Crossland 54,615 27,900 24,600 27,900 0 54,615 54,615 0

Project total £150,950 over 3 years.  £60,000 from P4G, £89,500 from Historic England grant.  Payment schedule from HE: 21/22 £49,225, 22/23 
£26850, 23/24 £13, 425.  The programme completes 31 March 2024.
Programme includes wide-ranging cultural activity in Selby town centre, including performance, exhibitions, artist residencies and testing of 
outside event spaces (e.g. amphitheatre). Work is well-underway with some aspects attracting significant press interest e.g. artist Serena 
Partridge artist-in-residence in Selby Abbey, the Our Town writer working in the marketplace and the ongoing work to create Selby in 
Minecraft. Costs have risen on some elements (e.g. scaffolding shroud artworks) and a revised programme will be negotiated with Histoic 
England to ensure deliverability. Funding contractually obligated as match fund to Historic England HSHAZ funding.

27,900 26,715

HAZ Selby Stories - Grant Funded spend Angela Crossland 76,350 44,755 0 44,755 0 76,350 76,350 0

Project total £150,950 over 3 years.  £60,000 from P4G, £89,500 from Historic England grant.  Payment schedule from HE: 21/22 £49,225, 22/23 
£26850, 23/24 £13, 425.  The programme completes 31 March 2024.
Programme includes wide-ranging cultural activity in Selby town centre, including performance, exhibitions, artist residencies and testing of 
outside event spaces (e.g. amphitheatre).  Delivery underway with some slippage (agreed by Funder) due to impact of Covid on programme and 
procurement issues for some areas of delivery. Funding contractually obligated as match fund to Historic England HSHAZ funding.

44,755 31,595

Low Carbon resources Stuart Robinson 95,638 47,819 8,822 15,000 (32,819) 95,638 95,638 0
This funding supports the employment of a Low Carbon Projects Officer. Officer commenced in April 2021 and has progressed the agreement 
of a new Low Carbon Strategy and delivery of activity in the Low Carbon Action Plan. Low Carbon Projects Officer left post in June 2022 and 
recruitment of an effective replacement has been put on hold until at least April 2023.

15,000 40,319 40,319

Marketing Selby's USP Stuart Robinson / 
Communications

139,422 41,947 0 41,947 0 139,422 139,422 0

Funding is used to support employment of a Communications & Marketing Officer and the Officer is in place. The Communications & Marketing 
Manager left in August 2021 and has not been replaced. The additional challenges of LGR mean the place branding project is unlikely to 
progress in the way initially planned. Options for alternative use of the funding - along similar lines to the original intention such as supporting 
communications around the TCF project are under consideration.

41,947 97,475

Retail Experience - STEP Duncan Ferguson 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 1,500 1,500 0
This was a fixed budget to support events, street scene improvements identified by the STEP group who no longer meet. £61k of this budget 
remained at the start of the 2022/23 financial year, therefore the July P4G report to Executive reallocated the £60k remaining of this budget 
into the budget, after current year spend, for the Selby Town Regen (Abbey Qtr) project (currently £1m for marketplace and park).

1,500 0 0

Legal Support Julian Rudd 100,843 60,000 80 60,000 0 100,843 100,843 0 Legal Support for agreements and advice associated with the P4G programme / projects.  At this stage it is expected that all of this budget will 
be required

60,000 30,000 10,843

Towns Masterplanning (Regeneration) - P4G 
Funded

Duncan Ferguson 112,705 112,705 12,937 92,705 (20,000) 112,705 112,705 0

This fund is used for People and Places consultancy (Chris Wade) - now complete. Funding of £50k has been previously used to support the 
MHCLG Reopening High Street Safely Fund (RHSSF) and 21/22 Welcome Back Fund. A contribution from this fund has also been used to support 
the Places and Movement Study , in partnership with NYCC Highways and YNY LEP. The next phase of the Places and Movemnent Study, will be 
supported through this fund (Executive agreed up to £80k). 

92,705 20,000

Strategic Sites Masterplanning - P4G funded Duncan Ferguson 33,102 33,102 (7,057) 33,102 0 33,102 33,102 0 33,102 0

Strategic Sites Masterplanning - Grant funded Duncan Ferguson 105,000 105,000 49,717 105,000 0 105,000 105,000 0 105,000 0 0

Position @ 30 September 2022 Full Programme Position Phasing of future spend

Funded due diligence work for strategic sites masterplaning, including Selby Station Gateway and consultancy costs for development of 
feasibility/ viability assessments, Business Cases, surveys, design, legal and valuation fees. AECOM Consultants now appointed (at a cost of up 
to £138k) to undertake One Public Estate (OPE) sites & east of Station Masterplan and will utilise up to £33k from this budget during 2022/23, 
plus £70k grant from OPE & £35k from York & North Yorkshire DODS. The remainder of this budget was unallocated, therefore of the £256k 

remaining at the start of the 2022/23 financial year, £223k was reallocated in the July P4G report to P4G Staffing.

P
age 33



Project Lead Officer Amended Multi-
Year Budget

In Year Budget 22/23
Spend to Date 

22/23
Forecast Full Year 

Spend 22/23
Forecast In Year 

variance
Multi-Year Project 

Budget
Forecast Full 

Programme Spend
Project Budget 

Remaining
Update Forecast 22/23 Forecast 23/24 Forecast 24/25 Forecast 25/26

Growing Enterprise Richard Beason / 
Julian Rudd

238,393 238,393 18,064 118,393 (120,000) 238,393 238,393 0

This P4G budget is being used in 2 main areas:  
1. To support businesses displaced by the TCF land assembly to relocate within the district. Timing of this spend is now expected to be slightly 
later than previously expected and will spill into 2023/24 financial year. Current estimate is a 50/50 split between 2022/23 and 2023/24 Up to 
£120,000 has been identified for this work
2. A post COVID Business Delivery Plan has been developed and is being delivered with the focus on providing a targeted programme of 
business support, networking and skills events through to March 2023 to include a widening of the skills support programme, addressing 
recruitment challenges, specific support for hospitality and retail and work with Start-up businesses. Events and activities totalling up to 
£138393 has been allocated for this work spread over the 2022/23 and 2023/24 accounting years. 
Subsequent to Q4 21/22, £22.5k has been re-allocated from this budget to the Tadcaster Business Flood Grant Scheme.

118,393 120,000

Selby TCF Revenue Duncan Ferguson 57,889 57,889 16,165 57,889 0 57,889 57,889 0
This allocated Budget relates to grant recovery funds received from WYCA.  The budget will be used for potential non recoverable revenue 
costs relating to TCF, and is fully committed for this purpose. Current Year to date expenditure includes holding costs incurred to secured the 
Selby Railway Club site prior to demolition.

57,889

HAZ - P4G Caroline Skelly 9,076 8,700 1,191 8,700 0 9,076 9,076 0 The Project Fund is a match contribution to the ongoing Selby High Streets Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) project. The budget covers a 
programme of community engagement activities and local history events. 

8,700 376

High Street shop fronts - P4G Caroline Skelly 58,799 48,050 25,850 40,750 (7,300) 58,799 58,799 0

The Project fund is a Match fund contribution to the Selby High Streets Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) project. Budget covers a building 
improvement grant programme - the P4G money is allocated for professional fees of the HSHAZ architectural team from Buttress architects. 
The Selby High Street Heritage Action Zone is progressing well with a building improvement grant programme launched leading to a number of 
building repair to be implemented from 2022 onwards. 

40,750 18,049

High Street shop fronts - Grants Caroline Skelly 314,401 161,700 62,107 162,591 891 314,401 314,401 0

Heritage England Grant to support Delivery of the High Street shop fronts and HAZ P4G Programmes. Quarterly reclaims submitted to HE to 
reclaim qualifying expenditure incured under these schemes. There has been a minor reduction in HE grant available of £10,552 as a result of 
project underclaims. This is under challenge with HE, as this underclaim only incurred as a result of HE instructions, however this funding is 
considered unlikely to be recovered.

162,591 151,810

Tadcaster Business Flood Grant Scheme Angela Crossland 122,500 122,500 122,500 122,500 0 122,500 122,500 0 Funding transferred to Two Ridings Community Foundation to support Tadcaster businesses recovering from flooding. Scheme up and running. 
27 businesses currently funded by the scheme.

122,500

Tadcaster Community Sport Trust Angela Crossland 162,000 162,000 0 162,000 0 162,000 162,000 0
Funding provided for developments at Tadcaster Community Sport Trust. As per the grant framework any funding is to be released in phases 
subject to achievement of agreed milestones. 162,000 0

Empty Homes Simon Parkinson 1,251 650 845 650 0 1,251 1,251 0

This budget supports the work of the private sector housing team and the empty homes officer to bring empty homes back into use. Overall 
the project is very successful and the Empty Homes Officer has directly helped bring numerous empty homes back into use over the course of 
the scheme. The majority of this success is achieved through offering advice and assistance to owners.  At times, we need to utilise our 
enforcement powers to secure empty homes and to eradicate issues that are a statutory nuisance or prejudicial to health to neighbours. This 
budget specifically contributes to this area of enforcement work.

650 601

Selby District Housing Trust Phil Hiscott 133,480 133,480 0 133,480 0 133,480 133,480 0
This fund is to support SDHTs role in the more ambitious HDP approved by Executive in January 2018. The budget includes funds to assist with 
the review of the future of the trust.
This review is currently underway and once concluded this budget will be updated.

133,480

Stepping Up' Housing Delivery Phil Hiscott 4,437 2,437 102 2,437 0 4,437 4,437 0
The Project will support the implementation of the Housing Development Programme approved by the Executive in January 2018.   Seeking 
opportunities to maximise the social and economic benefits of the Council’s asset portfolio. An Affordable Housing Strategy has been agreed by 
the Executive and work on this scheme is therefore underway in line with the agreed strategy.

2,437 2,000

Making our Assets work Duncan Ferguson 34,149 20,000 14,082 20,000 0 34,149 34,149 0

The budget is targeted at funding due diligence work to bring the Council's own land assets to the market and see them developed. These 
include small garage sites, Portholme Rd, Egerton Lodge, Barlby Rd depot, Bondgate and Burn airfield.
This budget will be used to fund the feasibility, surveys and technical work to enable the Council's own land assets to be brought forward for 
development to deliver regeneration and other beneficial uses. This will include costs associated with land and buildings acquired for TCF. 
Given the latter, the budget is expected to be fully utilised. 

20,000 14,149

Burn Julian Rudd / Duncan 
Ferguson

452,650 20,000 3,695 30,000 10,000 452,650 452,650 0
Works associated with promoting Burn Airfield as a new settlement in Local Plan. Following the  Local Plan prioritisation of new settlement 
options, the future of project to be discussed at November Executive.  Committed expenditure relating to legal advice payments are remaining, 
approx 20k still to be paid out.  If the project does not continue, the remaining funds may be available for redistribution, subject to Executive 
approval as further opportunities for use of this funding are considered to be available within the wider Town Centre projects

30,000 422,650

Asset Strategy Phil Hiscott 80,000 0 0 0 0 80,000 80,000 0
Work to review/agree the brief was completed pre LGR.  Due to Local Government Reorganisation an Asset Strategy for Selby District Council is 
no longer required. 0 80,000

P
age 34



Project Lead Officer Amended Multi-
Year Budget

In Year Budget 22/23
Spend to Date 

22/23
Forecast Full Year 

Spend 22/23
Forecast In Year 

variance
Multi-Year Project 

Budget
Forecast Full 

Programme Spend
Project Budget 

Remaining
Update Forecast 22/23 Forecast 23/24 Forecast 24/25 Forecast 25/26

Finance Support Peter Williams 114,708 57,354 0 57,354 0 114,708 114,708 0 Additonal support for P4G projects is now in place 57,354 57,354

TCF Site Acquisitions Property Running Costs. Selby 
Business Centre Car Park

Duncan Ferguson / 
Phil Hiscott

3,673 (1,899) (3,688) 3,673 3,673 (0)
Selby Business Centre site purchased via the Selby Gatework TCF project.Budget represents the revenue implications of the car park of the 
building. Budget anticipated to be in surplus for the initial year, before moving to a net cost over the next two years. Net budget of £2,770 for 
the whole site for the period in question

-3,688 7,361

TCF Site Acquisitions Property Running Costs. Selby 
Business Centre Industrial Units

Duncan Ferguson / 
Phil Hiscott

22,595 (43,463) 7,388 22,595 22,595 0
Selby Business Centre site purchased via the Selby Gatework TCF project. Budget represents the revenue implications of the Industrial units of 
the building. Budget currently in surplus for the year as tenants currently remain on site. As relocations commence and costs of occupation fall 
to the council, the surplus on the budget will subsequently decrease. Net budget of £2,770 for the whole site for the period in question

7,388 15,207

New lane - Public Realm Caroline Skelly 200,000 0 0 50,000 50,000 200,000 200,000 0
The Project is a Match fund contribution to the Selby High Streets Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) project. The project is under development 
with other SDC and NYCC projects that relate to the redesign off New Lane, Selby. Active discussions are ongoing as to the best method of 
delivering the project, with feedback from interested parties factoring in to considerations.

50,000 150,000

Selby TCF Capital - P4G Duncan Ferguson 6,844,739 1,250,000 0 1,250,000 0 6,844,739 6,844,739 0

A significant amount of funding from this budget has been put forward as match funding within the Council's TCF proposals for Selby Station 
including contingency for the purchases of property. It also includes £4m to fund the Station Plaza element of the Station Gateway scheme. 
Spend to date has been on the Selby Business Centre which was acquired in December, plus James William House and the Selby Railway Club 
(both to be reclaimed from TCF funds).  This budget also includes £1m funding to acquire strategic development sites consistent with the 
Councils regeneration and commercial development opportunities and the Selby TCF project. £250k of the funding allocated for land 
acquisition outside of (but adjacent to) the Station Gateway area was reallocated out of this budget to P4G Staffing via the July 2022 P4G 
report. The July report also allocated a further £1m to this project as contingency for delivery, however if this extra funding is not required this 
will subsequently be reallocated to the Selby Abbey Quarter Project . Further purchases of land adjacent to TCF site area anticipated in 2022/3, 
estimated at £750k with a general fund of £500k.

1,250,000 5,594,739

Selby TCF Capital - WYCA Grant Duncan Ferguson 300,000 300,000 174,417 300,000 0 300,000 300,000 0

Grant funding received from West Yorkshire Combined Authority relating to qualifying capital expenditure incurred as part of the TCF capital 
programme. Selby DC qualifying capital costs relate to Land Assembly and Property Acquisition. Funding received in current year relates 
primarily to grant funding provided to facilitate the council's purchase of James William House. 3 further purchases are forecast for 2022/23. 
The Purchase of the Selby Railway Club was completed in Q1. The acquisition of land at Ousegate Wharf from Barratt David Wilson Homes is 
pending final agreement of the purchase price and will require ELT approval.  The acquisition of land at the Malt Shovel is predicated on 
proceeding with the acquisition of the Barratt David Wilson land and as such is currently on hold.  Both acquisitions are also subject to a cost 
review of the full TCF project, which is being undertaken by NYCC, the outcome of which will be known in 3 weeks from the time of writing.

300,000 0

Low Carbon projects (Phase 1) CAPITAL Gillian Bruce / Stuart 
Robinson

239,400 239,400 0 0 (239,400) 239,400 239,400 0 Following the departure of the Low Carbon Projects Officer in June 2022, there is no staffing resource to progress the development of a 
business case to Executive or deliver subsequent projects at this stage. This will be the case until at least April 2023. 

0 239,400

Town Regen Selby Duncan Ferguson 2,059,281 25,000 0 25,000 0 2,059,281 2,059,281 0

Projects include the enhancement of Selby Market Place and Selby Park, Abbey Quarter initiative - Making space around the Abbey event 
ready, creating a more welcoming and asccessible area. Rejuvenation of the park, enhancement of the link with the Abbey. As part of the July 
P4G report, additional funds were reallocated to this budget to fund a Phase 2 of improvements to the Abbey Quarter / Park. Additional 
funding to the extent of £60k from the STEP budget, and £1m from the Levelling up Bid support incorporated into this budget. A further £1m of 
funding may also be further allocated from this budget from TCF contingency, if this contingency pot is not required. Consultant spend 
expected first two years of this project.

25,000 250,000 1,284,281 500,000

Town Centre Tadcaster Duncan Ferguson 479,328 33,875 0 33,875 0 479,328 479,328 0
This fund enables Tadcaster Bus station project to refurbish the public toilet, feasiability for changing places unit and improve the bus station 
structure and surrounds for a better visitor experience. This includes 350k for the project and 65k Align Property Services fees. Remaining 
budget subject to a report submitted to November Executive

33,875 51,853 393,600

Town Centre Sherburn Duncan Ferguson 500,000 30,000 0 30,000 0 500,000 500,000 0

Low Street/Wolsey Croft public realm improvements to east side of village centre, realignment of parking, improved surface materials, 
greenery, signage, and street furniture. Project includes Align Property Services fees. 
Initial work on the business case for the Low Street Scheme has indicated an small recurring revenue cost of £2k p.a may be incurred to the 
general fund as a result of the scheme. This is proposed to be funded by an permanent reduction to the LEP & Partnership contribution budget, 
to enable the scheme to progress with nil bottom line impact to the general fund

30,000 50,000 420,000

Sherburn Projects Duncan Ferguson 562,202 250,000 0 562,202 312,202 562,202 562,202 0

A range of Sherburn ‘legacy’ projects will be delivered by local partners up to 650k. Three have been approved to date – a community cinema 
and roof repairs, both at the Sherburn Old Girls School community venue and Eversley Park improvements. Fairways Park has been submitted. 
Other applications expected to come forward in 22/23 are White Rose conversion of flat green bowling pitch, tennis court improvements, and 
Highfield Green. Funding that was being considered for a land assembly opportunity was reviewed and subsequently, of the £1,062k of budget 
remaining at the start of the 2022/23 financial year, £500k was reallocated to P4G Staffing as part of the July 2022 P4G report.

562,202 0 0

Staffing costs 4,582,136 1,395,010 519,978 1,395,010 0 4,582,136 4,582,136 (0)

This covers all the P4G funded posts across SDC including the extensions to contracts approved in the budget. These posts support delivery of 
this P4G programme. It also covers the additional core staffing costs in a number of teams required to deliver the Council's corporate growth 
ambitions including the Economic Development and Regeneration team (to deliver the Economic Development Framework 2 year action plan) 
and  key posts in Communities and Partnerships, Planning and Marketing and Communications. The July 2022 Report extended the funding 
available for P4G posts for the further two years. Budget and actuals updated to include Visitor Economy salaries previously captured above 
within the specific project

1,395,010 1,350,182 1,312,000 524,944

Contingency 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
The balance remaining on Tadcaster Linear Park has been transferred back to P4G contingency. Budget for the Housing Development Feasibility 
Work (£289,368) has been moved back to contingency as this work will now fall under the Housing Revenue Account. £100k from Contingency 
has been untilised in Q1 to support the Tadcaster Flood Support Scheme. The remainder was reallocated to P4G Staffing in the July P4G report

0

TOTAL P4G PROGRAMME 19,072,763 5,260,650 1,053,153 5,214,224 (46,426) 19,072,762 19,072,762 0 5,214,224 9,372,551 3,461,043 1,024,944

-                           -                           
Funding Split
External Grants 795,751 611,455 286,241 612,346 891 795,751 795,751 0 612,346 183,405 0 0
S106 81,722 -                                  -                           -                           -                           81,722                    81,722                    -                           -                           81,722                    -                           -                           
Reserve Funded - P4G Reserve 15,345,289 4,649,195 766,912 4,601,878 -47,317 15,345,288 15,345,289 0 4,601,878 6,257,424 3,461,043 1,024,944
Reserve Funded - Capital Reciepts 2,850,000 2,850,000 2,850,000 2,850,000
Total P4G Programme 19,072,762 5,260,650 1,053,153 5,214,224 -46,426 19,072,762 19,072,762 0 5,214,224 9,372,551 3,461,043 1,024,944

3,700 0

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 

Report Reference Number: E/22/28  
_______________               ____________________________________________________ 

 

To:      Executive 
Date:      8 December 2022 
Status:     Non-Key Decision 
Ward(s) Affected:  All   
Author:  Chris Chapman, Accountant 
Lead Executive Member:  Councillor Cliff Lunn, Lead Executive Member 

for Finance and Resources 
Lead Officer:  Karen Iveson – Chief Finance Officer, S151 

_________________________________________                     _______________________ 

 
Title: Treasury Management – Quarterly Update Q2 2022/23 
 
Summary:  
 
This report reviews the Council’s borrowing and investment activity (Treasury 
Management) for the period 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022 and presents 
performance against the Prudential Indicators.   
 
Investments – On average the Council’s investments held in the NYCC Investment 
pool totalled £85.9m over the quarter at an average rate of 1.37% and earned interest 
of £296.5k. Total interest earned so far this year stands at £458.2 (£330.5k allocated 
to the General Fund; £127.7k allocated to the HRA) which is £382.0k above the year-
to-date budget. Current performance trends indicate that forecast returns for the year 
could be in the region of £1,189.3k (£857.9k GF, £331.4k HRA) a total budget surplus 
of £1,036.8k. For the General Fund, any interest earned above a £350k threshold is 
to be transferred to the Contingency Reserve. This figure is currently forecast to be 
£507.9k. 
 
Return on council investments has performed positively when compared to budgets 
for the year. This is as a result of the regular and sustained rises in Bank of England 
base rate that have been experienced over the course of the year, in an effort to 
combat inflationary increases, as well as higher sustained cash balances. Base Rate 
has accordingly risen from 0.25% at the equivalent point last year when budgets were 
initially set, to their current level of 2.25%. The forecasted return for the year outlined 
above takes into account the tapering effect of these rises, as older investments at 
lower rates mature and are replaced by newer investments at higher rates. This 
position remains fluid as further Base rate rises, currently anticipated by the market, 
will serve to further increase potential returns against budget. 
 
In addition to investments held in the pool, the council has £5.34m invested in property 
funds as at 30 September 2022. Following the latest distribution information, the funds 
have achieved a 3.08% revenue return and 2.20% capital loss over the course of the 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



year, resulting in revenue income of £84.5k and an ‘unrealised’ capital loss of £120.2k. 
These funds are long term investments and changes in capital values are realised 
when the units in the funds are sold. 
 
Borrowing – Long-term borrowing totalled £52.833m at 30 September 2022, (£1.6m 
relating to the General Fund; £51.233m relating to the HRA), Interest payments of 
£1.917m are forecast to be paid in 2022/23, a saving of £59k against budget.  The 
Council has no plans for any short term borrowing for the year. 
 
Prudential Indicators – the Council’s affordable limits for borrowing were not breached 
during this period. 
 
Looking ahead to the remainder of 2022/23, investment returns are expected to 
continue to rise due to the sustained increases in Bank Base Rate. Base rate is 
expected to continue to rise over the course of the year, with latest estimates showing 
an increase to 5.00% by March 2023. This position remains highly fluid and is based 
on the latest expectations by the Council’s Treasury Advisors, Link Group. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That Councillors endorse the actions of Officers on the Council’s treasury 
activities for Quarter 2 2022/23 and approve the report. 

 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
To comply with the Treasury Management Code of Practice, the Executive is required 
to receive and review regular treasury management monitoring reports. 
 
1.  Introduction and background 
 
1.1 This is the second monitoring report for treasury management in 2022/23 and 

covers the period 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022.  During this period the 
Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements. 
 

1.2 Treasury management in Local Government is governed by the CIPFA “Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services” and in this context 
is the management of the Council’s cash flows, its banking and its capital 
market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.  
This Council has adopted the Code and complies with its requirements. 

 
1.3 The Council’s Treasury Strategy, including the Annual Investment Strategy and 

Prudential Indicators was approved by Council on 24 February 2022. 
 
1.4 The two key budgets related to the Council’s treasury management activities 

are the amount of interest earned on investments £152.5k (£110k General 
Fund, £42.5k HRA) and the amount of interest paid on borrowing £1.976m 
(£75k General Fund, £1.901m HRA). 

 
 

Page 38



 
2.   The Report 
 
 Market Conditions and Interest Rates  

 
2.1 The Council’s treasury advisors Link Group summarised the key points 

associated with economic activity in 2022/23 up to 30 September 2022: 
 

 The UK economy grew by 0.2% in July following an upward revision to Q1’s 
GDP data (+0.2% q/q), though revisions to historic data left it below pre 
pandemic levels. 

 There were signs of economic activity losing momentum, as production fell due 
to rising energy prices;  

 CPI inflation eased to 9.9% y/y in August but domestic price pressures show 
little sign of abating in the near-term;  

 Bank Rate rose by 100bps over the quarter, taking Bank Rate to 2.25% with 
further rises to come;  

 Gilt yields surge and sterling fall following the “fiscal event” of the new Prime 
Minister and Chancellor on 23rd September. 

 
Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

2.2 The current interest rate forecasts (as at 30th September 2022) of Link Group 
are as follows: 

 

Date 
Bank 
rate 

5-year 
PWLB* 

10-year 
PWLB* 

25-
year 
PWLB
* 

50-year 
PWLB* 

 % % % % % 
Current 
rates 

2.25% 5.30% 5.07% 4.85% 4.36% 

Dec 2022 4.00% 5.00% 4.90% 5.10% 4.80% 
March 2023 5.00% 4.90% 4.70% 4.90% 4.60% 
June 2023 
Sept 2023 
Dec 2023 

5.00% 
5.00% 
4.50% 

4.70% 
4.50% 
4.20% 

4.60% 
4.30% 
4.10% 

4.80% 
4.50% 
4.30% 

4.50% 
4.20% 
4.00% 

March 2024 4.00% 3.90% 3.80% 4.10% 3.80% 
June 2024 3.75% 3.70% 3.60% 3.90% 3.60% 
Sept 2024 3.25% 3.50% 3.50% 3.70% 3.40% 
 
* Net of certainty rate 0.2% discount   

Page 39



2.3 The previous months have seen the Bank of England continue to take 
sustained action via increases to the Bank Base Rate in their effort to combat 
inflationary pressures. As such current Base rate set by the Monetary Policy 
Committee is sitting at 2.25%. As shown in the forecast table above, 
significant further increases in Bank Rate are anticipated over the coming 
months, with Base rate currently expected to be around 4.00% at the time of 
Q3 reporting in December 2022. This position remains highly fluid given the 
current economic situation and will be updated and reviewed in future 
Treasury reports.  

 
 Annual Investment Strategy 
 
2.4 The Annual Investment Strategy outlines the Council’s investment priorities 

which are consistent with those recommended by DCLG and CIPFA: 
 

 Security of Capital and 

 Liquidity of its investments 
 
2.5 The Investment of cash balances of the Council are managed as part of the 

investment pool operated by North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC).  In order 
to facilitate this pooling, The Councils Annual Investment strategy and Lending 
List has been aligned to that of NYCC. 

 
2.6 NYCC continues to invest in only highly credit rated institutions using the Link 

suggested creditworthiness matrices which take information from all the credit 
ratings agencies.  Officers can confirm that the Council has not breached its 
approved investment limits during the year. 

 
2.7 The Council’s investment activity in the NYCC investment pool up to 30 

September 2022 was as follows: 
 

 Balance invested at 30 September 2022                  £87.04m 

 Average Daily Balance Q2 2022/23                    £85.85m 

 Average Interest Rate Achieved Q2 2022/23       1.37% 

 Total Interest Budgeted for 2022/23                    £152.5k 

 Total Forecast Interest for 2022/23                     £1,189.3k 

2.8 The average return to Q2 2022/23 of 1.37% compares with the average  
benchmark returns as follows: 

 

 7 day  1.19% 

 1 month  1.11% 

 3 months 0.91% 

 6 months 0.67% 

 12 months 0.37% 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



Borrowing 
 

2.9 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review its 
“Affordable Borrowing Limits”.  The Council’s approved Prudential Indicators 
(affordable limits) were outlined in the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS).  A list of the limits is shown at Appendix A.  Officers can 
confirm that the Prudential Indicators were not breached during the year. 
 

2.10 The TMSS indicated that there was no requirement to take long-term borrowing 
during 2022/23 to support the budgeted capital programme. Currently there are 
no plans to undertake further long-term borrowing in the coming financial year.  

 
2.11 The Council approved an Authorised Borrowing Limit of £78m (£77m debt and 

£1m Leases) and an Operational Borrowing Limit of £73m (£72m debt and £1m 
Leases) for 2022/23 on the 24 February 2022 within the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy. 

 
2.12 As at 30th September 2022 Long-term borrowing totalled £52.833m, (£1.6m 

relating to the General Fund; £51.233m relating to the HRA). This figure is 
forecast to remain unchanged throughout the year, with the next scheduled loan 
repayment scheduled for March 2035. 

 
2.13 The Treasury strategy, in relation to capital financing, is to continue the 

voluntary set aside of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) payments from the 
HRA in relation to self-financing debt, to allow for repayment of the outstanding 
debt. Following an updating of the HRA business plan in 2021/22, the voluntary 
set aside of HRA MRP payments has been reprofiled over the life of the existing 
debt, a change from the original 30-year profiling period. As a result of this 
update, £1.21m of HRA Voluntary MRP is currently forecast to be incurred in 
2022/23.   

 
2.14 As at 30th September 2022, the Council was in an under-borrowed position of 

£1.5m, unchanged from the position reported at Q1. This means that capital 
borrowing (external debt) is currently and temporarily lower than the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow. This under-borrowed position has been driven by 
the council’s utilisation of internal borrowing, a Treasury Management practice 
whereby a Council can defer the need to borrow funds externally, thus attracting 
additional interest expenses, by utilising its existing cash balances to finance 
its capital programme.  At year end, following the voluntary set aside of the 
MRP payments, the council is forecast to be in an over-borrowed position of 
£772k. This is in line with expectations set out in the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and in line with the figure reported at Q1. 

 
Capital Strategy 

 
2.15 The Capital Strategy was included as part of the Council’s Annual Treasury 

Management and Investment Strategy 2022/23, approved in February 2022. 
The Capital Strategy sets out how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management contribute to the provision of Corporate and service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 

Page 41



prudence, sustainability and affordability. It sets out the long-term context in 
which capital expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due 
consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of priority 
outcomes. 

 
2.16 Alternative non-treasury investments are considered as part of the Capital 

Strategy. Given the technical nature of potential alternative investments and 
strong linkages to the Council’s Treasury Management function, appropriate 
governance and decision-making arrangements are needed to ensure robust 
due diligence in order to make recommendations for implementation. As a 
result, all investments are subject to consideration and where necessary 
recommendations of the Executive. 

 
2.17 Aside from the existing loans to Selby & District Housing Trust to support the 

Housing Delivery Programme, no further options for alternative investments are 
currently being pursued.  

 
Housing Delivery Programme Loans 

 
2.18 The Housing Delivery Programme has delivered a number of successful 

schemes so far, in partnership with Selby & District Housing Trust.  No further 
schemes are planned, though the existing loans to fund provision of affordable 
homes in the District have continued over the course of Q2 2022/23.  

 

Scheme 
Loan Rate 
% 

Principal 
Outstanding 
as at 30 
September 
2022 £ 

Interest Q2 
22/23  
£ 

Interest 
Full year 
£ 

Kirgate, Tadcaster 4.56% 178,293 4,257 8,514 

St Joseph's St 4.20% 193,573 4,166 8,331 

Jubliee Close, Riccall 3.55% 514,240 9,205 18,410 

Ulleskelf 4.87% 1,017,691 24,835 49,670 

Ousegate 3.65% 825,158 15,248 30,496 

Total Principal / 
Average Rate 

4.19% 2,728,955 57,711 
115,423 

 
Commercial Property Investments 

 
2.19 The Council currently possesses one Commercial Property, the former 

NatWest Bank located in Tadcaster. As part of the Council’s wider P4G 
programme a decision has been made to declare the property as surplus to 
council requirements and formally dispose of the property. 

  
Property Funds 

 
2.20 The position on Property Funds at 30 September 2022 is as follows: 
 
 
 

Page 42



In Year Performance 

   In Year Performance Q2 22/23 

Fund 

Bfwd 
Investmen
t 

Valuation as 
at 

 
Capital Gain / 
(Loss) 

 
Revenue 
Return 

£k 30-Sept-22 

  £k £k % £k % 

Blackrock 2,823.44 2,742.19 (81.2) (2.88) 35.1 2.48 

Threadnee
dle 

2,636.30 2,597.32 (39.0) (1.48) 49.5 3.71 

Total 5,459.73 5,339.51 (120.2) (2.20) 84.5 3.08 

 
Total Fund Performance 

   Total Performance 

Fund 

Original 
Investmen
t 

Valuation 
as at 

 
Capital Gain / 
(Loss) 

Revenue 
Return  

£k 30-Sept-22 

  £k £k % £k % 

Blackrock 2,502.50 2,742.19 239.7 9.58 303.6 3.10 

Threadnee
dle 

2,439.24 2,597.32 158.1 6.48 405.1 4.30 

Total 4,941.73 5,339.51 397.8 8.05 708.8 3.69 

 
2.21 Investments held in Property Funds are classified as Non-Specified 

Investments and are, consequently, long term in nature. Valuations can, 
therefore, fall and rise over the period they are held. Any gains or losses in the 
capital value of investments are held in an unusable reserve on the balance 
sheet and do not impact on the General Fund until units in the funds are sold. 

 
2.22 Following the peak in value presented within the Quarter 1 report, the Capital 

Values of both funds have since seen a reduction over the course of Quarter 2, 
with funds now showing a capital loss for the year. Despite this however, both 
funds are still showing a combined capital gain on their initial purchase price. 
At the end of Q2 2022/23 the funds have demonstrated a combined capital loss 
of £120.2k so far for the year, and a gain of £397.8k over initial purchase price. 
Both funds have also continued to generate a positive revenue return, 
amounting to £84.5k over the course of the year by the end of quarter 2. 

 
2.23 Due to a heightened level of redemption requests in June 2022, spurred by a 

structural change with UK Defined Benefit Pension Schemes, coupled with the 
current uncertainty in the financial markets, uncertainty that has seen many 
investors temporarily halting any further investments until further clarity on 
investment rates is received, BlackRock UK Property Fund has taken the 
temporary decision to defer any redemption requests that were received in Q2 
2022. This move has been taken by BlackRock and other Property Fund 
Services in order to avoid the forced selling of assets within the fund to satisfy 
the redemption requests. This move was taken to safeguard the interests of 
those with longer term interests in the fund, such as Selby District Council. No 

Page 43



timescale for the lifting of the temporary deferment is yet in place, though initial 
indications have been given that the deferment will be in place for at least a few 
quarters. 

 
3.  Alternative Options Considered  
 
3.1 The Council has access to a range of investments through the pooled 

arrangements in place through North Yorkshire County Council. 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1  Legal Implications 
  
 There are no legal implications as a direct result of this report. 
 
4.2 Financial Implications 
 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 
 
4.3 Policy and Risk Implications 
 
4.3.1 Management of the Council’s treasury activities are in accordance with 

approved policies. Treasury management in Local Government is governed by 
the CIPFA “Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services” 
which aims to ensure the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.  
This Council has adopted the Code and complies with its requirements. 

 
4.4 Corporate Plan Implications 
 
4.4.1 There are no direct Corporate Plan implications as a result of this report.  
 
4.5 Resource Implications 
 
4.5.1 The resources necessary to manage the Council’s Treasury activities are 

contained within the collaboration agreement with NYCC. 
 
4.6 Other Implications 
 
4.6.1 There are no other implications as a direct result of this report. 
 

 4.7 Equalities Impact Assessment  
 

4.7.1 There are no equalities impacts as a direct result of this report. 
 
5. Conclusion 
 
5.1 Overall the Council’s investments have performed well over the quarter, with 

strong revenue returns achieved against budgets set. This has been driven by 

Page 44



the sustained increases in the Bank Base Rate which will translate into 
continued increasing investment returns for the coming year. 

 
5.2 After the sustained period of Capital growth that has been reported since the 

midst of the Covid-19 Pandemic, the Council’s Property Fund investments have 
since seen a decrease in Capital Value over the course of the quarter. Despite 
this however, both funds continue to present a growth in capital value over their 
initial purchase price. Both funds also continue to generate revenue returns. 
These investments are intended to be longer term in nature and as such their 
strong capital growth will not impact on the General Fund until units in the funds 
are sold, with any change in value (up or down) until that point held on the 
Balance Sheet in an unusable reserve. 

 
5.3 The Council’s debt position is in line with expectations set out in the Strategy. 

Opportunities to ensure the optimisation of the Council’s Debt Portfolio will 
remain under review, however at present no changes are expected, either via 
the early resettlement of existing debt or the raising of further borrowing. 

 
5.4 The Council operated within approved Strategy Indicators over the course of 

the quarter, with no breaches on authorised limits.  The Prudential Indicators 
are reviewed annually as part of the Treasury Strategy to ensure approved 
boundaries remain appropriate; activities during Q2 2022/23 have not 
highlighted any concerns. 

 
6. Background Documents 

 
 None. 
 
7. Appendices 
 
 Appendix A – Prudential Indicators as at 30 September 2022 

 
Contact Officer:  
Chris Chapman, Accountant – External Clients, NYCC 
cchapman@selby.gov.uk 
 
Karen Iveson, Chief Finance Officer 
kiveson@selby.gov.uk 

Page 45

mailto:cchapman@selby.gov.uk
mailto:kiveson@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Prudential Indicators - As at 30 September 2022

Note Prudential Indicator 2022/23 TM Strategy
Quarter 2 

Actual

1
Capital Financing Requirement 
£'000 52,133 54,350
Gross Borrowing £’000 52,833 52,833

Investments £'000 53,216 95,104

2 Net Borrowing £'000 -383 -42,271

3
Authorised Limit for External 
Debt £'000 78,000 52,833

4
Operational Boundry for External 
Debt £'000 73,000 52,833

5
Limit of fixed interest rates based 
on net debt % 100% 100%
Limit of variable interest rates 
based on net debt % 30% 0%

6
Principal sums invested for over 
364 days
1 to 2 years £'000 20,000 0
2 to 3 years £'000 15,000 0
3 to 4 years £'000 5,000 0
4 to 5 years £'000 5,000 0

7
Maturity Structure of external 
debt borrowing limits
Under 12 months % 20% 0.00%
1 to 2 years % 20% 0.00%
2 to 5 years % 50% 0.00%
5 to 10 years % 50% 0.00%
10 to 15 years % 50% 3.00%
15 years and above % 90% 97.00%

1. Capital Financing Requirement – this is a measure of the Council’s
underlying need to borrow long term to fund its capital projects.

2. Net Borrowing (Gross Borrowing less Investments) – this must not except
in the short term exceed the capital financing requirement.

3. Authorised Limit for External Debt – this is the maximum amount of
borrowing the Council believes it would need to undertake its functions
during the year. It is set above the Operational Limit to accommodate
unusual or exceptional cashflow movements.

4. Operational Boundary for External Debt – this is set at the Council’s most
likely operation level. Any breaches of this would be reported to
Councillor’s immediately.

5. Limit of fixed and variable interest rates on net debt – this is to manage
interest rate fluctuations to ensure that the Council does not over expose
itself to variable rate debt.

6. Principal Sums Invested for over 364 days – the purpose of these limits is
so that the Council contains its exposure to the possibility of loss that
might arise as a result of having to seek early repayment or redemption of
investments.

7. Maturity Structure of Borrowing Limits – the purpose of this is to ensure
that the Council is not required to repay all of its debt in one year. The
debt in the 15 years and over category is spread over a range of
maturities from 23 years to 50 years.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Report Reference Number:   E/22/29 
_________________________________________               __________________________ 

 

To:      Executive 
Date:      8 December 2022 
Status:     Non-Key decision 
Ward(s) Affected:  All   
Author:  Helen Holland, Benefits Supervisor and Stacey 

Carter, Benefits and Taxation Officer 

Lead Executive Member:  Councillor C Lunn, Lead Executive Member for 
Finance and Resources  

_________________________________________                     _______________________ 

 
Title:  Discretionary Housing Payments 
 
1.  Summary  
 
1.1  This report provides details and an update of the latest position of the 

Discretionary Hardship Payments (DHPs) fund.  This is a scheme for helping 
benefit claimants in receipt of Housing Benefit or the housing element of 
Universal Credit who require additional financial assistance to meet their 
housing costs. 

 
1.2 The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) allocate a fund for each 

financial year which is ring fenced and any underspend must be returned to 
DWP at the end of the financial year. 

 
1.3 Local Authorities can spend up to 2½ times their allocated fund in any financial 

year; though any monies spent over and above the amount allocated by DWP 
must be funded by the Local Authority.   

 
1.4 Selby District Council’s Policy states “No DHP can be awarded if the annual 

fund has been exhausted”. However, other LAs routinely top-up DHP funds with 
their own funding.  Until 2021/22 demand on the fund had never previously fully 
exhausted it.  Last year we exhausted the fund and required a £30,000 top up.   
With the further reduction in this year’s funding, a top up from the COVID 19 
Council Tax Support Hardship fund is being requested to ensure that awards 
can continue to be made for the remainder of the year. 

 
Recommendation: 

 
That the Executive agree that an amount of £40,000 of funding from the 
COVID 19 Council Tax Support Hardship fund be moved to the 
Discretionary Housing Payment fund. 

 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 
2.  Introduction and background 
 
2.1  Annual demand on the DHP fund since 2012 at Selby District Council is set out 

in the table below.  Historically, the DWP funding allocation has been sufficient 
to meet demand.  From 2013 the funding dramatically increased to meet the 
demand following the introduction of the social sector size criteria (informally 
known as ‘bedroom tax’). 

 
Annual Demand 

 

Year Total Fund Amount Paid Unallocated 
(Returned to DWP) 

2020 £127,364 £121,432 £5,932 

2019 £101,625 £100,680 £945 

2018 £118,688 £118,552 £136 

2017 £118,942 £117,754 £1,188 

2016 £94,564 £94,345 £219 

2015 £85,563 £84,671 £892 

2014 £88,562 £88,265 £297 

2013 £89,422 £89,442 -£20 

2012 £37,904 £10,242 £27,662 

 
3.0  Last year’s funding (2021/22) 
 
3.1 Last year the DHP funding allocation was £101,008 which was substantially 

lower than 2020/21 despite the increased demands.    This was a reduction of 
£26,356 on 2020/21 funding.  It was agreed that £30,000 from the Covid 19 
CTS Hardship Fund would be allocated to the DHP fund bringing the total fund 
for last year to £131,008.   A total of £128,024.61 was subsequently paid out. 

 
4.0  This year’s funding (2022/23)  
 
4.1 The DWP have again substantially reduced the DHP funding.  A total of £71,591 

has been allocated.  This is a reduction of £29,417 on the 2021/22 DWP 
allocation and £56,434 less than the amount we actually paid out last year. 

 
5.0  Current position  
 
5.1  DHP spending is usually weighted more heavily during the first 2 to 3 quarters 

of the year.  Repeat applicants reapply in April and these are often longer 
awards due to their ongoing and continuing circumstances.  People who have 
initially applied in the 1st quarter and received a short award reapply in the 2nd 
quarter if they have been unable to change their circumstances.  In the 4th 
quarter the awards are shorter (as we can only allocate funds up until the end 
of the financial year).    

 
5.2 Despite the ongoing high demand, tough decisions have been made when 

making awards this year in attempt to reduce the DHP spending.   
 

Page 50



5.3 When figures were last collated on 30/09/2022 we have made awards to 194 
applicants and spent £45,176 of the fund and committed a further £12,890.  
This means that we only have £13,525 left unallocated.  There are several 
outstanding applications awaiting consideration as we receive applications 
each week.   

 
5.4 By making tough decisions, we have reduced our spend on last year:   
 

Q1 2021/22 we spent £35,350.39 and committed a further £20,864.40.   
Q1 2022/23 we spent £20,597.62 and committed a further £15,243.   
Q2 2021/22 we spent £63,014.26 and committed a further £12,232.99.   
Q2 2022/23 we spent £45,175.88 and committed a further £12,525.51.   
 
This means we have spent and committed £17,545.86 less than in 2021/22. 
 

5.5 The cost-of-living crisis is already hitting people hard. Many applicants are 
already citing this as a reason for their DHP application. This will only worsen 
as we head into autumn/winter with further energy cost increases predicted. 

 
6.0  Additional funding requirements 
 
6.1 Based on mid-year figures, we have spent/committed approximately 23% less 

than in the same period last year.  However, we need to take into consideration 
that shorter awards have been made this year which will reflect in this reduction.  
This does not necessarily mean that demand will no longer be present at the 
end of the award period, and we are already seeing repeat applications coming 
through.    

 
6.2 It would not be reasonable to assume that we will require 23% less DHP fund 

than last year, especially when the cost-of-living crisis is set to worsen.  
However, the effects of the pandemic (job loses, sick leave etc.) have greatly 
reduced.  If we allocate a further £40,000 to the budget it will bring the total fund 
to £110,137 which is approx. 14% less than last year’s spend. 

 
6.3 Selby District Council still has £118,545 remaining Covid 19 CTS Hardship 

Fund which the government issued to all Local Authorities 2 years ago.  Local 
Authorities are allowed to use any unspent money in this fund to help the 
community as they see fit.   

 
7.0 Implications 
 
7.1  Legal  
 

The Council’s policy states that no DHP can be awarded if the fund has been 
exhausted.  However, as a local authority can use their own funds to top up 
their government contribution by an additional 150%, if a local authority has a 
policy of not spending money on DHPs, over and above that which has been 
allocated by central government, this could be susceptible to challenge on the 
basis that the authority has unlawfully fettered its discretion. 

 

Page 51



 
7.2 Financial 
 

The full additional amount is to be met by the Covid 19 CTS Hardship Fund 
which has the proposed amount available within it.  If the requested amount of 
£40,000.00 is not used it can be returned to the Covid 19 CTS Hardship Fund. 
Careful monitoring of the fund will continue throughout the year. 

 
7.3 Policy and Risk 
 

We are already reducing award amounts and durations.  Some applicants have 
a genuine requirement for higher awards therefore they will suffer financial 
hardship as a result.  The effects of financial hardship are far reaching, including 
mental health and debt problems.  Relationships can breakdown leading to 
more strain on social and private housing needs. 

 
7.4 Resources 
 

Increased financial hardship within the district could put pressure on other 
teams.  Those people living in private rented properties which have temporarily 
become unaffordable, will accrue rent arrears which in turn could lead to 
eviction and homelessness.  The Council will be required to exercise its 
homeless duties.   Council tenants who cannot afford the shortfall in their rent 
will also accrue arrears putting pressure on debt recovery and the rent 
collection figures. 

  
8. Conclusion 
 
8.1 Without a top up of £40,000 from the Covid 19 CTS Hardship Fund, there will 

be no money left in the DHP fund to help benefit claimants in receipt of Housing 
Benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit who require additional 
financial assistance to meet their housing costs.   

 
 
Contact Officers:  
Helen Holland - hholland@selby.gov.uk 
Stacey Carter – scarter@selby.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 52



 
 
 
 

 

Report Reference Number:  E/22/30   
____________________________________                  _______________________________ 

 

To:      Executive 
Date:      8 December 2022 
Status:     Non-Key Decision 
Ward(s) Affected:  Escrick   
Author:  Ryan King, Senior Planning Policy Officer 
Lead Executive Member:  Councillor Mark Crane, Leader of the Council and 

Lead Executive Member for Leisure, Strategic 
Matters, Place Shaping and External Relations and 
Partnerships 

Lead Officer:  Martin Grainger, Head of Planning and Interim Head 
of Regulatory Services 

___________________________________________                        _____________________ 

 
Title: Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-2035 (ENDP) 
 
Summary:  
 
This report seeks Executive approval that the Escrick Neighbourhood Development 
Plan should be made part of the Development Plan for Selby District following a positive 
outcome of the referendum held on 6th October 2022. The referendum posed the 
following question: “Do you want Selby District Council to use the Escrick 
Neighbourhood Development Plan to help it decide planning applications in the Escrick 
neighbourhood area?” There was a 33% (246 ballot papers issued) turnout to the 
referendum with 89.7% (219 votes recorded) of the votes cast in favour of ‘Yes’. 10.2% 
(25 votes recorded) of votes were cast in favour of ‘No’. Two ballot papers were rejected. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That Executive recommends that Council formally makes the Escrick 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-2035 as part of the Development Plan for 
Selby District following the positive outcome of the referendum held on 6th 
October 2022. 
 
Reasons for recommendation: 
 
The Executive is asked to agree the recommendation to enable the Escrick 
Neighbourhood Development Plan to be made part of the statutory Development Plan 
under the provisions of s38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) which requires that the Council must adopt or ‘make’ the Neighbourhood Plan 
if more than half of those voting have voted in favour of the Plan. 
 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



 
 
1.  Introduction and background 
 
1.1 Through the Localism Act, Selby District Council (SDC) has a duty to support 

Parish and Town Councils who wish to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

1.2 There are a number of stages involved in producing a Neighbourhood Plan, 
broadly grouped into three areas. The first is for the Town / Parish Council 
wishing to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan to submit their proposed 
Neighbourhood Area to SDC for designation. The second stage is the 
preparation of the Plan to inform the development of the vision and the 
formulation of policy, proposals and site allocations. The third stage includes the 
submission of the proposed Plan to SDC for consultation, an independent 
examination of the plan and subsequent public referendum.  
 

1.3 Escrick Parish Council, as the qualifying body, submitted an application to SDC 
for the whole Parish of Escrick to be formally designated as the Escrick 
Neighbourhood Area. The application was approved in November 2017. 
 

1.4 Escrick Parish Council developed a draft Neighbourhood Plan with input from the 
community and submitted it to SDC in January 2022. The submitted version of 
the Plan was publicised and comments invited from the public and stakeholders 
for a six-week period with consultation closing on 4th April 2022. 
 

1.5 Following consultation on the draft Plan SDC, in agreement with the qualifying 
body, appointed an Independent Examiner, Mr Patrick T Whitehead, to review 
whether the Plan met the ‘Basic Conditions’ (and other legal requirements) and 
recommend whether the Plan should proceed to referendum. 
 

1.6 The Examiner’s Report was published on the Council’s website on 29th June 
2022. The report concluded that, subject to making modifications recommended 
by the Examiner, the Plan met the Basic Conditions (and other legal 
requirements) and should proceed to referendum. 
 

1.7 SDC considered each of the modifications recommended in line with Regulation 
18 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
and agreed to accept them. For the reasons given by the Examiner, SDC was 
satisfied that subject to the proposed modifications by the Examiner, the Plan 
met the Basic Conditions detailed in para 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

1.8 Delegated approval to proceed to referendum was given on 22nd July 2022 by 
the Head of Planning and Interim Head of Regulatory Services and Place in 
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Place Shaping. 

 
2. Making the Plan 
 
2.1 A referendum relating to the Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan was held 

on Thursday 6th October 2022. The referendum area covered the civil parish of 

Page 54



Escrick, in line with the approved Neighbourhood Area. The question which was 
asked at the referendum was “Do you want Selby District Council to use the 
Neighbourhood Plan for Escrick Neighbourhood Area to help it decide planning 
applications in the neighbourhood area?”. 

 
2.2 Following a 33% turnout, 89.7% of those voting were in favour of using the 

Neighbourhood Plan for Escrick to help SDC to determine planning applications 
in the Neighbourhood Area. 

 
2.3 Once made, the Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-2035 will 

become part of the statutory development plan for Selby District. Statute provides 
that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan’s policies unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. However, the weight attached to the Development Plan must still be 
balanced with other material considerations when considering planning 
applications. 

 
2.4 In accordance with Regulation 18A of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations 2012 (as amended) the prescribed date for making (adopting) a 
Neighbourhood Development Plan “is the date which is the last day of the period 
of 8 weeks beginning with the day immediately following that on which the last 
applicable referendum is held”. In this instance the earliest date the Plan can be 
‘made’ is 2nd December 2022. 

 
3.  Legal / Financial Controls and other policy matters 
  
 Legal Issues 
 
3.1 Under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

relevant regulations, the Council has no discretion in making the Plan unless it 
considers that making it would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, 
any EU obligation or any of the convention rights (within the meaning of the 
Human Rights Act 1998). Officers are satisfied that making the Plan would not 
breach or be incompatible with these requirements. In addition, under the 
provisions of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 the Plan, as a post 
referendum plan, should be considered as part of the Development Plan from the 
point of approval at referendum even if the Council has not yet approved or 
‘made’ the plan. It therefore carries full weight in decision making. 

 
 Financial Issues 
 
3.2 There is a cost of administrating the latter stages of the Neighbourhood Plan 

process as well as the cost of the referendum. The costs of appointing the 
Examiner and holding the referendum fall initially to SDC but are reimbursed by 
the Government. The robustness of the Neighbourhood Plan policies will be 
tested over time by Independent Planning Inspectors on appeal. Liability for 
future appeal costs lie with SDC as the Local Planning Authority and as such the 
usability of the Plan and its impact on decision making will be monitored. With 
regard to the referendum expenses, the limit that will apply will be £2,406.43. 

 

Page 55



3.3 Further to the costs of developing a Neighbourhood Plan there are some 
implications to the funding for CIL. Regulations 59A and 59F of the CIL legislation 
requires that 15% of the CIL collected within a parish area is to be retained for 
spending on infrastructure within that area. However, where there is an adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan in an area then the CIL collected for local infrastructure 
increases to 25%. The administration fee remains at 5% of the CIL collected and 
the wider infrastructure CIL collected reduces from 80% to 70% for those areas 
with a Neighbourhood Plan in place. 

 
 Impact Assessment 
 
3.4 The Plan was screened for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) by SDC, which found that it was 
unnecessary to undertake SEA or HRA, a conclusion supported by the statutory 
consultees and the Independent Examiner. 

 
4. Conclusion  
 
4.1 Paragraph 38A (4) (a) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as 

amended requires that the Council must adopt, or ‘make’ the Neighbourhood 
Plan if more than half of those voting have voted in favour of the Plan. In the case 
of Escrick, the referendum results indicated that of the 246 votes cast, 219 
(89.7%) were in favour of using the Neighbourhood Plan for Escrick to help it 
decide planning applications in the Escrick Neighbourhood Area. 

 
5. Background Documents 
 
5.1 The Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan, Independent Examiner’s Report, 

referendum details and other relevant supporting documentation is available on 
the Council’s website at: https://www.selby.gov.uk/escrick-neighbourhood-
development-plan 

 
6. Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-35 
Appendix B – Escrick Design Code 
 
 
 
Contact Officer:  
Ryan King, Senior Planning Policy Officer 
rking@selby.gov.uk  

Page 56

https://www.selby.gov.uk/escrick-neighbourhood-development-plan
https://www.selby.gov.uk/escrick-neighbourhood-development-plan
mailto:rking@selby.gov.uk


Made version Pre-submission draft

2021 - 2035

P
age 57



Referendum version

FOREWORD BY CHAIR 

Welcome to the Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) for Escrick Parish.

We are fortunate to live in a very attractive and distinctive area of North 
Yorkshire.  Escrick Parish has a rich and diverse heritage, going back to 
the Doomsday Book, and it continues to attract visitors, tourists and new 
residents.  The Parish also supports a cross section of businesses of different 
sizes and sectors.

Neighbourhood Development Plans are not designed to prevent 
development, but to ensure that development is of appropriate scale and 
character within each Neighbourhood Plan area.  The underlying aim of our 
Plan is to seek to ensure sustainable development that meets the needs of 
current and future generations, whilst protecting, nurturing and enhancing 
the natural, built and historic environment.

Work started in October 2017 when the project team was formed.  Our core 
team consists of a wide cross section of talent and skills from inside and 
outside the Parish including, Parish Councillors, Escrick Parish residents 
and planning consultants from Integreat PLUS, who we appointed to guide 
and advise us through the process. In addition we have mobilised and 
engaged with over 100 stakeholders who contributed with online responses, 
comments and ideas throughout the process. 

Their participation has included; advice, guidance, website creation and 
content, social media content, reviewing documents, posting flyers though 
letterboxes, attending public events, completing surveys and questionnaires. 
All of this work undertaken against the disruptive backdrop of the Covid 19 
pandemic

Conserving and enhancing the natural and built environment will not only 
improve the lives of local people, but can further strengthen the economy 
through tourism and business. 

The Plan, which covers the period 2022- 2035, provides an important 
opportunity to ensure that future development is well planned and takes 
account of the views and aspirations of the local community. 

In addition we would like to thank Locality for providing the grant funding that 
has enabled production of this Plan and supported our journey through the 
process.  It is also important to acknowledge that all of the key contributors 
to the Plan have done so in their own time as volunteers. The professional 
deliverables, plans and policies that now constitute our Plan are a testament 
to their enthusiasm and tenacity.  

We believe our Neighbourhood Plan will make a lasting contribution to 
maintaining and improving our local community for todays and tomorrows 
residents and business stakeholders. 

Richard Rowson……….Chair of Escrick Parish Council
Tudor Rees...........…….NDP Project Leader  

We would also like to thank the following:

- Members of the NDP project team 
- Other Escrick Parish councillors 
- The many village residents who have contributed in various ways
- The village societies who have contributed in many ways
- Escrick heritage group
- Escrick Park Estate
- The many local business stakeholders
- Adjacent Parish Councils
- Selby District Council 
- North Yorkshire County Council

2

P
age 58



Referendum version

VISION

Our Vision for the Parish:

•  A well maintained, vibrant Parish, where people take pride in their community
•  Retaining the rural character, access to open spaces and community for various ages    
 and  demographics
•  Retain good transport links to the wider area
•  Improve cycle connectivity within the Parish and to the wider cycle network
•  Mitigating the impact of through traffic on the community
•  Supporting local businesses that provide local employment amenity to residents
•  Support appropriate scale growth that complements the existing character, and     
 supports the sustainability of Parish services
•  Maintain and enhance local services and amenities to support a strong sense of     
 community amongst all age groups and demographics
•  Promote a community where families can afford to live and want to stay
•  A community that is safe, and feels safe, to its residents
•  A community that adapts to a changing world, whilst respecting its rural agricultural    
 Estate heritage.

3

P
age 59



Referendum version

CONTENTS
IN

TR
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

4

 Foreword..............................................
 Vision Statement.................................
 List of policies by topic........................

1.0 Introduction.........................................
 Map of Escrick Plan Area....................
 Process................................................
 History of Escrick................................
 Escrick today.......................................
 Engagement .......................................
 Vision...................................................
 Objectives............................................

2.0 Community & Facilities...................

3.0 Housing...............................................

4.0 Economic Development......................

5.0 Transport & Movement.......................

6.0 Natural Environment...........................

7.0 Built Environment & Heritage............

8.0 Appendix
8.1 Policies Maps
8.2 Local Green Space Assessments
8.3 Core Settlement Movement Network
8.4 Map of character areas in Escrick village
8.5 Map of major housing development in Escrick
8.6 Map of key business locations
8.7 Map of green spaces in Escrick
8.8 Community aspirations

p.2
p.3
p.5

p.6
p.7
p.8
p.10
p.12
p.14
p.17
p.18

p.20

p.26

p.34

p.42

p.48

p.54

p.60
p.61
p.63
p.76
p.78
p.79
p.80
p.81
p.82

P
age 60



Referendum version

LIST OF POLICIES BY TOPICLIST OF POLICIES BY TOPIC

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES 

CF1 Community facilities
CF2 Local Green Spaces

HOUSING

H1 Housing development
H2 Sustainable design & construction
H3 Housing mix
H4 Homeworking 
H5 Siting, scale & density of new development 
H6 Design
H7 Infill, backland & replacement dwellings
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

ED1 Small business development
ED2 Village amenities 
ED3 Reuse of redundant buildings
ED4 Agriculture
ED5 Digital connectivity
ED6 Business development

MOVEMENT & TRANSPORT 

MT1 Traffic flow along A19
MT2 Car parking
MT3  Pedestrian & cycle connections

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

NE1 Green infrastructure
NE2   Green space connectivity

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE

BEH1 Drainage & flood prevention
BEH2 Respecting traditional design 
BEH3 Historic rural environment
BEH4 Streets & street scene

5

P
age 61



Referendum version

1.1  INTRODUCTION

1.1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

The Neighbourhood Plan covers the whole of the Civil Parish of 
Escrick as indicated on the Boundary Map.

The Escrick Neighbourhood Plan Area was formally approved by 
Selby District Council (SDC) on 9th November 2017 in accordance 
with the Localism Act, 2011, and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 
(General) Regulations, 2017.

The Plan has been produced on behalf of Escrick Parish 
Council (EPC) in accordance with the above-mentioned 
statutory provisions together with guidance contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework, (“NPPF”) and Planning 
Practice Guidance (“PPG”), issued by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (“MHCLG”).

The strategic planning policy background to the Neighbourhood 
Plan is provided by the adopted Selby Core Strategy 2013. 

The Neighbourhood Plan covers a period to 2035. The 
Neighbourhood Plan may be updated and refreshed to reflect 
any changing district or national planning policies. 

1.1.5

1.0
INTRODUCTION

6

P
age 62



Referendum version

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656

N
Escrick Neighbourhood Plan Area 0 10.5

Miles

7 7

P
age 63



Referendum version

1.2 PROCESS
IN

TR
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

Initial    
Community 

Engagement

Identify key 
themes and 

issues

Developing the 
Neighbourhood 

Plan and 
Design Code

Submission
          of Plan to  

Selby District
Council 

Independent 
Examination

Changes Referendum Plan 
adopted

 SUSTAINABILITY

NP

Undertake 
initial 

engagement 
exercises to 
understand 

needs of 
community 
and identify 
key issues 

for the Plan

Develop
 vision, aims 

and 
objectives

Identify 
themes and 

strands

Develop 
policy areas

Policies are developed 
which will deliver the aims 

of the community & address 
the issues raised

Development of a 
Design Code to help shape 

and influence new 
development

Additional consultation 

Neighbourhood
Plan is

submitted to 
Selby District

Council for 
Consultation

NDP is           
examined by 
independent 

planning 
inspector

Modifications
may be
 made 

Community 
votes on

NDP
requires at 

least 51% of 
votes to pass

Escrick
NDP

becomes a 
statutory 

development 
plan for the 

area 

Designation
of the

Plan area 

Draft 
Neighbourhood

Plan

Proposed
Neighbourhood

Plan 

WE 
ARE 

HERE

8

P
age 64



Referendum version

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

1.2 PROCESS

Designation of Neighbourhood Plan Area -  November 2017

Appointment of consultants   -  January 2018

Initial consultation exercises    - Spring/Summer 2018

Reflecting on consultation comments  - Summer 2018

Developing the plan    - 2018 - 2019

Design Code consultation    - 2019

Refining the plan     -  2020

6 week public consultation    -  June 2021

Responding to comments    - August 2021

Amendments      - September 2021

Strategic Environmental Assessments - September 2021

Formal submission to Selby DC  - November 2021

9 9

P
age 65



Referendum version

1.3    HISTORY OF ESCRICK
IN

TR
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

Escrick’s history is thought to have begun in the Saxon period, 
as a small settlement on the moraine formed at the end of the 
last ice age. Escrick remained small throughout the medieval 
period. The moraine ridge (which runs roughly along the 
present Stillingfleet Road, and through what is now Queen 
Margaret’s towards Wheldrake) would have provided an area 
of dry land above the more waterlogged lands of the Vale of 
York. The ridge was also a key route between the River Ouse 
at Riccall (the limit of navigation at the time from the North Sea) 
and York and Stamford Bridge. 

The first documentary evidence of Escrick comes from the 
Domesday Book of 1086 but archaeological finds suggest that 
the area may have been occupied for nearly 4000 years. During 
the medieval period, the village was known as “Ascri” (Ash 
Ridge), but by 1600 the name Escrick was in use. 

In 1086 Escrick consisted of two estates which were brought 
together between 1145 and 1219 when St Helen’s Abbey granted 
the land to the de Lascelles family. 

In 1668, it was bought by Sir Henry Thompson, a notable 
Merchant Adventurer of York and ancestor to the present 
estate owning family. In over 800 years this is the only time the 
estate has been sold. This sense of continuity and stability has 
contributed significantly to the relationship between church, 
village and estate. It is this relationship that has created the 
unique heritage of Escrick.

Top- Escrick Hall and Park  Bottom- Main Street

1.3.1

1.3.2

1.3.3

1.3.4

10

P
age 66



Referendum version

1.3     HISTORY OF ESCRICK

Top- Alms houses

Sir Henry's great grandson, Beilby Thompson, inherited the Estate 
in 1742. Under this ownership the village extended north towards 
York; the Church was relocated from beside the Hall to its present 
site on the York Road (A19); and most of the former site of the 
village was cleared and became the grounds of Escrick Hall (now 
part of Queen Margaret's School). 

Part of this reorganisation involved an Act of Parliament in 1776 
stopping the main village street at the gates to the Hall and 
creating a by-pass. The village's sylvan character also evolved 
from the time of enclosure when the open land became parkland. 
The bridge over the dyke was also constructed in 1776. 

In the late 1770s the village was reshaped, and establishing the 
hall with its own grounds with some separation from the rest of 
the village. The village was effectively relocated north of its former 
location - with the former site of the village becoming the grounds 
of Escrick Hall which later became home to Queen Margaret’s 
school. 

1.3.5

1.3.6

1.3.7

Bottom - Escrick Hall

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

11 11

P
age 67



Referendum version

1.4     ESCRICK TODAY

The Parish of Escrick covers approx. 9 square miles in total.  
Escrick village is the main settlement located at the northern 
boundary of the Parish some 7 miles south of York and 7 miles 
north of Selby. The Parish has 1,100 residents across just over 
370 households and is surrounded by agricultural land, much of 
which forms part of the 8,000 acre Escrick Park Estate. A large 
part of the village is included the Escrick Conservation area.

The village enjoys an active social calendar, including summer 
and Christmas fairs, a 10k run, quiz nights, carols on the green, 
bonfire/fireworks and various other social events. There are 
many clubs and societies including Mother’s Union, Tennis Club, 
Yorkshire Womens’ Institute, Swimming Club, Young Farmers 
Association, and many more. 

The village has a range of local facilities including St Helen’s 
Church, its own doctors surgery with pharmacy. It also has a 
private nursery and private secondary school together with 
public primary school facilities. There are two village pubs, a 
village club, and two restaurants within Escrick. 

The Village Hall is well-equipped and is well-used by local 
groups and organisations. Escrick and Deighton Club was 
established in 1908, originally known as Escrick Institute. 

Tennis courts and playing fields within the village provide 
opportunities for sports and recreation. 

Escrick Parish is home to a variety of businesses including 
agricultural and rural enterprises, clay extraction, light industrial 
and workshop based industries at Escrick Business park - sited 
on the former brickworks, leisure and holiday parks, and smaller 
retail businesses.

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

1.4.1

1.4.2

1.4.3

1.4.4

1.4.5

1.4.6

12

P
age 68



Referendum version

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

No qualifications Level 4 or higher

1.4    ESCRICK TODAY

2011 census data provides some insights into the demographics 
and makeup of the Parish. Although 8 years old - it is the most 
comprehensive and accurate data available at the Parish level.

There are a number temporary residents in our community. Queen 
Margaret’s School boarders number around 200 pupils and 
Hollicars lodges with around 300 people. 

Of the 1,078 residents in 2011, 375 were aged 19 or under. The next 
largest age group in the village was over 60s with 277. There were 
219 residents aged 45-59. By a fraction the smallest age group was 
20-44 with 207 residents.

Car ownership in the Parish is higher than the average for both 
Selby and York this supports existing data that the working 
poplation commutes to work. Only 9.7% of households in Escrick 
did not have access to a car or van, compared to 26.1% in York and 
14.9% in Selby. Escrick also has a higher proportion of people with 
access to more than one car or van with 59.1%, than the average for 
Selby 45.4% and York 27.2%. 

77.6% of residents in Escrick were owner occupiers with 19.2% 
living in private rented accommodation. 1.9% of residents lived in 
social rented accommodation with the remaining residents living 
rent free 1.4%.

Escrick had a lower proportion of residents with no qualifications 
with 12.4%,  when compared to the average for Selby, 21.2%, and 
York, 18%. There was also a greater proportion of residents in 
Escrick with qualifications of level 4 or higher, 43.1%, than in Selby, 
26.1% or York, 32.4%. 

1.4.7

1.4.8

1.4.9

1.4.10

1.4.11

0 to 19 20 to 44 45 to 59 60 +

Age of residents in 2011

34.8%

19.2%

20.3%

25.7%

Qualifications

Escrick Selby York

0-19 60+ 45-59 20-44

1.4.12

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

13 13

P
age 69



Referendum version

1.5 ENGAGEMENT
EN

G
AG

EM
EN

T

INTRODUCTION

In 2018 initial engagement exercises were undertaken to gain a critical 
understanding of the key local issues and aspirations. In total there 
109 responses were received to the Neighbourhood Plan survey 
which represents around 25% of the 400 surveys that were circulated. 
Comparison of respondent’s demographics demonstrated that the 
surveys received equate to a fairly representative cross-section of the 
community in line with census data for the Parish. 

OVERVIEW 

• 93% of respondents were residents, with the remainder being 
associated with local businesses. 

• The highest response relating to resident’s economic activity was 
retired with 44%. 

• Of the 40% of respondents that work full-time, 63% commute to 
work outside of the Parish, with 18% working in the parish. 10% of 
respondents regularly work from home, and 8% occasionally work 
from home.

• 52% of households that responded include residents aged over 
60. The second most common age group in households is 41-59 
with 37.7%. Young people aged up to 21 are present in 36.4% of 
households. Of respondents, young adults aged 22-40 represent the 
smallest age group in the parish at 19.5%.

KEY ISSUES

Initial engagement identified several key issues for the plan to address 
and helped establish local priorities relating to how Escrick develops in the 
future:

WHAT ISSUES SHOULD THE PLAN ADDRESS? 
(98 RESPONDENTS)

1. Transport        (95) 
2. Conservation & environment     (92)
3. Community facilities       (88)
4. Green & open spaces      (88)
5. Flood risk        (87)
6. Housing        (86) 
7. Local business       (83) 
8. New building design      (82)  
 
WHAT DO YOU MOST VALUE ABOUT ESCRICK?
(102 RESPONDENTS) 

1. Location, proximity to Leeds, York & Selby    (45)
2. Facilities & amenities including doctors & school   (42) 
3. Community, people, friendly     (30)
4. Countryside, rural nature & green spaces    (25)
5. Quiet & peaceful       (20)
6. Leisure&recreation opportunities     (18)

no. of responses

14

P
age 70



Referendum version

1.5 ENGAGEMENT

WHAT DO YOU LIKE THE LEAST ABOUT ESCRICK? 
(102 RESPONSES)

1. A19 (traffic, speeding, junctions & crossing)   (62)
2. Lack of shops, post office, cafe    (23)
3. Smell from abattoir      (8)
4. Skipwith Road traffic issues     (8)
5. Poor street lighting      (6)
6. Unkempt parts of village     (6)
    (hedges, trees, verges, footpaths)
7. Carr lane - school pick up     (5)
8. Location of bus stop     (4)
9. Lack of affordable housing     (3)
10. Declining community spirit     (3)
11. Not diverse range of ages in village   (3)
12. Poor cycle path connectivity to wider network  (3)

WHAT TYPE OF NEW HOMES ARE NEEDED?
(93 RESPONSES)

1. Medium sized family houses (3-4 bedrooms)  (62)
2. Smaller homes (1-2 bedrooms)    (50) 
3. Homes suitable for older people    (44)
4. Large executive houses      (23) 

HOW SHOULD NEW DEVELOPMENT BE ACCOMMODATED? 
(104 RESPONSES)

1. Village extension      (62)
2. Infill development      (41)

IMPORTANT DESIGN FEATURES FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT
(74 RESPONSES)

1. In keeping with existing stock   (28)
2. Green spaces and green infrastructure  (19)
3. Local materials     (11)
4. Sustainable & energy efficient   (8)
5. Garages, parking     (6)
6. Mix of housing styles    (6)

FACTORS THAT CONTRIBUTE TO THE CHARACTER OF ESCRICK
(89 RESPONSES)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Green spaces Rural character /
environment

Conservation Area Building design

Very Important important Quite Important Not Important

Green spaces Rural character 
/ environment

Conservation 
area

Building 
design

Very important Important

Quite important Not important

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N

15 15

P
age 71



Referendum version
EN

G
AG

EM
EN

T
1.5 ENGAGEMENT

KEY ISSUES 

WHAT TYPES OF NEW BUSINESS ARE APPROPRIATE FOR 
ESCRICK? (75 RESPONSES)

1. Local shop / post office     (24)
2. Food, eateries, cafe     (17)
3. Extension of business centre    (6)
4. Small tech, professional business   (5)
5. Rural / agricultural business    (5)
6. Leisure and recreation     (5)
7. Small workshops , light industry    (3)

WHAT TYPES OF NEW BUSINESS ARE NOT SUITABLE FOR 
ESCRICK? (64 RESPONSES)

1. Manufacturing, heavy industry, warehousing  (28)
2. Anything with HGVs     (26)
3. Industry that creates noise, pollution or waste  (21)
4. All types of business     (6)
5. Entertainment / leisure     (3)
6. Large companies / chains    (2)
7. Abattoir       (1)
8. Betting shops      (1)
9. Supermarket      (1)

HOW DO YOU RATE LOCAL FACILITIES AND SERVICES? 
(90 RESPONSES)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sport &
leisure

Green &
open

spaces

Footpaths
&

cyclepaths

Public
transport

Meeting
rooms

Facilities
for senior
citizens

Facilities
for

families

Facilities
for young

people

Excellent Good Average Poor

Excellent Good Average Poor

Sport & leisure 

G
reen & 

open spaces

Footpaths & 
cyclepaths

Public
transport

M
eeting 

room
s

Facilities for 
senior citizens

Facilities for
 fam

ilies 

Facilities for 
young people

16

P
age 72



Referendum version

1.6  VISION

Escrick Parish will retain and further develop the characteristics that make 
it a desirable place to live and work. Specifically this includes:

•  A well maintained, vibrant Parish, where people take pride in  
 their community
•  Retaining the rural character, access to open spaces and   
 community for various ages and demographics
•  Retain good transport links to the wider area
•  Improve cycle connectivity within the Parish and to the wider  

 cycle network
•  Mitigating the impact of through traffic on the community
•  Supporting local businesses that provide local employment   
 amenity to residents
•  Support appropriate scale growth that complements the   
 existing character, and supports the sustainability of Parish   
 services
•  Maintain and enhance local services and amenities to   
 support a strong sense of community amongst all    
 age groups and demographics
•  Promote a community where families can afford to live and   
 want to stay
•  A community that is safe, and feels safe, to its residents
•  A community that adapts to a changing world, whilst   
 respecting its rural agricultural Estate heritage.

VI
SI

O
N

17 17

P
age 73



Referendum version
O

BJ
EC

TI
VE

S
1.7  OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVE 1:  
SUPPORT, ENHANCE AND ADD NEW COMMUNITY FACILITIES

• To ensure our primary school continues to flourish and is  
 able to provide outstanding facilities
•  To ensure there are outstanding pre-school facilities
 serving the Parish
• To support the Village Hall and Escrick and Deighton   
 Club to enable them to host outreach cultural,    
 educational activities and other services for the    
 community
• To support other existing community facilities, community  
 interest groups, and encourage new ones for older and  
 younger residents

OBJECTIVE 2:  
SUPPORT SUSTAINABLE LEVELS OF NEW HOMES THAT 
PROVIDE FOR THE NEEDS IN THE COMMUNITY AND SUPPORT 
KEY FACILITIES AND SERVICES

• To enable sustainable growth of the community through  
 appropriate levels of new home construction in    
 appropriate scale developments that meet the needs of  
 existing and future residents
• To ensure that any new housing does not have an adverse  
 effect on infrastructure, including sewerage, roads, and  
 other utilities

OBJECTIVE 3:  
CONSERVE AND ENHANCE OUR ENVIRONMENT, LANDSCAPE, 
HERITAGE ASSETS AND BIODIVERSITY

• To maintain and enhance countryside character and   
 heritage protection across the parish
• To maintain, enhance and publicise the history of and   
 heritage assets within the Parish
• To enhance the protection afforded to non-designated   
 features in the landscape which are valued by the   
 community

OBJECTIVE 4:  
PROMOTE SMALL BUSINESS GROWTH AND SUPPORT EXISTING 
BUSINESSES IN THE PARISH

• To support new opportunities for homeworking where   
 possible
• To support farming where this is sustainable
• To support new services in the village
• To avoid new large scale development, high environmental  
 impact industry

What we need to do to deliver the vision

Given community feedback and engagement, and in order to realise our Vision for 2035, we have identified six objectives, which will guide our 
work in the years ahead.  These objectives will provide the context for the Neighbourhood Plan policies described later in this document and 
may also inform a variety of projects delivered locally.  They are not listed in any order of priority.

18

P
age 74



Referendum version

O
BJ

EC
TI

VE
S

OBJECTIVE 5:  
CONSERVE AND PROTECT OUR HIGH QUALITY BUILT 
ENVIRONMENT

• To maintain and enhance our village green spaces
•  To avoid inappropriate infill and backland development,  

 maintaining the open aspect of the Parish
• To protect the historic environment of the conservation  
 area
• To reflect traditional heritage design in new housing   
 and to embrace ‘green’ concepts whilst celebrating our  
 rural heritage 

What We Need To Do To Deliver The Vision Continued 

1.7  OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVE 6:  
MANAGE THE IMPACT OF TRAFFIC FLOWS ON THE A19 AND 
SKIPWITH ROAD

• Develop a safe crossing facility for pedestrians and   
 cyclists crossing the A19
• To pursue and enhance measures to control speeds and   
 traffic noise in and out of the village
• To enhance safety for traffic accessing the A19 from side  
 roads
• To review and monitor the safety of access and exits to  
 the business parks on the A19
• To maintain strong links with other agencies involved   
 in the management of the transport infrastructure   
 through the parish

19 19

P
age 75



Referendum version

INTRODUCTION

2.0.1 Escrick residents highly value their existing facilities and services 
which contribute greatly to the day-to-day life of parishioners and provides 
opportunities for leisure and recreation for both residents and visitors alike. 

2.0.2 Recreational options along with social facilities are numerous and 
play an important role in village life in supporting the mental health and 
physical wellbeing of our community. Escrick Village Hall and the Escrick 
& Deighton Club (and its surrounding green space) host and support a 
variety of community groups and activities covering all ages and interests. 
Outdoor open spaces such as the Village Green, Recreation ground and 
playground, and areas such as Gashouse Plantation and the various public 
and permissive footpaths also add greatly to the life of villagers.

2.0.3 This policy section highlights facilities that are important to the 
community. Some facilities such as health and education are already 
protected by North Yorkshire County Council and are therefore not included 
here.

2.0.4 The information listed on pages 22 and 23 shows the location of a 
selection of the village amenities available to the community. 

2.0.5 Escrick is connected with regard to Public Transport to the major 
centres of York and Selby. Here national rail and coach services provide 
excellent onward transport conections. Local buses depart south on the A19 
to Escrick Business Park / Park Court and Selby, and north to The Designer 
Outlet and York. The frequency of service is every fifteen minutes at peak 
times or typically one hour intervals at times of lower use. 

2.0
COMMUNITY
FACILITIES

20

P
age 76



Referendum version

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

& 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES

AIMS & OBJECTIVES

2.1.1 The aims and objectives of this policy section are to:

•  Retain and enhance existing facilities
•  Support the development of new community facilities,    

 especially those aimed at younger people and senior citizens
•  Protect, and where possible, enhance green and open spaces

INITIAL ENGAGEMENT 
2.1.2 Engagement responses indicated that residents rated facilities and 
services as their second favourite thing about Escrick and a large number of 
respondents (88%) felt the Plan should contain policies around community 
facilities.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
2.1.3 Areas with an adopted Neighbourhood Plan receive 25% of CIL 
funds generated in their areas. Escrick Parish Council will utilise any CIL 
funds received towards the following: Crossing/highway/ road safety 
improvements, community shop/retail services, and sports / leisure provision 
or any other emerging local project. 

21 21

P
age 77



Referendum version

CF1 - COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

Existing community facilities and services, as identified below, will be 
protected, for continued community use:

a) Escrick Village Hall
b) Escrick & Deighton Club & adjacent green space
c) Tennis courts 
d) Cricket pitch & club house
e) Queen Margaret’s School Swimming pool & sports facilities 
f) Black Bull Public House
g) Parsonage Hotel, Cloisters Spa and Health Club 
h) Fat Abbot Public house 
i) St Helen’s Church 
j) Allotments (behind St Helen’s church)

The Development of additional community facilities, especially where there 
is no current provision, and in particular those aimed at young people and 
senior citizens, are encouraged within and adjoining the village (or within 
reasonably close proximity of it), including sports pitches and facilities, 
allotments and/or green spaces for recreational use. 

Proposals that seek to remove community facilities will be opposed except 
where alternative provision is provided to an equivalent or superior standard 
in an appropriate and equally convenient location within reasonably close 
proximity to the existing community.

The loss of a commercially operated facility or service will not be supported 
unless it can be shown to be no longer economically viable for its current 
use and has been marketed at an independently agreed price by a property 
professional for at least a year as a community use or other suitable 
employment or service trade uses and it is verified that no interest in 
acquisition has been expressed. 

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES

2.2.1 It is critical to the sustainability of the village 
community to retain, and where possible, enhance community 
facilities in Escrick. These identified facilities play an important 
role in the day-to-day lives of residents and visitors. The 
Community ‘facilities’ outlined include those that may be 
commercial services, but offer important access to additional 
meeting places and recreation services for residents of the 
parish. 

2.2.2 There are many Bridleways and Permissive rights of 
way that offer excellent walks for all ages, plus adjacent to 
the Parish is the Sustrans Cycle track Network, part of the 
Trans Pennine Trail, that provides a safe vehicle free cycling 
/ pedestrian route between York and Selby for all levels of 
ability. 

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

& 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S

22

P
age 78



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion
ES

CR
IC

K 
CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1
GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

a

b

c

e

d

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES

f

h

g

e

e

e

i

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

& 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S

j

23 23

P
age 79



Referendum version
C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y 
& 

FA
C

IL
IT

IE
S

CF2 - LOCAL GREEN SPACES

The following sites as identified on the map, are to be designated 
Local Green Spaces, and will be given protection from future 
development consistent with the Green Belt policy in section 13 of the 
NPPF.  Development will not be permitted other than in very special 
circumstances. Enhancement of these sites, including improved 
amenity, access, or biodiversity enhancements will be given due 
consideration, provided the openness of the Green Belt is preserved. 

A) Village green
B) Recreation ground and play area
C) Gashouse plantation
D) Woodland buffer & QM pond
E) St Helens Church precinct & associated Allotments
F) Green space alongside Bridge Dike

2.3.1 These green spaces contribute greatly to local amenity, 
recreation, wildlife and biodiversity, and complement the setting of 
historical buildings. These spaces have been selected based on 
their importance to the community and contribution they make to the 
character and distinctiveness of the village adding significant quality to 
the day-to-day lives of residents. 

2.3.2 Paragraph 102 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
states Local Green Space designation should only be used where the 
green space is:
a)  in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;
b)  demonstrably special to a local community and holds a   
 particular local significance, for example because of its   
 beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including   
 as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and
c)  local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES

24

P
age 80



Referendum version

COMMUNITY & FACILITIES

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters
DO

W
ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

C

B

A

Map showing proposed Local Green Spaces 
included in policy CF2. 

A) Village green
B) Recreation ground and play area
C) Gashouse plantation
D) Woodland buffer and QM pond
E) St Helens Church precinct &    
 associated Allotments
F) Dike

See Appendix for Local Green Space 
assessments

D

F

E

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

& 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S

25 25

P
age 81



Referendum version

3.0 
HOUSING
POLICIES 

INTRODUCTION 

3.0.1 Escrick village sits at the northern boundary of the Parish. It is identified 
as a Tier 2 Village, with the allocation of land for new housing of an appropriate 
scale reflecting each settlement’s role. Policy HG1 (Meeting Local housing Needs) 
of the Preferred Options Local Plan sets out the approach to how housing will be 
distributed across the settlement hierarchy. In the case of Escrick it is enveloped by 
Green Belt and as such there is currently no proposal to allocate land for growth. 
However, sites with unimplemented planning permissions at the base date of the 
emerging plan (31 March 2020) will be allocated for the remainder of the plan 
period. 

3.0.2 Therefore, as set out in the table under paragraph 7.11 of the Preferred 
Options Local Plan, it is proposed to allocate one unimplemented planning 
permission for the remainder of the plan period in Escrick village. The current 
approach is to not allocate any further land for development in Escrick village in 
light of the Green Belt constraint, however, there may be opportunities for infill 
development outside of the Green Belt. 

3.0.3 In a wider context it is important that any new housing built in Escrick Parish 
is of a high quality, reflecting the distinctive heritage and rural character of the 
village, taking into account the Conservation Area’s detailed description, along with 
the needs of the local community both now and in the future. 

3.0.4 To this end as part of the NDP, we have developed detailed Design Codes 
for the Parish.  This will provide applicants, designers and developers in the future 
with detailed guidelines and standards that they must meet for any new housing 
developments, whether on small sites or infill plots, as well as for house extensions.  

3.0.5 A summary of the evolution of housing estates of significant size that have 
provided additions to the housing stock of the village over the last fifty years can be 
viewed in the Appendix - ‘Escrick – Major housing developments’.
    

26

P
age 82



Referendum version

H
O

U
SI

N
G

3.1.1 AIMS & OBJECTIVES

• To encourage appropriate levels of development in appropriate locations

• Encourage a greater mix of house types to better meet local needs

• To support new opportunities for and create suitable environments for 
homeworking 

• To retain and create suitable living environments to live, work and play 
within the home, with appropriate space standards both internally and 
externally

• Encourage high quality design throughout the Parish, in keeping with the 
existing stock of housing and buildings and that reflect the character and 
ethos of in Escrick Conservation Area

INITIAL ENGAGEMENT FEEDBACK

3.1.2 To gauge local preference on what form any new development 
should take in Escrick, people were asked whether they would prefer infill 
development or a village extension. Village extension was preferred over 
infill receiving 59% of responses compared to 41% for infill. 

3.1.3 There was a broad acceptance that Escrick can support additional 
housing, possibly beyond the allocated figure. However any development 
should only be an incremental increase in line with, and proportionate 
to, the existing stock of 370 properties. Managing the level of future 
development will help sustain the village, ensuring facilities and services 
remain viable. 

3.1.4 Consideration needs to be given to making sure that the local 
highway network, where it is impacted, can cope with what would be an 
increase in demand. North Yorkshire County Council regard the A19 to be 
at capacity at times on both weekdays and weekends. Concerns about 
A19 traffic are the most commonly raised issues by residents at the initial 
consultation. It is essential that new development is of a scale that does 
not significantly increase issues on the local highway network. 

3.1.5 There is a growing awareness that developers must incorporate 
sustainable, eco friendly and green energy concepts in any new housing 
stock and there is support for retro-fitting of these features for existing 
properties wherever appropriate to meet some of the objectives of the 
Escrick Village Design Code.

27 27

P
age 83



Referendum version
H

O
U

SI
N

G
HOUSING

H1 – HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

There are no new housing land allocations for the Plan period. 

New residential development within the Development Limits should 
be limited to a scale proportionate to Escrick and reflecting its role 
in the settlement hierarchy. 

Outside of the Development Limits, residential development will not 
be supported other than the replacement or extension of existing 
buildings or entry-level exception sites to meet rural affordable 
housing need. 

3.2.1 Selby District Council has identified the need for future housing 
development to be closely aligned to existing and recently approved 
major employment centres and where further economic growth can be 
achieved; for example: built next to areas of major economic growth 
within in the District e.g. to Selby Town, and the major settlements 
on the A1 and M62 growth corridors, Church Fenton and Sherburn 
in Elmet.  We support this pragmatic and eco-sensitive view. We 
support that investment and the economy must be closely linked to 
the location of investment in new housing to assist in meeting climate 
change objectives.

3.2.2 The NDP engagement activity directs us that local people do 
not want large numbers of houses to be built in Escrick Parish. They 
support some small scale growth for local people or those wishing to 
become part of the community providing it is proportionate to Escrick 
and its level of infrastructure. 

3.2.3 The types of housing developments appropriate within Development 
Limits include conversions, replacement dwellings, redevelopment of 
previously developed land and the in-filling of gaps within a continuous 
frontage.  New residential developments, other than entry-level exception 
sites, are not appropriate outside of the built-up area of the village in view of 
the rural character of the Parish. There are no new housing land allocations 
within the Escrick Plan Area in the adopted Selby District Core Strategy Local 
Plan 2013.

3.2.4 As set out in the table under paragraph 7.11 of the Preferred 
Options Local Plan, it is proposed to allocate one unimplemented planning 
permission for the remainder of the plan period in Escrick. The current 
approach is to not allocate any further land for development in Escrick in 
light of the Green Belt constraint.

28

P
age 84



Referendum version

HOUSING

H2 - SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & 
CONSTRUCTION

From initial concept any new development should aim to meet a 
high level of sustainable design and construction and be optimised 
for energy efficiency, targeting zero carbon emissions. This 
includes the provision of:

• High quality, thermally efficient building materials that 
maximise energy efficiency. 

• Energy generation from solar panels, where appropriate, should 
be included.

• Home heating generation from renewable sources, this is 
especially relevant to Escrick given there is no natural gas 
supply pipeline to the village.

• Design and position of renewable technologies should be 
appropriate to its setting, in proportion to the property and 
its neighbours, and result in no undue adverse effects on 
the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. Where 
necessary, applications should be accompanied by a visual 
impact assessment such as in sensitive locations such as near 
listed buildings or within the Escrick Conservation Area.

• Where appropriate, developments should include sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) and other flood mitigating and grey 
water solutions.

3.3.1 The Plan encourages and supports proposals for new housing to 
be designed and built to high levels of energy efficiency and sustainable 
construction. Renewable energy provisions, including sloar panels are 
encouraged providing visual impact assessments are undertaken to 
demonstrate there will be no negative impact of the visual amenity of its 
setting. To reduce any impact on the street scene or frontage of properties it 
is encouraged that infrastructure such as heat pumps are located to the side 
or rear of properties. 

H
O

U
SI

N
G

29 29

P
age 85



Referendum version
H

O
U

SI
N

G
HOUSING

H3 - HOUSING MIX

Proposals for major new housing developments of 
10 or more dwellings or 0.5 hectares or more will be 
expected to provide a mix of dwelling types, sizes 
and tenures based on the latest evidence of local 
needs. 

3.4.1 Engagement results indicated local preference 
was to secure housing that meets the needs of the 
whole community. This includes smaller properties 
for first time buyers or those wishing to downsize 
(1-2 bedrooms), medium-sized family housing (3-4 
bedrooms) and housing to support the needs of 
older people (single level housing and/or accessible 
housing).

H4 - HOMEWORKING

New housing developments will be encouraged to provide adequate internal space for 
members of a household to study or work from home.

Reasonable levels of private outside amenity space should also be provided / retained to 
support mental health and wellbeing.  Proposals should adhere to the space standards 
set out in the Escrick Design Code.

3.5.1 The long-term impact on businesses and their employees of the Covid-19 pandemic 
in the UK still remains to be seen.  What can be predicted with some certainty is that the 
pattern of work is likely to change, with the role of a daily commute to the office diminishing 
and a consequent rise in homeworking. 

3.5.2 The Neighbourhood Plan is keen to promote this type of economic activity through 
thoughtful building design and dedicated space in new housing can help to encourage and 
support this. The experience of lockdown during Covid-19 has made it clear that many homes 
are not designed to accommodate the increasing trend of desk based homeworking. The 
provision of this feature in new developments will be desirable to employers and employees 
alike, hence all new homes should provide adequate space to facilitate this type of working 
practice for all members of a household in the future.  Reasonable levels of private outside 
amenity space also need to be provided / retained to provide for mental health wellbeing.

3.5.3 The inclusion of homeworking facilities does not permit the use of a property for 
commercial purposes and any home working which would lead to a significant impact on the 
amenity of the area could require additional planning permission to change the use of the 
building. 

3.5.4 Adequate internal space is defined as sufficient space to include a desk, chair, and 
storage space. Generally 4sqm is sufficient. 

30

P
age 86



Referendum version

H5 - SITING, SCALE & DENSITY OF RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Proposals for residential development within the defined Development 
Limits should:

• Respect existing settlement size, along with key elements of the 
village, including its local distinctiveness, character and form.

• Include, appropriate to development size, additional road safety 
measures on the A19/Skipwith Road junction and/or traffic calming 
measures through Escrick itself.

• Should be well sited in terms of connection to the highway network 
to maximise safety and minimise through traffic in the village on the 
A19 and Skipwith Road.

• Promote and facilitate safe and convenient pedestrian and cycle 
access and movement in the village, including to public transport 
connections and connections with the wider network of footpaths, 
cycle tracks and bridleways locally.

• Integrate well with the landscape, designed to a density 
appropriate to its rural setting, including in relation to neighbouring 
developments. All mature garden planting should be retained where 
possible as part of any plan for development of land. 

3.6.1 This policy seeks to ensure that proposals for any new residential 
development is well sited both in terms of it’s connectivity to, and impact 
on, the highway network and to the pedestrian and cycle infrastructure 
locally.  

3.6.2 Proposals are encouraged to be well integrated with the 
landscape, and be appropriate in terms of scale and density with the 
rural environment. Mature trees and hedges make up much of the 
character of the village as well as providing habitats for local wildlife. 

HOUSING

H
O

U
SI

N
G

31 31

P
age 87



Referendum version
H

O
U

SI
N

G
HOUSING

H6 - DESIGN

Development proposals should be in accordance with the 
principles and parameters set out in the Escrick Design Code 
to ensure that all development respects and reinforces the 
character and distinctive qualities of the Parish. All planning 
applications will be expected to reference the design code to 
show how it has been applied. 

3.71 Escrick has a rich history and heritage which is present in 
the built environment throughout the village. The Conservation 
Area covers a large part of the village itself and therefore 
requires new development to respect and reinforce the 
defining characteristics of the village. Character assessments 
and design guidance is included in the Escrick Design Code 
to assist applicants in the design of new developments and/or 
modifications to existing properties. 

3.7.2 The Escrick Design Codes provides guidance for all 
sizes of development: large size developments, smaller discrete 
developments, infill developments and existing property 
extensions.  Applicants proposing to develop property in the 
Parish should always refer to the Escrick Design Code before 
making any planning application and reference how it has been 
applied in any submission.

H7 - INFILL, BACKLAND & REPLACEMENT 
DWELLINGS

Within the Development Limits proposals for infill housing, replacement 
dwellings or backland development will be supported provided they add 
to the coherence and integrity of the village and adhere to the principles 
set out in the Escrick Design Code. Wherever possible, existing trees 
should be retained. 

3.8.1 Escrick receives many applications for infill, replacement and 
backland developments. These types of development can erode the 
qualities and character of the village if poorly designed and can negatively 
impact residential and public amenity space. Design Guidance has been 
provided in the Design Code which demonstrates the key principles for 
these types of schemes and should be referred to in any application. 

32

P
age 88



Referendum version

H
O

U
SI

N
G

33 33

P
age 89



Referendum version

4.0
ECONOMIC   
DEVELOPMENT

INTRODUCTION 

4.0.1 Escrick is home to a variety of employment categories such as 
traditional agriculture, educational, rural enterprises, professional services, 
hospitality/services, and leisure. 

4.0.2 Over the years,  local office space and light industrial business 
units have been created at Escrick Business Park / The Menagerie / Park 
Court and Whinchat Hall. With changing social and economic trends these 
locations are well placed to continue to fulfil the future needs of the local 
business community. A map showing the locations within the Parish of these 
sites ‘Escrick Business centres map’ can be found in the Appendix to this 
document. In the aftermath of the Covid 19 pandemic most observers accept 
that there is no absolute need to commute on a daily basis to a remote 
fixed place of work for many people of employment age. Many people will 
continue to work from home, albeit potentially on a part time basis, with local 
office and serviced meeting spaces likely to become increasingly in demand. 

4.0.3 This being the case, we see it as key that utility communication 
technology providers ensure that there is superfast Broadband and Mobile 
and reliable phone connectivity to the latest standards (including 5G) for all 
inhabitants of the Parish in the very near future. 

4.0.4 The contribution that agriculture makes in our rural community must 
not overlooked.  It continues to be significant - and has been a key part of 
our local community for generations. We estimate that agriculture and related 
businesses within the Parish, have revenues in excess of £1million and that 
their contribution to the wider food chain and economy is significant.  We 
wish to encourage and support all local agriculture and related business 
within the Parish both now and into the future.

34

P
age 90



Referendum version

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

EC
O

N
O

M
IC

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

INITIAL ENGAGEMENT

4.1.2 The data recorded and detailed below from our NDP Parish survey 
is from a time prior to the Covid 19 pandemic.  Clearly the number of people 
commuting to a fixed place of work will have decreased since the time of the 
survey, just as the number working from home will have increased.
 
• The majority (63.3%) of full-time workers commute outside of the Parish 

for work 

• A small number (18%) of respondents work within the Parish

• A small number (10%) of respondents regularly work from home

• A very small number (8%) occasionally work from home

4.1.3 The village already has a number of services however there was 
general support for adding small-scale businesses, especially amenities, that 
would enhance the day-to-day life of residents.

4.1.4 In appropriate locations respondents also felt expansion of office 
based industries, rural enterprise and small scale light industry was 
acceptable, where suitable parking and other necessary facilities could be 
provided, and where there would be no adverse environmental / amenity 
impact to surrounding uses, including residential.

4.1.5 Survey feedback strongly indicated that any economic activity that 
leads to a significant increase in vehicular traffic, HGVs, pollution, noise or 
waste within the Parish is not acceptable as this would have an adverse 
impact on the quality of life in the Parish as a whole, and in particular the 
residential amenity of the village and other smaller settlements.

4.1.1 AIMS & OBJECTIVES

• Continue to support suitable small scale business development at 
Escrick Business Park, The Menagerie, Escrick Grange, Park Court 
and Whinchat Hall and / or other suitable sites as they arise. 

• Support new services and facilities in appropriate locations in the 
village, for example a shop including  Post Office facilities

• Avoid new large scale, high environmental impact industry

• Support farming and farm diversification where sustainable and of low 
environmental impact

35 35

P
age 91



Referendum version
EC

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

ED1- SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Proposals for new small-scale spaces of economic activity based 
around existing business hubs will be supported provided they do 
not result in harm to the rural character or amenity of the area. 

Applications for new development should demonstrate how the 
proposal supports and facilitates sustainable travel. 

The development of co-working, flexible or managed business 
workspace within the Parish, of appropriate scale, design and use 
is encouraged and will be supported.

4.2.1 The Parish already has a number of areas perfectly suited for 
small business development as already stated.  Initial engagement 
responses indicated a willingness to support and promote Escrick 
for small-scale business development in appropriate Use Classes, 
recognising the positive impact businesses can have on the 
sustainability of the Parish.  This provision of working space already 
exists at Escrick Business Park, The Menagerie, Park Court and 
Whinchat Hall. Subject to suitable design and necessary supporting 
infrastructure (such as parking, services, drainage, broadband 
/ mobile services etc), small scale expansion of these existing 
business centres would be supported. 

4.2.2  Design should be compatible with the Design Code that 
forms part of this NDP.  In addition, with planning approval agreed, 
these facilities may expand further. Small scale expansion of facilities 

at these and other similar locations, whether by additional conversion of 
redundant agricultural buildings or development of new small units will be 
supported, so long as the proposals are compatible with the Design Code 
that forms part of this NDP.

4.2.3 The NDP vision and policy mirrors the survey feedback in that it is 
felt it would be inappropriate and detrimental to the Conservation Area and 
character of the village as a whole to support proposals that would lead to 
increased HGVs, waste, pollution and noise in Escrick Parish.

36

P
age 92



Referendum version

ED3 - REUSE OF REDUNDANT BUILDINGS

Proposals for the reuse of redundant or under-used buildings for 
economic, residential or community uses will be supported, providing 
the proposal:

• Is sensitively designed and respects the character of the building 
and its setting, and;

• Can demonstrate the proposal will not lead to a significant increase 
in levels of local road traffic including additional vehicular traffic 
and HGV movement.

4.4.1 Reusing existing buildings is a more sustainable approach 
to economic development than building new premises. Appropriate 
enhancing of local buildings can also contribute to the conservation of the 
Parish and its built environment. 

4.4.2 This policy seeks to strike a balance between supporting and 
encouraging economic development as stated, but also retaining 
and where possible enhancing, the local built environment. Where a 
redundant building is brought back into productive use, the renovation 
and/or conservation of that location should be done sensitively and seek 
to retain original features where possible. An example of this approach is 
The Menagerie development where existing agricultural buildings have 
been given a new lease of life, providing employment opportunities with 
minimal impact to the local environment.

ED2 - VILLAGE AMENITIES

Development proposals that support the day-to-day needs of 
residents including retail and service outlets will be supported. 

These should be located in a suitable central location in the 
village, to the east of the A19 where the majority of parishioners 
reside. 

4.3.1 Respondents to initial engagement suggested the desire 
for additional village amenities that would support their day-to-day 
needs. At present there are only limited services and amenities in 
the village requiring residents and businesses to travel outside the 
Parish. 

4.3.2 The vast majority of residents live to the east of the A19 so it 
is suggested any proposals for village amenities be located on this 
side of the village to reduce the need to cross the A19, however they 
should be situated at appropriate locations.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

EC
O

N
O

M
IC

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

37 37

P
age 93



Referendum version
EC

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

ED5 - DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY

All new developments should be designed to connect to high quality 
communications infrastructure. Support will  be given for proposals 
that help to provide improved or additional connectivity and 
associated infrastructure for the Parish as a whole.

4.6.1 The policy aim is to facilitate a local way of working that reduces 
the need to make unnecessary journeys to a remote business base, 
with all the environmental benefits that brings. This social change, 
that accelerated during the Covid -19 pandemic, will encourage future 
growth in local facilities which in turn will lead to a more vibrant, self 
sustainable community.

ED4 - AGRICULTURE

Support will be given to proposals for diversification of 
agricultural or other land-based rural businesses providing the 
proposal:

• Supports an existing agricultural or rural business

•  Does not have a significant impact on production or   
 lead to the loss of best and most versatile agricultural  
 land and does not harm the character of the area

•  Does not result in significant increase in traffic    
 movements, particularly HGVs

4.5.1 This policy seeks to support any necessary diversification of 
rural and agricultural enterprise whilst also supporting the retention 
of the best and most versatile agricultural land. This to ensure it can 
remain in productive use, and contribute to future food supplies 
whilst also recognising the future of the Agricultural Industry is 
changing and becoming increasingly uncertain.

4.5.2 Farm diversification for certain uses can be undertaken 
under permitted development rights. (Class R (agricultural buildings 
to a flexible commercial use), Part 3, Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015, as amended.)

38

P
age 94



Referendum version

EC
O

N
O

M
IC

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

39 39

P
age 95



Referendum version
EC

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

ED6 - BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Proposals for further development on or adjacent to existing 
business locations will be supported provided that the following 
criteria are met:

• The proposal is for small-scale business units

• Adequate parking arrangements are incorporated.

• Improvements are to be made to the A19 junction where relevant 
and required  

• There is no significant environmental impact, including noise, on 
nearby uses

4.7.1 The purpose built Escrick Business Park on the A19 is a major 
hub for businesses in the Parish. This development is complemented 
nearby by Park Court along with The Menagerie and Whinchat Hall 
which host a number of businesses in buildings that have been 
converted from their original design purpose and which are presently 
fully occupied.  These four locations host the largest number of small 
and medium sized enterprises in the locality, and along with farms and 
Escick Park Estate represent the major business generating enterprises 
in the Parish. As businesses adapt to and recover from the effects of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, demand for office space and industrial units is 
strong in the Parish. 

4.7.2 Although the present business occupation levels of at Escrick 
Business Park leaves some opportunity for a variety of business ventures 
to settle and grow here in our Parish, further capacity may be required. 
Over time, according to demand, small scale expansion in these locations 
or in other suitable similar premises and in suitable locations will be 
encouraged.

4.7.3 Directly behind Escrick Business Park are two larger industrial 
scale  operations for clay extraction and landfill that have in recent 
times seen increasing amounts of HGV movements each week.  These 
operations along with Escrick Business Park share the same entrance 
and exit in and out of the site onto the A19. There are major concerns at 
the amount of traffic these uses generate and recent planning approvals 
for long term extraction and filling operations in these locations will 
exacerbate this further.  Any future business expansion in this area must 
be for uses that do not generate large amounts of HGV traffic but would 
be suitable for small business use.  If a further phase of development 
of business is to be developed in this location, improvements to the 
intersection with the A19 must be provided as a condition of approval.  

40

P
age 96



Referendum version

EC
O

N
O

M
IC

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

41 41

P
age 97



Referendum version

5.0
MOVEMENT & 
TRANSPORT

INTRODUCTION

5.0.1 Located equidistant between the City of York and Selby town, Escrick 
is situated next to the A19, one of the key road networks linking northern 
towns and cities and their rural hinterland. Whilst providing both private 
and public transport links for the residents of Escrick, increased volumes 
of traffic and the roads close proximity to the village, combined with the 
lack of any safe pedestrian crossing point across it, have been cited as key 
issues by residents. Located to the west of the village, the A19 dissects key 
amenities located in the parish from the main residential area, undoubtedly 
having a negative effect on access, use and local amenity. Any proposal that 
would increase traffic volumes along the A19 would not be supported unless 
outwieghed by the local benefits.  

5.0.2 Limited to focus on land-use planning issues, some areas linked to 
transport and movement reside outside of the scope of this Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. However, the opportunity to include statements, actions 
and projects that reflect the local needs and desires of the community are 
included. Key Transport & Movement issues that need to be examined for 
potential improvement, that are bought to the attention of the Parish Council, 
will be assessed in conjunction with NYCC, SDC and other key stakeholders.

42

P
age 98



Referendum version

 M
O

VE
M

EN
T 

& 
TR

AN
SP

O
RT

MOVEMENT & TRANSPORT

5.1.2 INITIAL ENGAGEMENT 

Citing the villages location in proximity to the City of York, Selby and the 
City of Leeds, as one of the things most liked about living in Escrick, 61% of 
residents caveated this by stating issues surrounding the A19 - including 
volume of traffic and access onto the A19 - was one of the things they liked 
least about the village with many residents indicating this as a priority area for 
improvement.

5.1.1 AIMS & OBJECTIVES

• To secure improvements to the A19 enabling both safer pedestrian and 
cycle crossing whilst also providing better connectivity to amenities and 
onward cycle, pedestrian and public transport routes, especially for the 
young and old.

• To investigate and establish what new measures can be implemented to 
improve safety conditions for traffic accessing the A19 primarily from, but 
not limited to, the Skipwith Road junction.

• Ensure appropriate levels of parking and garaging are provided in new 
developments in a safe and timely manner.

• Ensure any new planning proposals do not increase issues around 
problem traffic flow and in particular, but not limited to, amenities such as 
schools and leisure facilities including hotels / Public Houses, restaurants, 
Escrick Business Park, Caravan Parks, clay extraction, sports facilities etc, 
and at / near sensitive junctions.

• Regular reviews regarding vehicular and HGV use of Skipwith Road.

43 43

P
age 99



Referendum version

MOVEMENT & TRANSPORT 

MT1 - TRAFFIC FLOW ALONG A19

Development proposals within the Parish that will result in a 
major increase in the volume of traffic on the A19, will not be 
supported unless evidence is provided by the Applicant and/
or District and County Council that measures to address traffic 
safety and congestion will be part of any proposal made. 

5.2.1 Both the City of York Council and Highways England 
recognise there are issues with congestion on the A19. Repeatedly 
raised as a key issue by residents, the volume and speed of traffic 
on the A19 was regularly cited as their least favourite thing about 
Escrick; in addition to comments about the difficulties accessing and 
crossing the A19 either by car and foot respectively which residents 
have safety concerns over. 

5.2.2 In this instance, major increase is defined as ‘generating 
more than 50 additional daily movements’. 

5.2.3 Escrick Parish Council will liaise with the relevant authorities 
and organisations to assess the viability, deliverability and cost 
efficiencies and dependencies of a project aimed at improving 
accessibility and safety for both residents and commuters on the 
A19. Significant local support exists for the implementation of such a 
project.  

5.2.4 This would include working closely with Highways England, 
North Yorkshire County Council, Selby District Council and other key 
stakeholders.

M
O

VE
M

EN
T 

& 
TR

AN
SP

O
RT

44

P
age 100



Referendum version

MOVEMENT & TRANSPORT 

MT2 - CAR PARKING

Proposals for developments are expected to provide sufficient off-
street parking for vehicles, in line with NYCC parking standards, 
minimising the need for any on street parking needs.

Where garages are being included as part of any development 
proposal, they should be located to the side or rear of the property or 
be integrated.

Developments within the village should respect, support and 
encourage any moves to improve traffic flows and road safety within 
the village. This includes the provision of vehicle turning facilities, 
where required, to provide safe access and egress, and maintain 
safety for other road users and pedestrians.

On-site secure cycle storage and the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points should be provided in all new developments.

5.3.1 To maintain the high quality built environment and street scenes 
of the village, it is important to ensure any new development proposals 
provide adequate off-street parking provision to reduce or limit any 
increase in on-street parking and unsafe parking practices. 
Where garages are provided it is essential they are large enough to 
store vehicles and provide enough space for the homeowner to use 
safely.

5.3.2 New developments should carefully consider access to existing 
roads. Well designed measures such as traffic islands, chicanes, or other 
techniques to encourage improved traffic flow and safety are supported.  
The NDP encourages the installation of both secure cycle storage - as 
part of schemes to promote sustainable transport methods and EV 
charging points within the Parish.

 M
O

VE
M

EN
T 

& 
TR

AN
SP

O
RT

45 45

P
age 101



Referendum version
M

O
VE

M
EN

T 
& 

TR
AN

SP
O

RT
MOVEMENT & TRANSPORT 

MT3 - PEDESTRIAN & CYCLE CONNECTIONS

The creation of new or the enhancement and/or extension of existing 
cycle lanes and footpaths within the Parish is encouraged and will be 
supported.

Proposals for new pedestrian and cycle infrastructure should seek to 
connect with the existing provision and seek to contribute to the wider 
network to aid connectivity and permeability both within the Parish and 
the surrounding area. 

5.4.1 Predominantly a commuter village, with 63% of respondents working 
outside of the Parish, many residents are dependent on personal vehicle 
use. Although this has reduced post Covid-19 and may change again in 
the near future. With many facilities and services within the Parish rated 
as ‘Good’, the NDP is keen to further promote and enhance specific areas, 
especially sustainable and active travel methods including walking and 
cycling.

5.4.2 ‘Improvement to cycle/footpaths’ are amongst the top priorities cited 
by respondents as an issue they would like addressed. Deficiencies in the 
current route networks prevent more residents from utilising the existing 
cycle and footpaths both for recreation and access to local shops. Currently 
the A19 does not have a safe pedestrain crossing or cycle lane for much of 
its length. 

5.4.3 Provision of new connections to existing routes can help encourage 
greater use of these networks, not only to support healthy communities but 
also go some way in helping reduce carbon emissions. 

46

P
age 102



Referendum version

 M
O

VE
M

EN
T 

& 
TR

AN
SP

O
RT

47 47

P
age 103



Referendum version

6.0
NATURAL     
ENVIRONMENT

INTRODUCTION 

6.0.1 Surrounded by the York Green Belt, Escrick Parish is home to a rich 
variety of flora, fauna and wildlife providing a high quality natural environment 
enjoyed by residents and visitors alike. 

6.0.2 Highlighting the quality of this environment, within the Escrick Parish 
Neighbourhood Plan area alone there are five sites designated as “Sites 
of Importance for Nature Conservation” (SINC). These sites consist of four 
woodland areas and one area of water:

•  Gashouse Plantation
•  Common Wood
•  Hollicarrs Wood
•  Sheepwalk Plantation
•  Pond south of school playing fields

6.0.3 Escrick Parish is also home to Heron Wood, a site over 400 years old, 
now designated as ‘Ancient Woodland’. The Parish also contains many other 
woodland environments worthy of note from a conservation perspective, a 
list of which can be found in Appendix section. Both within these woodland 
environments and in the village itself, the Woodland Trust have specifically 
identified a number of ancient trees for conservation.

6.0.4 The NDP supports all conservation of existing trees and planting 
of new trees throughout the Parish. 

48

P
age 104



Referendum version

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

N
AT

U
RA

L 
EN

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T

6.1.1 AIMS & OBJECTIVES 

• To maintain and enhance countryside character and heritage   
 protection across the Parish.

• To enhance the protection afforded to non-designated features   
 in the landscape which are valued by the community.

• Support the extension and enhancement of the green    
 infrastructure network.

• To ensure any new site development has the least impact of   
 the existing natural environment

INITIAL ENGAGEMENT 

6.1.2 Respondents to the NDP questionnaire rated Countryside, Rural, 
Green Spaces as the fourth feature they most liked about Escrick. However, 
when asked about the issues they’d like the NDP to address, Conservation 
& Environment and Green & Open Spaces ranked second and fourth 
respectively with both issues receiving c.90% of respondents’ preference.

49 49

P
age 105



Referendum version
N

AT
U

RA
L 

EN
VI

RO
N

M
EN

T

NE1
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

New development will be expected to: 

• include provision of multi-functional green infrastructure, 
and where possible, connect with the existing provision of 
green infrastructure, including Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation and existing woodlands;

• not to sever existing green infrastructure networks, and must 
avoid areas of high ecological value;

• achieve Biodiversity net gain of at least 10%;

• replace any trees which are proposed to be removed due 
to development at a ratio of at least 1:1. Where new or 
replacement tree planting cannot be achieved within the site, 
a suitable location within the Plan area should be sought. 
Replacement planting should consist of native species and 
be consistent with guidance provided by SDC and/or Natural 
England;

• ensure that the design and management of green 
infrastructure respects and enhances the character and 
distinctiveness of an area with regard to habitats and 
landscape types;

• include space for community food growing such as allotments 
or orchards, where possible.

6.2.1 Green infrastructure is the term used to describe the network of 
natural spaces and corridors within our Parish and beyond. Escrick has a 
strong and varied provision of green infrastructure throughout the Parish 
which contributes not only to the distinctive rural character of the village, but 
also plays an important role in supporting local wildlife and biodiversity. 

6.2.2 Green infrastructure assets in the Parish include open spaces such 
as parks and gardens, allotments, woodlands, fields, hedges, lakes, ponds, 
playing fields, as well as footpaths, cycle-ways or watercourses.
 
6.2.3 Providing areas for recreation, education and habitats for wildlife, 
these assets also deliver environmental benefits such as flood defence, 
surface water management and absorption of air pollution. Were they not 
to exist, life in the Parish would be very different and it is for this reason 
that these natural and semi-natural areas are identified as part of the basic 
‘infrastructure’ that enables us to live as we do.

6.2.4 A primary objective of this policy is to connect and/or reconnect 
areas of green infrastructure to enable wildlife to move more freely. This can 
also contribute to creating a series of interlinked spaces which can then be 
enjoyed by residents and visitors alike for recreational or leisure purposes. 

6.2.5 Proposals are encouraged to be developed in line with ‘Building with 
Nature’ principles. www.buildingwithnature.org.uk 

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

50

P
age 106



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen
Half

pe
nn

y D
ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues
Poli

ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39
24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12
5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15
Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

Local amenity space

Site of Importance for Nature Conservation

Recreational Open Space


Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656

1:22,000

Escrick Parish (Size A3)

Maps showing different types of green infrastructure in Escrick

Ancient woodland

N
AT

U
RA

L 
EN

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T

51 51

P
age 107



Referendum version
N

AT
U

RA
L 

EN
VI

RO
N

M
EN

T
NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

NE2 - GREEN SPACE CONNECTIVITY

Proposals for the creation, enhancement or re-wilding of green 
spaces to provide leisure, recreational, carbon sequestration or 
biodiversity benefits to the local area are encouraged and will be 
supported. 

6.3.1 There is increasingly more awareness around the health and 
environmental benefits of creating and enhancing a wide range of 
habitat types and the positive impact they can have on biodiversity. 
By doing this we can create tomorrow’s ancient woodland, restore 
lost wild-flowers and renew pollinator habitats.

6.3.2 The Parish already has an innovative, nationally recognised, 
habitat creation project established at Three Hagges Woodmeadow 
and run by the Woodmeadow Trust. Escrick Parish Council are keen 
to identify additional, suitable, areas for habitat creation on marginal 
or otherwise appropriate land.

52

P
age 108



Referendum version

N
AT

U
RA

L 
EN

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T

53 53

P
age 109



Referendum version

7.0
BUILT      
ENVIRONMENT   
& HERITAGE

INTRODUCTION

7.0.1 Established as an Estate Village over 350 years ago, and the main settlement 
in the Parish, Escrick is rich in both history and heritage. In the years since, the village 
has undergone a number of transformations yet throughout has maintained many of 
its original charms and features. Much of this transformation has occurred during the 
past 60 years, since when the village has slowly extended with the last significant 
development - Carr Meadows - taking place in the mid-1990’s. 

7.0.2 Maintaining the Parish’s character is paramount as reflected by the majority 
of the village sitting within the Conservation Area. Coupled to this, Escrick currently 
has 18 Listed Buildings or structures located within the village Conservation Area 
boundary.

7.1.1 AIMS & OBJECTIVES 

• Maintain the heritage and history of the Conservation Area and local rural 
environment 

• Ensure any development proposals respect and reinforce the distinctive character 
of Escrick, integrate well with its setting, and adhere to the Escrick Design Code

• That any new development is of a commensurate scale and provides a range of 
housing types to accommodate the required needs of the Parish

• Ensure any development has a strong focus on pedestrian and cycle access, 
movement and connections within the parish and to other settlements

• Promote best practice in terms of street scene layout, setting and design, including 
safety, connectivity and usability

• Ensure any development is built in a sustainable way, provides appropriate 
drainage and flood mitigation and does not add to existing issues

• Ensure extensions and alterations to properties are in keeping with the local 
character 

54

P
age 110



Referendum version

BU
ILT

 E
N

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T 

& 
H

ER
IT

AG
E

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE

INITIAL ENGAGEMENT

7.1.2 When asked about what they considered to be the ‘Important 
design features’ of the village, the number one response received 
to the initial engagement survey stated that any new housing 
developments should be ‘in keeping with existing stock’.

7.1.3 Sitting second in the list of priorities was the need for the village 
to retain all existing green spaces and infrastructure. With an extensive 
public and permissive footpath network surrounding the village, any 
new development must not interfere or affect access to these.    

7.1.4 Recognition of the need for additional housing was also 
amongst the top five issues listed as needing addressing by 
respondents. When asked what type of housing they’d like to see built 
the majority of respondents stated the need for more medium and 
smaller sized dwellings. 

55 55

P
age 111



Referendum version

BEH1
DRAINAGE & FLOOD PREVENTION 

New development should not add to the overall level of flood risk in the Parish.  
Applications should demonstrate how flood mitigation and water management 
will be achieved and should follow the principles below:

• Surface water management measures will be required for development 
proposals to ensure that the risk of flooding both on-site and downstream is 
not increased.

• Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) as an alternative to conventional 
drainage is preferred and will be supported, provided that they can be 
shown to be suitable in the intended location and that such systems will be 
properly maintained.

• Unnecessary culverting and the constriction of watercourses and their 
immediate environs will not be supported. 

• Enhancements should be made to the existing local sewerage system/
or water distribution network and to provide additional capacity where 
required. 

7.2.1 The NPPF sets out the approach to flood risk and the sequential test. SDC 
sequential test Developer Guidance Note October 2019 should also be referred to 
which sets out the steps taken when applying the test. Technical guidance on the 
creation of SuDS can also be found on the SDC website. 

7.2.2 Parts of Escrick, primarily along Bridge Dike, are within flood zone 2, 3a 
and 3b. This is illustrated on the map opposite. 

7.2.3 It is important new development does not increase the likelihood of 
flooding, sewerage overflow or level of surface water. 

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE
BU

ILT
 E

N
VI

RO
N

M
EN

T 
& 

H
ER

IT
AG

E

56

P
age 112



Referendum version

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE

Escrick flooding 
in 1979

Historic flooding 
in Escrick - date 
unknown

Flood zone 1 - Less than 1 in 1000 years floodplain

Flood zone 2 - 1000 year floodplain

Flood zone 3a - 100 year floodplain

Flood zone 3b - functional floodplain

Footpath

Village boundary

Flood mapping data is updated regularly by the Environment 
Agency and the latest flood mapping is available online https://
flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/  which should be used to 
inform planning applications.

BU
ILT

 E
N

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T 

& 
H

ER
IT

AG
E

57 57

P
age 113



Referendum version
BU

ILT
 E

N
VI

RO
N

M
EN

T 
& 

H
ER

IT
AG

E
BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE

BEH2 - RESPECTING TRADITIONAL DESIGN 

Proposals for new developments within the Escrick Conservation 
Area or within it’s setting will be expected to:

• Reflect and reinforce the overall palette of designs and 
character of the village and the wider rural traditional 
agricultural vernacular of the Parish;

• Respect and respond to existing building materials, heights, 
layout, orientation, amenity space, density, scale and massing;

• Ensure boundary treatments are in keeping with the tradition 
of the Parish and primarily involve hedgerows formed by native 
species;

7.3.1 This policy relates primarily to residential development within 
the core of the village settlement itself, both inside and adjacent to the 
Conservation area.  

7.3.2 It is vitally important that any new development within, or 
adjacent to, the Conservation Area reflect and reinforce the best of 
principles of good design, distinctive character and quality of existing 
housing.

7.3.3 Reference should be made to the Escrick Design Code 
for detailed guidance on what such undertakings would involve, 
including; materials, style of housing, sustainability etc...

58

P
age 114



Referendum version

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & HERITAGE

BEH3 - HISTORIC RURAL ENVIRONMENT

Proposals for developments that have an undue adverse effect 
on the historic rural character of the Parish will not be supported.   

Any proposals for development outside of current development 
limits must be of a suitable scale, sensitively designed, 
particularly where it is visible in open landscapes, and should 
utilise appropriate planting and screening to minimise visual 
intrusion. 
 

7.4.1 This policy seeks to discourage development proposals 
that would negatively impact the historic character of the village. 

7.4.2 With much of the current housing located within the 
agricultural area surrounding Escrick having originally been built 
for those working on the land, any new development should be 
sympathetic to the size, scale and style of these existing buildings 
- this also applies to any development of buildings for business use 
purposes. This policy also seeks to ensure the sensitive siting of 
any such development with appropriate levels of space provided. 
To protect the visual rural landscape, plans should also include 
appropriate tree planting or screening as deemed necessary.

BEH4 - STREETS & STREET SCENE

All development proposals should be strongly focussed on the provision 
of safe pedestrian walkways enabling access to all local amenities and 
facilities. Improvements to ensure the provision and implementation of 
these safety measures include, but are not limited to;

• The provision of, and where necessary, improvements to footpaths, 
pavements, paths and street lighting to facilitate safe and convenient 
movement for pedestrians;

• Limiting and reducing unnecessary street signage where it is safe and 
practical to do so; and

• Ensuring that streets, footpaths and pavements are accessible and 
safe for all, including those with mobility issues or users of wheelchairs 
or prams and opportunities to enhance or extend walking and cycling 
routes have been included.

7.5.1 Included to ensure Escrick provides the highest standards of 
pedestrian safety, the condition and provision of pavements within 
developments, new and old, will continue to be monitored by the Parish 
Council. For any new developments, the inclusion of cycle lanes will also be 
promoted with the desire being to connect these to existing infrastructure.

7.5.2 A core part of the ‘look and feel’ of the village, the planting of verges 
at roadsides is encouraged and totally consistent within other areas of the 
Parish. 

BU
ILT

 E
N

VI
RO

N
M

EN
T 

& 
H

ER
IT

AG
E

59 59

P
age 115



Referendum version

8.0
APPENDIX

• 8.1  Policies Maps
• 8.2  Local Green Space assessments 
• 8.3  Map of core settlement movement network
• 8.4  Map of housing character areas
• 8.5  Map of housing development in Escrick village
• 8.6  Map of key businesses
• 8.7  Map of green spaces
• 8.8  Community aspirations

60

P
age 116



Referendum version

AP
PE

N
D

IX

Escrick

Escrick Park

The Carrs

1

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

Pp

LB

Farm

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Parson Wood

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

Moons Plantation

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

Millfie
ld Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Escrick Grange

Crabtree Farm
TCB

Post

Post O
ffice R

ow

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.3m7.9m

9.2m

7.2m

9.0m

9.3m

8.6m

8.9m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.0m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

14.8m

10.5m

10.6m

14.5m

13.4m

12.3m

12.2m

10.4m

12.0m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Outfall

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

Office

Surgery

Sheep Dip

1.22m RH

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Co Const & UA Bdy

Cottage

The Old

Lanrigg

Old Course of Bridge Dike

Church of England

Chelsea

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

Horse Shoe Plantation

16
10

44

29

15

37

18

32

21

43

20

79

14

41

13

39

24

2a

23

28

19

12

25

31

52

35

17

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

MILL HILL

Mansion

Lilac Villa

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LANE

W
OODLA

NDS

ESCRICK PARK

C
hapm

an's

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

C
arr H

ouse

Headmasters

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

ASE

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS M
EADOW

Rudding House

WHELDRAKE LANE

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

23a

39b

The

Track

1
3

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

20

11

House

11

1

Ponds

14

5

Dra
in

12.2m

Pond

Def

5

Tr
ac

k

D
rain

ET
L

Drain

15

1

25

A 
19

2

13

4

7

D
ra

in

9.2m

1

Drain

D
rain

Drain

6

6

2

Tra
ck

Lighting Tower

Bridge Dike

14

1

1

Def

Pond

CW

2

7.3m

2

FB

Old Course of Bridge Dike

Drain

Drain

Pond

3

Drai
n

9

23

3

LB The Carrs

2

1

Ponds

FB

Pond

Tr
ac

k

1

1

CW

Pond

Drain

FB

12

35

23

12

Escrick Park

1

39

Drain

15

4

1

Drain

Track

8

16

Drain

Track

Bridge Dike

Tra
ck

11

Drain

Drain

1

Drain

7

7

1

11

1

Drain

15

3

Track

16

1

20

Bridge Dike

WHELDRAKE LANE

Drai
n

3

4

GP

8.9m

8

1

1

1

Track

2

Drain

12

18

El Sub Sta

Track

Ppg Sta

15

Pond

Drain

Drain

7

18

10

29
1

3

Drain

Pond

Pond

ET
L

GP

1

1
2

3

Tr
ac

k

2

Drain

5

CG

Pond

Legend
Conservation Area

Community Facilities

Green Belt

Local Green Space

Development Limits

Escrick Neighbourhood Plan Area

City of York Council Administrative AreaReproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656

0 0.50.25
Mile N

8.1 Policies Map - Escrick Settlement

61 61

P
age 117



Referendum version
AP

PE
N

D
IX

Escrick

Kelfield

Skipwith

Deighton

Kelfield Moor

Stillingfleet Moor

Mill Field

South End

Escrick Park

Red Moors

North Woods

Hollicarrs Wood

Westhow Closes

Skipwith Common

North Duffield Common

Thorganby Common

West Cottingworth Common

Crook Moor

Escrick Park

Stillingfleet Moor

Skipwith Common

Escrick Park

Stillingfleet Moor

Red Moors

Kelfield Moor

Legend
Conservation Area

Community Facilities

Green Belt

Local Green Space

Development Limits

Escrick Neighbourhood Plan Area

Selby District Boundary

Neighbouring Parish

City of York Council Administrative Area
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656

0 10.5
Mile N

8.1 Policies Map - Escrick Parish

62

P
age 118



Referendum version

8.2 MAP OF ALL GREEN SPACES ASSESSED

AP
PE

N
D

IX

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters
DO

W
ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

C

E

B

A

D

F

63 63

P
age 119



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: A

Site name & reference letter Village Green (Ref. A)

Location Land between Carr Lane and Carrs Meadow

Size (hectares - ha) 0.76 ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site is in the village centre and is therefore in close proximity to the community it serves. 

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The Village Green is a locally important site that provides recreational value to the community. Events are 
held on the site throughout the year in addition to the space being used informally by residents. 

There is a pond on site and mature planting which contributres to the wildlife richness. 

The site is designated as Local Amenity Space by SDC. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The site provides many opportunities to the local community for recreation and amenity and is well-
used by residents. The site also provides biodiversity benefits with the existence of a pond and mature 
vegetation. 

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

64

P
age 120



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m
Club

Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15
37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19
12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

A

AP
PE

N
D

IX

65 65

P
age 121



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: B

Site name & reference letter Recreation Ground and Play Area (Ref. B)

Location Land south of C of E Primary School

Size (hectares - ha) 0.79 ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site is slightly to the west of the village centre and is therefore in close proximity to the community it 
serves. 

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The site is designated as Recreational Open Space by SDC. The Recreation Ground and Play Area is the 
primary space in the village that provides recreational opportunities to residents of all ages. Within the 
site is play equipment, outdoor gym, and a small football pitch/basketball hoop. 

The site is also bounded by mature woodland which contributes to the richness of wildlife locally. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The Recreation Ground and Play Area is leased by Escrick Parish Council from Escrick Park Estate on 
a medium-term lease. It is equipped with play equipment targeting under 12s, zip wire, small football 
pitch, woodland walk and den building area.  Publicly accessible for residents during daylight hours. A 
separate charity (Escrick Playing Fields Association) exists to raise funds for ongoing maintenance and 
enhancement of the facility. 

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

66

P
age 122



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field
La

y-
by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23
El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2
39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond
32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

B

AP
PE

N
D

IX

67 67

P
age 123



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: C

Site name & reference letter Gashouse Plantation (Ref. C)

Location Off Skipwith Road

Size (hectares - ha) 5.9ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site is to the east of the Village centre and is in close proximity to the community it serves. The site is 
bounded by housing on its southwest and northwest edges with a cut-through linking it to Carrs Meadow 
to the southwest. 

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The site is designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 

The site is popular with dogwalkers and is well-used for recreation locally. 

The site is rich in wildlife and has many biodiversity benefits. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The site provides many wildlife and biodiversity benefits and provides recreational opportunities to 
residents. 

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

68

P
age 124



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

C

AP
PE

N
D

IX

69 69

P
age 125



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: D

Site name & reference letter Woodland buffer and QM Pond (Ref. D)

Location East of A19

Size (hectares - ha) 2.1ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site is adjacent to the Recreation Ground and Play area and is in close proximity to the community it 
serves

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The QM pond is designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation. The pond contributes to the 
historical significance of the QM school grounds and parkland. 

The woodland buffer plays an important role by screening the village from the A19, reducing the impact 
of noise from traffic and the associated carbon released from vehicles. The woodland buffer contributes 
to the wildlife richness of the area. The northern section of woodland, adjacent to the Recreation Ground 
also includes a woodland walk and informal den-making area. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The site provides many wildlife and biodiversity benefits and helps to screen the village from the A19. The 
pond also contributes to the historical significance of the QM School grounds. The wooded area next to 
the Recreation Ground includes a woodland walk and an informal den-making area. 

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

70

P
age 126



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

D AP
PE

N
D

IX

71 71

P
age 127



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: E

Site name & reference letter St Helens Church precinct & associated Allotments (Ref. E)

Location West of A19

Size (hectares - ha) 0.87 ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site is to the West of the A19 next to the doctors surgery and is in close proximity to the community it 
serves. 

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The precinct is the setting to the Grade II listed Church of St Helen so has a high value of historical 
significance. The precinct is bounded by traditonal stone walls and contains mature planting and 
vegetation. 

The Allotments adjacent are well-used by members of the community and are the main space used by 
members of the community for food growing etc. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The site provides access to space for food growing which is well-used by the community and provides 
the setting for the Grade II listed Church of St Helen.

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

72

P
age 128



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp
Brid

ge
 D

ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32
54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28
19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

E

AP
PE

N
D

IX

73 73

P
age 129



Referendum version

8.2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE ASSESSMENT: F

Site name & reference letter Greenspace alongside Bridge Dike (Ref F)

Location Along Carr Lane

Size (hectares - ha) 0.48 ha

Proximity to community served
 (ref NPPF 100a)

The site runs through the centre of the village east-west and is in close proximity to the community it 
serves. 

Landscape significance, Historic 
significance, Recreational value, 
Wildlife richness 
(ref NPPF 100b)

The banks along both sides of Bridge Dike contribute to the richness of wildlife and the landscape 
significance of the village. They are an important visual feature of the village in addition to supporting 
wildlife and habitats. 

Local in character / not an 
extensive tract of land
(ref NPPF 100c)

The site is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

Summary Assessment The site provides many wildlife and biodiversity benefits in addition to contributing to the landscape 
significance and character of the village. 

Recommendation DESIGNATE AS LOCAL GREEN SPACE

AP
PE

N
D

IX

74

P
age 130



Referendum version

Escrick

Escrick Park

1

Mill Hill

El

Pond

Play Area

Beds

Plantation

LB

Pp

Brid
ge

 D
ike

Fn

FB

Sewage Works

Ponds

Cricket Ground

Blanshard's Wood

Queen

Half
pe

nn
y D

ike

Church

School

SD

Recreation Ground

Kennel Plantation

O
ld

 R
oa

d 
Pl

an
ta

tio
n

2

4

7

5

3

8

9

6

Gashouse Plantation

Def

GP

CG

CW

RH

Glebe Farm

ET
L

New Bridge

Rutland House

TCB

Post

Post O
ffice Row

Crabtree New Farm

East

7.2m

7.9m

9.9m

9.3m

9.2m

7.3m

9.0m

8.9m
8.7m

8.6m

Club
Hall

Tk D

Lodge

11.4m

Tank

Issues

Poli
ce

10.4m
10.6m

12.2m

1.52m

Meml

Court

Tel Ex

Nor

Track

Drain

Tanks

Tennis

A 19

Tree

(site of)

Shelter

Row

Field

La
y-

by

Ppg Sta

O
ffice

View
Surgery

Sheep Dip

Dyke

W
ALK

Flood Gate

Red House

Decoy Pond

Albert

Lych Gate

Park Row

1.22m Tk H

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

Green

Path (u
m)

Sludge Tanks

Stable

Willow

North

House

Tennis Courts

CLOSE

Homes

Lighting Tower

Sports Pavilion

Primary School

Filling Station

11

Church Cottages

Co Const & UA Bdy

Sirmoor

Cottage

The Old

LanriggChurch of England

Benmore

Hellings

Orch
ard

10
16

44

29

15

37

18

32

54

21

20

79

14

13

41

39

24

2a

23

42

28

19

12

25

31

52

17

35

26
47

30

Runmidd

Derwent

Chalfont

Byways

Millhill Plantation

Gardners

GARDENS

Mansion

ES
CR

IC
K 

CT

Broadacres

Greenacres

Slaughter

DOWER PARK

TH
E

 G
LA

D
E

Park View

CARR LA
NE

W
OODLA

NDS

C
hapm

an's

Owl House

Glebe Cottage

SKIPWITH ROAD

Carr House

Headmasters

DO
W

ER CHASE

Lynngarth

WENLOCK DRIVE

Wheldrake Lodge

CARRS MEADOW

Rudding House

Talland House

Church Cottage

Whinchat House

SOUTHLANDS CLOSE

Mill Hill Farm

23a

39b

The

Little

(PH)

Laundry

Hideaway

1

3

LB

View

7

12

5

Drain

El Sub Sta

13

23

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 
19

Pond

11

2

4

11

Drain

Pond

Lighting Tower

Tr
ac

k

20

Drain

CW

2

39

Path (u
m)

7

7

5

15

Def

1

4

Pond

12

7

Track

6

1

Track

Ponds

1

FB

Drain

8

Tra
ck

3

35

25

2

Drain

2

1

23

Drain

14

FB

Co Const & UA Bdy

8

1 11

1

7.3m

GP

Def

Drai
n

1

11

Bridge Dike

16

2

1

Drain

Drain

CW

1

FB

5

16

FB
Pond

3

Drain

15

4

El S
ub

 Sta

14

Drain

Ponds

D
O

W
ER

 C
H

AS
E

D
rain

Tra
ck

18

ETL

9

Court

1

GP

1

1

2

3

10

Drain

4

D
ra

in

12

20
1

17

1

15

1

Ppg Sta

1

Pond

32

29

2

15

2

3

Bridge Dike

Pond

6

CG

3

1

1

1

3

Tra
ck

11

2

Drain

Def

Pond

18

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

F

AP
PE

N
D

IX

75 75

P
age 131



Referendum version

8.3 Core Settlement Movement Network

AP
PE

N
D

IX

76

P
age 132



Referendum version

Movement Network

AP
PE

N
D

IX

77 77

P
age 133



Referendum version

9 .2m

7.9m

8.7m

9.9m

7.3m

8.9m

8.6 m

7.2m

10.4m

10.6m

9.3m

7.3m

9.0m

Historic 

Skipwith Road 

Post War Cul-de-sac Isolated dwellings/farms

Modern housing developmentEducation

Mixed historic/education 

20th Century Infill 

8.4 Map of character areas in Escrick Village

AP
PE

N
D

IX

78

P
age 134



Referendum version

8.5 Map of major housing 
development in Escrick Village

AP
PE

N
D

IX

79 79

P
age 135



Referendum version

8.6
Map of key businesses locations in Escrick Parish

AP
PE

N
D

IX

80

P
age 136



Referendum version


Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656

1:22,000

Escrick Parish (Size A3)

8.7
Map of green spaces in Escrick

AP
PE

N
D

IX

81 81

P
age 137



Referendum version

COMMUNITY ASPIRATION:
ACCESSING NATURE

The Parish Council support and encourage the use and retention 
of existing permissive rights of way and the provision of new ones 
within the parish.  

With a significant existing network of both permissive and public 
footpaths and bridleways, there are opportunities to build on the 
natural assets within the Parish and look for ways to extend these 
networks, encouraging more people to use the local area for walking, 
leisure and recreation. 

‘All existing Public Right(s) of  Way on the site must be protected and 
kept clear of any obstruction until such time as an alternative route 
has been provided by either a temporary or permanent Order. It is an 
offence to obstruct a Public Right of Way and enforcement action can 
be taken by the Highway Authority to remove any obstruction. 

When looking at potential improvements to development sites that 
have a Public Right of Way or a ‘claimed’ Public Right of Way within 
or adjoining to areas, please be advised to get in touch with the 
Countryside Access Team, North Yorkshire County Council (paths@
northyorks.gov.uk) at the earliest opportunities to discuss any 
proposals.’

AP
PE

N
D

IX

COMMUNITY ASPIRATION:
VILLAGE BUS INFRASTRUCTURE

Proposals to upgrade bus stops to include real-time customer and 
passenger information is encouraged and will be supported. 

The addition of any new rural bus services connecting Escrick to 
the wider North Yorkshire community will also be encouraged and 
supported.

Escrick Parish Council will seek suitable facilities to be provided by 
public funds from either Selby District, City of York Council and / or CIL 
monies or other funding sources at the earliest possible date. Escrick 
Parish Council will continue to monitor and assess the level of facilities 
needed from resident feedback relating to bus services. 

8.8  Community aspirations

82

P
age 138



Escrick Design Code 01

Escrick 
Design Code 

P
age 139



Escrick Design Code 02

Design Code: Contents

Introduction     p.4

About Escrick     p.6

Rural character     p.8

Flooding     p.10

Village edges     p.11

Identifying local character   p.12

Green infrastructure and sustainability  p.20

Urban structure and built form   p.28

Street scene     p.34

Practicalities of the home   p.38

Extensions and alterations   p.50

Glossary     p.62
Useful links     p.64

P
age 140



Escrick Design Code 03

All illustrations and graphics included are generic and do not represent planned housing schemes in the parish

Design Code: Contents

CHARACTER
C1.1 Character

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE & SUSTAINABILITY
G1.1  Gardens
G1.2  Trees
G1.3 Supporting habitats
G1.4 Permeable surfaces
G1.5 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)

URBAN STRUCTURE & BUILT FORM

F1.1 Scale and massing
F1.2 Position
F1.3 Height and roofline
F1.4 Orientation
F1.5 Elevation
F1.6 Frontages

STREET SCENE 

S1.1 Building line

S1.2 Replacement dwellings

S1.3 Backland development

S1.4 Infill development

PRACTICALITIES OF THE HOME

P1.1 Internal space

P1.2 Parking

P1.3 Storage

EXTENSIONS & ALTERATIONS
E1.1 Materials
E1.2 Side extensions
E1.3 Rear extensions
E1.4 Rear two storey extensions 
E1.5 Dormer windows
E1.6 Skylights
E1.7 Garages and carports

P
age 141



Escrick Design Code 04

Escrick village is the historic main settlement at the 
northern boundary of Escrick Parish. Escrick Village 
has its own Conservation Area. The Design Code is 
applicable to development within the whole Parish.

What is a Design Code?
The Escrick Parish Design Code:

• Sets out design expectations for all forms of 
development

• Gives design guidance relating to best practice
• Provides character assessments of the Parish, 

highlighting its distinctive qualities
• Gives a historical overview of how the Parish 

has evolved over time
• Reinforces the aims and objectives of the 

Neighbourhood Plan

Why produce one for Escrick?
The aim Design Code is to ensure that any future 
development and change in the parish is based on 
an understanding of the area’s past and present. 
It draws attention to what is special about the 
buildings, open spaces and settings of Escrick 
giving residents a say in the future of their Parish, by 
producing guidance on respecting these qualities. 

How has it been produced?
The Design Code has been produced on behalf 
of the residents of the parish with the full support 
of Escrick Parish Council. It is the result of public 
consultation including public meetings, surveys, 
workshops and exhibitions, and draws upon the 
detailed findings of a local heritage assessment. 

How will it work?
This Design Code describes how Escrick has 
evolved to how it is today and highlights the 
qualities that residents value. It is intended to be 
a practical tool capable of influencing decisions 
affecting design and development in the Parish. 

The Design code sets out acceptable design 
parameters and details how the key aims and 
objectives of the neighbourhood plan can be 
achieved. Development should seek to improve 
or contribute to the character of place, by 
understanding, referencing, and complementing 
setting and context

Who is it for?
The Design Code should be used by developers, 
applicants and homeowners to ensure that their 
proposals respond to and reinforce the defining 
characteristics of the Parish and addresses key local 
concerns. It will also assist Escrick Parish Council 
and Selby District Council (SDC) in commenting on 
and determining the design quality of applications in 
the Parish. 

What does it cover?
The document contains sections on:

• guidance and best practice for new builds, 
house extensions and alterations

• the landscape setting of the village,
• the evolution of the village,
• the pattern of the settlements,
• identifying local character, 
• open spaces and green corridors,
• the form and style of buildings.

Each section concludes with a number of Design 
Guidelines. Taken together with the accompanying 
text, plans and appendices, these guidelines provide 
details of the qualities that define the character of 
Escrick.

The Escrick Design code aligns with the principles 
set out in the National Design Guide covering the 
characteristics of a well-designed place. 

Introduction 

P
age 142



Escrick Design Code 05

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

Escrick Village

Gashouse Plantation

Skipwith Rd

M
ain St

Carr
 Ln

Escrick 

Selby District

Selby

Location of Escrick Parish within Selby District Escrick Parish

Escrick Parish boundary 

Escrick village

Woodland

Greenbelt

P
age 143



Escrick Design Code 06

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

Escrick Village

Gashouse Plantation

Skipwith Rd

M
ain St

Carr
 Ln

About Escrick 
The village of Escrick lies 6 miles south of 
York on the moraine to which it gives its 
name.  It is thought Escrick dates back to the 
Saxon period, the village remained a small 
settlement throughout the medieval period.  
The village provided an area of dry land 
above the more waterlogged vales of York. 
The moraine ridge, where the settlement 
was located was a key route between the 
River Ouse, York and Stamford Bridge. 

The first documentary evidence of Escrick 
comes from the Domesday Book of 1086 but 
archaeological finds suggest the area may 
have been occupied for nearly 4000 years. 
In 1086 Escrick consisted of two estates 
which were brought together between 1145 
and 1219 when St Mary’s Abbey granted the 
land to the de Lascelles family.

In 1668, it was bought by Sir Henry 
Thompson, a notable Merchant 
Adventurer of York and ancestor to the 
present estate owning family. In over 
800 years this is the only time the estate 
has been sold. This sense of continuity 
and stability has contributed significantly 
to the relationship between church, 
village and estate. It is this relationship 
that has created the unique heritage of 
Escrick.

Escrick was developed as an Estate 
Village by Sir Henry Thompson who 
acquired the village and the Hall in 
1668. Sir Henry's great grandson, 
Beilby Thompson, inherited the Estate 
in 1742. Under this ownership the 
village extended north towards York; 
the Church was relocated from beside 
the Hall to its present site on the York 
Road (A19); and most of the former site 
of the village was cleared and became 
the grounds of Escrick Hall (now part of 
Queen Margaret's School).
 

Escrick Church 

P
age 144



Escrick Design Code 07

Great Woods Common 

Hall Flatt 
Akars

Lun 
Wood

Way to Wheldrake

Way to Cottingwith

Way to Skipworth

Way to Riccall

Escrick c.1600 Escrick c.2000Escrick c. 1850

W
ay to Deighton

1
23

1

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

4

1

14

1

15

Great Woods Common 

Hall Flatt 
Akars

Lun 
Wood

Way to Wheldrake

Way to Cottingwith

Way to Skipworth

Way to Riccall

Escrick c.1600 Escrick c.2000Escrick c. 1850

W
ay to Deighton

1
23

1

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

4

1

14

1

15

Great Woods Common 

Hall Flatt 
Akars

Lun 
Wood

Way to Wheldrake

Way to Cottingwith

Way to Skipworth

Way to Riccall

Escrick c.1600 Escrick c.2000Escrick c. 1850

W
ay to Deighton

1
23

1

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

i

Hollicarrs 
Wood

Common
Wood

Hackings 
Wood

Heron 
Wood

4

1

14

1

15

Escrick c1600 Escrick c1850 Escrick c2000

1.  Escrick Hall
2. First Church 
3. Rectory
4. Second Church 
5. Escrick Village Hall

Part of this reorganisation involved 
an Act of Parliament in 1776 stopping 
the main village street at the gates 
to the Hall and creating a by-pass. 
The village's sylvan character also 
evolved from the time of enclosure 
when the open land became parkland. 
The bridge over the dyke was also 
constructed in 1776.
 
In the late 1770s the village was 
reshaped, and establishing the hall with 
its own grounds with some separation 
from the rest of the village. The village 
was effectively relocated north of its 
former location - with the former site of 
the village becoming the grounds of 
Escrick Hall.
 
In 1949 Escrick Hall became home to 
Queen Margaret’s School.

P
age 145



Escrick Design Code 08

Rural character
Escrick Parish straddles the Vale of 
York and Humberhead Levels National 
Character Area Profile, split at the line of 
the Escrick Moraine. Selby Council has 
categorized the parish as follows:

York Fringe East - The landscape is 
characterised by the Escrick Moraine which 
runs from the north-east to the south-west 
across this LCA. The landscape boundary 
is defined by the River Ouse to the west, 
the southernmost extent of the Escrick 
Moraine to the south, and comprises 
of gently rolling, predominantly arable 
farmland with areas of woodland plantation 
distributed throughout the area. The Selby 
Landscape Character Assessment can be 
viewed here. 

There is a strong rural character with small 
nucleated villages and farmsteads, and a 
strong sense of openness resulting from 
long distance views across the landscape, 
a medium scale patchwork of fields defined 
by hedgerows with occasional hedgerow 
trees, and post and wire fencing. Parklands 
are associated with large historic houses. 

This is an intensively farmed landscape, 
though locally important water bodies 
and woodlands have a greater sensitivity 
to change. Large areas of woodland to 
the north provide naturalistic features 
contributing to the character of the 
landscape. Escrick is well integrated 
with the surrounding landscape, with 
Escrick having wooded boundaries. Thus 
settlements may be sensitive to new 
development that does not fit with their 
characteristic layout. 

Settlements show a degree of unity of style 
and colour across housing developments, 
particularly within their Conservation Areas, 
with most housing being constructed of 
mottled red brick with pantile roofs. The 
dispersed pattern of isolated settlement 
across the rest of the area indicates that 
higher density housing developments 
would be uncharacteristic.

Landscape Character within Escrick Parish

Woodland

York Fringe East

Skipwith Lowlands

P
age 146

https://www.selby.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Selby%20LCA%20Report%20Combined.pdf


Escrick Design Code 09

Skipwith Lowlands - This character area 
is located in the north-east corner of the 
District, adjacent to the Escrick moraine 
in the north. The area is bounded by the 
River Ouse and its floodplain to the west, 
the River Derwent and its floodplain to the 
east, and extensive areas of flat farmland 
to the south. It is located predominantly 
within the Humberhead Levels NCA, 
crossing into the Vale of York NCA. 

At a county scale, the landscape falls 
within the Vale Farmland with Plantation 
Woodland and Heathland LCT.
Relatively flat arable farmland, with a 
strong presence of woodland plantation 
throughout the landscape. Semi-enclosed 
landscape with extensive areas of 
woodland plantation concentrated around 
Skipwith. 

Broad area of heather and heather 
grassland, of high conservation value, 
located at Skipwith Common National 
Nature Reserve (NNR) to the south-west 
of Skipwith. Medium-large scale varied 
field pattern defined commonly by ditches 
and dikes or by sparse and irregular 
hedgerows with occasional hedgerow 
trees.

The following general guidelines apply in this area, 
subject to adopted local and national planning 
policies:

• Encourage reinstatement of hedgerows 
and field trees, where field boundaries have 
been lost in the past, to create a connected 
landscape pattern, such as along roads and 
particularly in the west of the character area;

• Seek to secure long-term health of woodlands 
across the area;

• Use existing woodland and new woodland 
planting to integrate built development into the 
landscape;

• Enhance informal recreational enjoyment 
of the landscape; and Consider colours of 
new development, favouring colours that are 
sympathetic to and reflect the landscape.

• Location specific guidelines for this area 
include: Should seek to establish long-term 
gains for the landscape, such as biodiversity 
enhancements and securing additional 
recreational access to the woodland;

• Conserve and protect the parkland landscapes 
at Escrick by limiting possible harmful changes 
of use. Retain mature and veteran trees while 
planning for the next generation of parkland 
trees to ensure a sustainable population.

P
age 147



Escrick Design Code 010

9 .2m

7.9m

8.7m

9.9m

7.3m

8.9m

8.6 m

7.2m

10.4m

10.6m

9.3m

7.3m

9.0m

Flooding
Esrick parish contains an area of functional 
floodplain (Zone 3b) adjacent to the village. 
Within the current development boundary 
are areas of Flood Zone 2 and Floor Zone 
3a. 

Flood Zone 2 - 1000yr Floodplain & 
Approximate 100yr plus Climate Change 
Floodplain

Flood Zone 3a -  100yr Floodplain

Flood Zone 3b -  Functional  Floodplain

P
age 148



Escrick Design Code 011

9 .2m

7.9m

8.7m

9.9m

7.3m

8.9m

8.6 m

7.2m

10.4m

10.6m

9.3m

7.3m

Village Edges

Road Edge - built area of village 
bounded by road 

Woodland Edge - built area of village 
bounded by woodland 

Entrances/Exits - key entrances/exits 
into and out of the built area 

Hedged Edge - built area of village 
bounded by hedges with open fields 
beyond 

P
age 149



Escrick Design Code 012

IDENTIFYING
LOCAL CHARACTER
Design decisions should be based on the results 
of local character assessment which should be 
undertaken as part of a site and context appraisal. 

Designers of new housing developments or 
extensions and alterations to existing buildings 
should spend time in the local area to gain a critical 
understanding of its distinctive qualities at an early 
stage in the design process. Good design draws 
upon local characteristics, either as a direct reference 
or as a thoughtful response to it. This should be 
demonstrated in a planning application. 

Identifying local character overview: 

Density and form
Proposals should complement their context by making 
use of the surrounding built and natural environment to 
inform the layout and massing of the scheme. Density 
should reflect the rural character of Escrick and the 
defining characteristics of the Conservation Area. 

Views
Important views such as heritage assets, listed buildings 
or views to and from the surrounding countryside should 
be identified and retained. 

Vernacular design - Details, materials, colours
New development should respect local characteristics 
such as building forms, materials, traditions and street 
patterns, and use these characteristics to inform the 
design response. 

9 .2m

7.9m

8.7m

9.9m

7.3m

8.9m

8.6 m

7.2m

10.4m

10.6m

9.3m

7.3m

9.0m

Historic 

Skipwith Road 

Post War Cul-de-sac Isolated dwellings/farms

Modern housing developmentEducation

Mixed historic/education 

20th Century Infill 

P
age 150



Escrick Design Code 013

Identifying local character checklist:

• Proposals should be sensitive to the characteristics of the 
local area, and identify patterns of building forms, details, 
layouts and boundary treatments

• Density, scale and massing should reinforce the existing 
character of Escrick

• Understanding past change is the key to continuing the 
narrative of place into the future

• A study of typical local building materials and practice 
will allow developers to identify the recurring details that 
contribute to the character of a place

• Topography of the site and its surrounding area should 
inform the density and layout of a scheme and must be 
taken into account from an early stage in the design 
process

DESIGN CODE C1.1
Character
New development should respond to and reinforce the distinctive character of 
Escrick. The following elements should be considered in new development:

Scale and massing 
Building heights should be roughly in line with neighbouring properties. The massing 
of buildings should respond to the massing of similar buildings and/or buildings used 
for similar uses in the immediate surroundings. 

Density
A low density should be applied to Escrick that reflects existing character and density 
of development. For example Wenlock Drive/Southlands/Northlands, is an area 
containing 44 houses over 5 hectares gives a density of 9 houses per hectare.  Carrs 
Meadow is 11 houses per hectare, including the Village Green.

Materials
Brick, stone, roof tiles, windows and door materials should be compatible with the 
local vernacular. 

Boundary treatments
New development should include boundary treatments that are appropriate to its 
setting. Stone or brick walls often with planting of a hedge are the most common 
front boundary treament in the village. Side or rear boundary treatments should be of 
natural materials such as fencing or hedgerows. 

Front gardens
All new residential properties should be designed to include front gardens. This is a 
defining characteristic of Escrick. 

P
age 151



Escrick Design Code 014

Does the new 
development reflect 
the existing grain and 
density of development?

Can historic buildings 
be enhanced by the 
proposal? 

What variety of housing 
is there in the area? 

Are important views 
retained?

What are the 
predominant land 
uses? 

What is the surrounding 
topography and special 

characteristics of the area? 
(i.e water bodies, landscape 

features, etc.) 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SCALE
CHECKLIST:

*not representative of planned development

P
age 152



Escrick Design Code 015

What are the common 
boundary treatments?

Do streets 
feel open or 
enclosed? 

Is the character 
urban, suburban, 
rural/settlement edge

What is the density?

What are the nearby 
land uses? 

What is the 
provision of green 
infrastructure? 

What is the scale and 
massing of the buildings? 

STREET SCALE
CHECKLIST:

What are the 
predominant form of
porches / dormer 
windows, bay 
windows?

Are ridge heights 
in line with those 
of neighbouring 
properties?

What are the 
common materials 
and colours used? 

Are architectural 
details repeated 
in surrounding 
buildings? 

BUILDING SCALE
CHECKLIST:

P
age 153



Escrick Design Code 016

Timber
Timber is less commonly used throughout the 
village but can be found in boundary treatments 
and detailing to properties. The village green 
has a low timber fence as does other properties 
throughout the village and along the beck. Some 
properties on Main St feature timber detailing such 
as barge boards in the gables.

Metal
Metal is not a material used commonly in Escrick. 
Boundary treatments are mainly brick or stone 
walls or fences, often coupled with hedges or 
planting. There are some examples of railings 
or gates made from metal but these are not 
common.

Render and cladding
Neither render nor cladding reflects the vernacular 
of the Parish and is discouraged. 

Tiles and Slate
There is some variation throughout the village in 
terms of tiles used. The Parsonage and Escrick 
Park both feature Welsh slate. Elsewhere there 
are many examples of red-brown or grey tiles 
being used. Pantiles are found throughout the 
village and are usually in terracotta, or concrete 
in red-brown or or dark brown. There is little 
consistency throughout the village and colours 
and materials vary. 

Brick
The predominant type of brick used throughout 
the village is mottled red brick, red-brown brick, 
and pinkish-red and gault brick which can be found 
on the majority of older properties. This is likely to 
be because the clay used to make the brick was 
locally sourced. More recent properties, especially 
those built in the mid-20th century introduced 
different materials and colours to the village. This 
includes light brown and multi bricks, yellow, and 
mellow bricks.

Stone 
Stone is less commonly used than brick but there 
are still many examples of the material being used 
in the village. This includes the Grade II listed 
properties such as the Church of St Helen which 
uses sandstone ashlar and The Parsonage Country 
House Hotel. Stone is found on some mid-20th 
century properties as either a primary building 
material or cladding. These tend to be yellow 
in colour. Stone walls in a variety of heights and 
depths are also common throughout the village – 
these are mainly grey.

MATERIALS

P
age 154



Escrick Design Code 017

P
age 155



Escrick Design Code 018

Doors
Doors in the conservation area are predominately 
timber. These are generally painted white, brown, 
or the estate blue colour. Many of the doors in the 
village feature timber-bracketed tiled porches. 
Elsewhere in the village there is a mixture of both 
timber and UPVC. 

Doors can be noticeable features and, as with 
windows, they can have a dramatic impact on the 
appearance of a property. Doors should be simple, 
well-proportioned and reflect the local vernacular.

Windows
Traditional fenestration design is prevalent throughout 
the village with many contemporary properties 
referencing the historic design. Timber sash 
windows are common and there are many examples 
of lower ground bay windows. Some of the more 
recent properties use upvc but they are generally 
sympathetic in terms of design and appearance.

The choice of paint colour for windows can have 
a dramatic effect on the appearance of a building. 
Paint colours should respect traditional, local colours. 
White, together with muted and natural tones are 
most appropriate. 

Detailing
Architectural detailing in new development 
shall typically display elements that balance 
with those on existing traditional buildings in 
terms of interest, scale and texture and form.

Traditional elements often include detailing 
around windows including sills, quoins 
and masonry detailing, door surrounds or 
porches and timber framed, sash windows. 
Attention to high quality architecture and 
well considered architectural detailing is 
expected.

P
age 156



Escrick Design Code 019

Boundary treatments
Boundary treatments to the front of properties in 
Escrick are predominantly low hedges either on their 
own or coupled with a low wall made from either 
stone or brick. 

Boundary treatments used to the front of the 
property should generally be no more than 1.2m in 
height to. Fences, gates or railings over 1.2m are 
not considered appropriate as they conflict with the 
estate village vernacular. 

Side of rear boundary treatments are generally, 
fences or hedges. There are some walled examples 
of side and rear boundary treatments in the more 
historic village centre. Certain properties have a 
completely open plan front aspect. 

P
age 157



Escrick Design Code 020

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
& SUSTAINABILITY

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
©Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Selby District Council 100018656 NEscrick

Agriculture

Woodland

Parkland

Recreation

Water

Green infrastructure is a broad-term used to describe
natural and semi-natural features of all scales within
and between towns and villages from street trees and
planting up to rivers, woodland and moorland.

Green Infrastructure is land which already contributes 
towards, or has the potential to contribute towards the 
following:

1. Retention, creation and enhancement of important
habitats and ecological networks

2.Resilience to climate change and sustainable design

3. Important attributes of natural green space, 
connectivity to other green spaces and a local need for 
open space

4. Valued landscapes and local distinctiveness and
amenity, particularly within the urban core

5. Historic parks and landscapes and the setting for
heritage assets

6. Improving opportunities for walking, cycling and
horseriding, establishing strategic green links and
enhancing the rights of way network in urban and rural
parts of the district

P
age 158



Escrick Design Code 021

Green infrastructure check list

• Does the proposal enhance and/or connect with existing or planned pedestrian and 
cycle infrastructure? 

• Does the proposal connect with existing green infrastructure? 

• Does the proposal include planting such as trees and hedgerows? 

• Does the proposal include flood mitigation infrastructure such as Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS)? 

• Does the proposal include space for play and recreation? 

• Does the proposal include space for food growing? 

• Does the proposal include infrastructure to support wildlife such as bat and bird boxes 
and hedgehog gaps in garden walls and fences? 

• Does the proposal align with and reinforce local character with regard to habitats and 
species? 

• Does the proposal contribute towards the setting of a historic park or heritage asset? 

Key Objectives
• Connect or reconnect areas of green 

infrastructure to enable wildlife to move more 
freely and for humans to enjoy a greater series 
of interconnected green spaces

• Provide spaces for leisure, recreation and 
relaxation contributing to and improving mental 
and physical wellbeing 

• Enhancement of a site's multi-functionality 
and ability to play a key role in climate change 
adaption and mitigation, carbon capture, 
improve wildlife and biodiversity benefits, 
increased food production, and improved water 
management and flood risk

• Encourage enhancement of sites in line with 
their strategic objectives in relation to habitats 
and species. This might include promoting the 
planting of native broad-leaved trees, planting 
that is beneficial to pollinators or the inclusion of 
bat and bird boxes or hedgehog gaps between 
properties or physical boundaries

• Deliver green infrastructure provision at 
a variety of scales from domestic, street, 
neighbourhood, Parish, district and regional 
levels

P
age 159



Escrick Design Code 022

Do boundaries provide 
habitats for local 

species? 

Have impermeable 
surfaces been avoided 
to improve rainwater 

drainage?

Does the proposal 
incorporate 
renewable 

technologies?

Are materials 
hardwearing to 

withstand fluctuations 
in the weather?

Have SuDS been 
incorporated where 

required?

Are proposed trees native 
broad-leaved species to 

support native invertebrates 
and berry-feeding birds?

Do glazing sizes and 
locations respond to 

the sun path?

Is green space 
orientated to have 

access to direct 
sunlight for much of 

the day? 

Have existing 
hedges and trees 
been retained or 

enhanced?

Sustainable design 
general principles:

• Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should 
be incorporated to minimise the risk of 
flooding

• New developments should avoid impermeable 
surfaces that do not allow for drainage of 
surface water run-off

• New dwellings should minimise creating 
north-facing habitable rooms and north facing 
glazing that is likely to make homes cold in 
the winter

• New sustainable habitats should be created 
in appropriate locations, and existing habitats 
protected and where possible, enhanced

• The choice of plants and trees should be 
considered in relation to the microclimate, 
orientation, geology and maintenance 
requirements

• New developments should be designed to be 
sustainable in the widest sense of the word, in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework

*not representative of planned development

Are plot sizes 
adequate to 

incorporate sufficient 
amenity space?

P
age 160



Escrick Design Code 023

Is there space for food 
growing? 

Are flood 
and water 

management 
infrastructure 

included? 

Does the proposal 
include space for play 

and recreation? 

Are open and green spaces 
accessible and linked to 
improve connectivity?

Are trees and planting native 
species that align with the wider 

biodiversity objectives?

Do boundary treatments 
to properties include 
green infrastructure?

Is planting 
beneficial to 
pollinators?

*not representative of planned development

P
age 161



Escrick Design Code 024

DESIGN CODE G1.1
Gardens
New development should be of consistent character 
and density to the village, providing sufficient amenity 
space to occupants. This means front gardens should 
be provided and private rear gardens should provide 
adequate amenity space commensurate with the size and 
needs of the property and its residents.

Existing private amenity space in Escrick varies 
throughout the village. Some larger detached properties 
have rear gardens around 700sq/m, whilst smaller semi-
detached and terraced properties have rear gardens 
around 40sq/m. The minimum depth of rear garden / 
amenity space shall be 10m to ensure privacy between 
dwellings and usable private gardens.  Any extension 
to existing properties shall ensure that these minimum 
spaces are still achieved after development.

Front gardens contribute strongly to the character of each 
street and provide the setting to each building. Gardens 
create space between and around buildings allowing 
views across the area and beyond to the rural landscape. 
Front gardens should be include lawns, tree planting, 
hedges and hard surfacing, ideally a permeable surface. 

Private or shared amenity space is vitally important in 
all development. Amenity space should be practical 
and usable providing space for recreation/ play, drying 
clothes, food growing, whilst improving biodiversity and 
reducing surface water/run off.  

Whilst size of amenity space will vary depending on the dwelling size, type and character of the plot – a guide 
is provided below: 

Property size Minimum size of rear amenity space
2 Bed dwelling 50m2

3+ Bed dwelling 75m2

All dwellings 

Minimum garden / amenity space depth 10m

P
age 162



Escrick Design Code 025

DESIGN CODE G1.2
Trees
Mature trees should be retained. Where loss 
to development is unavoidable, they should be 
replaced. Retention of all trees and hedgerows, 
especially along property boundaries is vital. If trees 
and hedges do need to be removed, they should be 
replaced within the site with native species. Trees 
should be replaced at a ratio of 3:1. Mature trees and 
extended woodlands must be retained 

Successful planting 
Planting details must be carefully considered so that 
the species being introduced are appropriate to 
the context and climate and their management and 
maintenance is also considered. Trees that die within 
5 years of being planted should be replaced as per
standard landscaping conditions. 

Biodiversity
Wildlife habitats should be created throughout 
the proposal and should include a strategy for 
maintenance. At the initial site and contextual 
appraisal local species and habitats should be 
identified which can help to inform the design and 
type of infrastructure needed to support it. 

P
age 163



Escrick Design Code 026

EXTERNAL STORAGE PERMEABLE PARKING SURFACESSUPPORTING HABITAT

North Cave is home to a complex and varied ecosystem. 
Development should minimise impact on the natural 
environment by providing adequate space for wildlife. 
This should include integral bat boxes, bird houses and 
nesting boxes that are discreet and low maintenance. 
The design of the elements should be in a material to 
match the building (see examples above)Existing hedges 
and planting should be protected and new planting 
encouraged.

Increased surface runoff from new hard surfaces should 
be discouraged to manage flooding. Impermeable 
surfaces such as tarmac should therefore be avoided. 
Porous surfaces such as cobbles, stone setts and gravel 
are all in evidence in North Cave (see above) and new 
surfaces should use complimentary materials and 
colours in keeping with the village. New alternatives such 
as grasscrete should be considered as alternatives where 
a greener finish is required.

A lack of sufficient external storage can cause 
visual blight, especially in more dense village centre 
environments. Sufficient storage for elements such 
as bins and bikes should be provided in new houses to 
maximise security and reduce street clutter. Storage 
elements should be integral in high density clusters. In 
lower density, storage should be high quality, made of 
traditional materials, and placed in a location that is both 
convenient for the homeowner but not visually obtrusive.

grasscrete

Ibstock habitat boxes

Ibstock habitat boxes

integrated storage

EXTERNAL STORAGE PERMEABLE PARKING SURFACESSUPPORTING HABITAT

North Cave is home to a complex and varied ecosystem. 
Development should minimise impact on the natural 
environment by providing adequate space for wildlife. 
This should include integral bat boxes, bird houses and 
nesting boxes that are discreet and low maintenance. 
The design of the elements should be in a material to 
match the building (see examples above)Existing hedges 
and planting should be protected and new planting 
encouraged.

Increased surface runoff from new hard surfaces should 
be discouraged to manage flooding. Impermeable 
surfaces such as tarmac should therefore be avoided. 
Porous surfaces such as cobbles, stone setts and gravel 
are all in evidence in North Cave (see above) and new 
surfaces should use complimentary materials and 
colours in keeping with the village. New alternatives such 
as grasscrete should be considered as alternatives where 
a greener finish is required.

A lack of sufficient external storage can cause 
visual blight, especially in more dense village centre 
environments. Sufficient storage for elements such 
as bins and bikes should be provided in new houses to 
maximise security and reduce street clutter. Storage 
elements should be integral in high density clusters. In 
lower density, storage should be high quality, made of 
traditional materials, and placed in a location that is both 
convenient for the homeowner but not visually obtrusive.

grasscrete

Ibstock habitat boxes

Ibstock habitat boxes

integrated storage

DESIGN CODE G1.3
Supporting Habitats
Escrick is home to a complex and varied 
ecosystem. Development should minimise impact 
on the natural environment by providing adequate 
space for wildlife. This should include integral bird 
houses and nesting boxes that are discreet and 
low maintenance. 

The design of the elements should be in a material 
to match the building. Existing hedges and 
planting should be protected and new planting 
encouraged. Ecologists should be consulted on 
larger schemes to ensure proposals meet specific 
local needs. 

DESIGN CODE G1.4
Permeable Surfaces
Increased surface runoff from new hard surfaces 
should be discouraged to manage flooding. 
Impermeable surfaces such as tarmac should 
therefore be avoided. Porous surfaces such stone 
setts and gravel are common in Escrick and new 
surfaces should use complementary materials 
and colours in keeping with the village. A mixture 
of materials are encouraged in front gardens to 
maintain sufficient green infrastructure in addtion 
to limited areas of hardstanding for circulation and 
parking. 

New alternatives such as grasscrete should be 
considered as alternatives where a greener 
finish is required. Grass protection matting and 
permeable paving is also appropriate. 

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE

Alongside permeable paving, small areas of water 
storage should be promoted in new and existing gardens 
to manage surface run off. Rain gardens store and filter 
water, slowing discharge to main water courses. Systems 
of larger storage ponds (attenuation) as well as swales 
should be considered across larger sites to allow surface 
water management to take place without adversely 
affecting the wider village.

A POSSIBLE CONFIGURATION

Car access arch in 
same style as main 
property

permeable paving and 
driveway

rain garden to front 
of house to collect 
rainwater from the 
roof. Water butts could 
also be used the water 
reused where possible 
(ie. for gardening)

integral storage point 
for cycle/bins. Opening 
and door style to match 
main property

alternative location for 
external store. Discreet 
location allows main 
focus to be on the 
house

bat box

nest box

gravel

swales

attenuation

rain garden

roof pitch of garage to 
match main house

(flat roofs should be 
avoided)

DESIGN CODE G1.5
Sustainable Drainage
Where possible, small areas of water storage 
should be promoted in new and existing gardens 
to manage surface run off. Rain gardens store 
and filter water, slowing discharge to main water 
courses. 

Proposals of all scales must take steps to minimise 
flood risk. SuDS describe various strategies 
designed to drain surface water efficiently and 
sustainably. 

P
age 164



Escrick Design Code 027

rain garden (in property)

swale (public)

attenuation pond (public). Water 

attenuated for 24h after a storm 

makes a significant difference to the 

peak levels experienced downstream

main drain

roof runoff

water butt

permeable 

paving and 

sub base

New development should include appropriate 
levels of Sustainable drainage systems (SUDS). 
Whilst principally being used to manage flood 
risk, SUDS use a wide range of techniques to 
manage the quantity of surface water run-off from 
development as close to the source as possible, 
such as rain gardens, swales, french drains, etc 

and can help reduce pollution and maintain water 
resources. 
Well-designed SUDS can contribute to quality 
neighbourhoods, providing opportunities for 
wildlife to thrive, and enhancing the leisure, play 
and educational offer within our public open 
spaces.

Example of sustainable drainage systems

*not representative of planned development

P
age 165



Escrick Design Code 028

ttt

URBAN STRUCTURE
AND BUILT FORM
Escrick village is a nucleated settlement, meaning 
development is well-enclosed and tightly clustered 
(2019 Landscape Character Assessment, Selby 
District Council)
.
The earliest extant residential properties were built 
in a linear form around Main Street. Later additions 
to the village were built in less dense forms such as 
cul-de-sacs and as either small urban extensions or on 
infill sites.

There are a variety of housing typologies throughout 
the village. Some of the earliest existing examples 
includes terraced cottages and several larger detached 
properties. More recently semi-detached and larger 
detached properties have become the predominant 
house types in the village.

These more recent additions are generally well-
proportioned with generous gardens and off-street 
parking. Residential properties in the village are mainly 
2 storey with some provision of bungalows. 

9 .2m

7.9m

8.7m

9.9m

7.3m

8.9m

8.6 m

7.2m

10.4m

10.6m

9.3m

7.3m

9.0m

P
age 166



Escrick Design Code 029

Generally larger detached properties set 
back from the highway with generous 
landscaping and plot sizes

Historic mix of dwelling types built in tight 
grain and of linear form

Contemporary development of mixed 
dwelling types in a crescent

Predominantly large detached dwellings 
built in cul-de-sacs or crescents

Contemporary linear development 
comprising a mix of dwelling types

Village core comprising a mix of historic 
dwellings with new additions set out in 
organic and informal nature

P
age 167



Escrick Design Code 030

DESIGN CODE F1.1
Scale & Massing
New development will be more likely to integrate 
successfully with the settlement if the scale, height 
and massing of new buildings demonstrates 
consideration for the context of the original buildings 
within the area.

Buildings should not be designed in isolation. 
Whether they are of traditional or contemporary 
design, buildings should be part of a design concept 
for the whole site. This will need to be explained in 
a Design and Access Statement accompanying the 
planning application.

The proportions of proposed houses should reflect 
and be compatible with neighbouring properties in 
the same streetscape. 

DESIGN CODE F1.3
Height & Roofline
New houses that respect the existing height and 
follow the roofline of adjacent houses should be 
encouraged. Similarly proposed extensions are 
more likely to be successful if they do not exceed 
the height or footprint of the original building.

Roofs should be designed to reflect the style 
of the proposed development and its context. 
Careful attention should be paid to roofing 
materials, pitch, eaves and verge details and the 
inclusion of chimney stacks or other features that 
project above the ridge line.

COMPLIMENTING THE STREET - INFILL

New houses in existing streetscapes should take 
reference from surrounding building heights, being no 
taller than the tallest and no shorter than the shortest.

This will help to maintain and enhance the proportions, 
rhythm and character of the adjacent buildings and 
contribute more successfully to the street as a whole.

Successful examples of single houses can be seen 
across the village. These take surrounding building 
heights, materials and proportions and reference them 
within the new design. In the examples below, the Wolds 
Stone, corbels, quoining and triangulated gable details 
add to the quality of the design and suggest a particular 
character that is distinctly from North Cave.

Where more than one house is proposed as infill, each 
property should aim to be individual in its approach to 
referencing the surroundings, avoiding repetition.

BUILDING HEIGHT

too high too short

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

DESIGN CODE F1.2
Position
New development and alterations to existing 
buildings, shall respect the position of existing 
buildings relative to the street and within the plot.

Proposed dwellings should respond to the 
building lines of existing properties to ensure they 
occupy a similar position on the plot. 

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 168



Escrick Design Code 031

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

DESIGN CODE F1.4
Orientation
Generally, houses should be orientated so that the 
principal elevation faces the main street. Presenting 
a blank gable end to the street should be avoided to 
ensure that there is activity and passive surveillance 
to the street. Orientation should reflect the character 
of its local area. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully. 
Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

DESIGN CODE F1.5
Elevations
All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid 
a visual clash between the front of the house and 
the side. Unsightly elements such as metre boxes, 
satellite dishes and pipework should be designed 
and located to minimise the impact on the front 
elevation. 

Dormers should not be included on roofs facing the 
street but are acceptable at the rear of properties 
in the Conservation Area. Instead, skylights will be 
acceptable to provide natural light. 

DESIGN CODE F1.6
Frontages
Houses should be set back from the pavement, the 
resulting space should be adequately planted and 
greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
Parish. 

The domination of front parking should be avoided in 
both existing and new properties. Frontages should 
include front gardens and planting to mitigate this. 
Generally driveways and garaging should be to the 
side of properties to maintain green frontages. 

The boundary treatments to gardens are important 
contributors to the character of the Parish and should 
be maintained.

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS
All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 169



Escrick Design Code 032

Streets for People
Streets, shared spaces and parking areas must be 
designed to meet the needs of car owners but not 
at the expense of other users of the space. There 
should be a focus on a range of flexible areas that 
meet a range of needs to mitigate potential conflict. 

Streets for people overview:
• Prioritising people
• Carriageway widths
• Speed restraint
• Green infrastructure
• Active frontages
• Street lighting
• Parking outside the curtilage

Usually, using a variety of parking treatments and 
solutions (both within and outside the curtilage) will 
create more capacity and avoid over-dominance of 
parking in any particular area. 

Street design and materiality 

Proposals are encouraged to incorporate materials 
that are visually attractive, require minimum 
maintenance, and are in keeping with the specific 
local character of the area. 

Streets for people checklist:

• All fronts of buildings, including front doors should face the street

• Streets should be designed in such a way that encourages motorists to 
drive more slowly and carefully

• A variety of parking solutions that are appropriate to the context should 
be used

• Parking should be well overlooked, and if possible residents should be 
able to see their car from their home 

• On-street parking should be balanced with trees and soft landscaping to 
balance the visual impact of parked cars on the streetscape

• Existing green and blue infrastructure should be integrated into the 
layout of the development (green infrastructure is a wide-ranging term 
used to describe natural features such as trees, fields, woodlands. Blue 
infrastructure is a similar term used to describe water features such as 
swales, rain gardens, ponds and dikes etc)

• Streets should be multi-functional with areas of blue and green 
infrastructure where appropriate

• Streets should support and encourage sustainable and active transport 
including the provision of electric vehicle charging points 

P
age 170



Escrick Design Code 033

Is the transition 
from defensible 

space of the 
house to the 

street clear, safe 
and legible?

Do streets benefit 
from passive 
surveillance? 

Has the frontage been 
designed and designated 

primarily for cars or 
people?

Do proposed front 
doors face the 

street?

Are streets 
designed to 

encourage drivers 
to drive slowly and 

carefully?

Are street materials 
varied to help 
create street 
hierarchy?

Are street widths 
designed according 

to their type and 
purpose?

Has the most 
appropriate parking 

solution been 
provided for each 

development zone?

Is parking well 
overlooked and 
balanced with 

soft landscaping?

Has planting and 
trees along the 

sides of the street 
been considered? 

*not representative of planned development

P
age 171



Escrick Design Code 034

THE STREET SCENE

The street scene can be defined as: 

"The appearance of all of theelements of a street, 
including the carriageway,pavement, street 
furniture, planting, and the buildings or structures 
along its edges, particularly the composition of 
buildings on each side of the street."

Given the way Escrick has evolved the Parish 
contains a variety of character areas with their 
own distinct identity. New development should 
always be informed by a site and contextual 
appraisal to influence the design response, 
ensuring that new development responds to and 
reinforces the character of its area.

The Neighbourhood Plan and Design Code is keen
to ensure that new development responds to and
reinforces the character of Escrick whilst 
being sensitiveto its defining qualities. New 
development should also seek to achieve the aims 
and objectives set out in both documents.

There are general principles to inform the design 
and siting of new development, replacement 
dwellings and extensions and alterations to 
existing properties.

This sections demonstrates how any type of new
development will be expected to respond to 
the street scene and contribute to creating 
well-designed, safe and functional streets and 
neighbourhoods.

DESIGN CODE S1.1
Building Line
The set back of new buildings should respect the 
existing building line along the street, any new or 
infill development should be built to respond to 
its neighbours building line to add coherence to 
the street scene. Dwellings should not be set in 
front of the existing building line nor should they 
be behind the neighbours’ building line. 

DESIGN CODE S1.2
Replacement Dwellings
Where replacement dwellings are being 
constructed they should respond to the defining 
characteristics of their immediate context. Building 
heights, plot widths, building lines, and scale and 
massing should be respected and referenced. 
This should be informed by a robust site appraisal 
that details the characteristics and built form of the 
surrounding context. 

Replacement dwellings should maintain front 
gardens and provide sufficient amenity space to 
the rear (10m depth minimum). Space around the 
dwelling should be maintained to ensure access, 
storage and maintenance can be accommodated. 

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 172



Escrick Design Code 035

DESIGN CODE S1.3
Backland Development
In many cases backland development will be inappropriate 
and should be resisted. Where properties could potentially 
accommodate new developments within their plot there can 
be issues with negative impacts on residential amenity, loss of 
light and privacy, reduced space for parking and access. 

Back-land development can also compromise existing and 
historic building lines, layouts and streetscapes. Loss of green 
infrastructure such as gardens and vegetation are other 
issues arising from back-land development. 

This may mean that back-land development is considered 
inappropriate if the proposals would negatively impact the 
character and quality of the area. See diagram opposite for 
acceptable distances between dwellings. 

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 1

7 Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018

1.03 Space Outside the Home

Basic Standards

1.03.01 Basic Standards should be applied where details of elevations, room layout 
and screening are not known. These standards apply to normal two storey homes. In 
the case of three or more storeys, or where changes in level occur, increased standards 
may be appropriate. 

1.03.02 These standards are useful yardsticks and are designed to mitigate the 
negative impact of poorly considered development. However, strict adherence to these 
standards is likely to limit design variety, unnecessarily restrict density and may not 
lead to a scheme reflecting local character.  Where these standards are not met the 
Council will expect to see a thorough justification as part of the application. 

1.03.03 Garden sizes should be a minimum of 75 sq.m. For homes with three or more 
bedrooms the Council may require larger gardens to be provided. For narrow plots 
these sizes may be reduced. 

1.03.04 The Council would prefer applicants to submit planning applications based on 
thoroughly developed designs where possible (see opposite page). 

Diagram to demonstrate Basic Standards**

F

fro
nt t

o b
ac

k 2
1m

back to back 21m

B

S

S

S

S

B

B

B
B

F

B

F

F

B

B

B

B

90
o

fro
nt t

o 

sid
e 1

2m

sid
e t

o s
ide

(2 
dr

ive
way

s)

6m

sid
e t

o s
ide

(1 
dr

ive
way

)

4m

Back to 

side 12mBack to 

boundary 

10.5m

* There may be instances where this standard may be reduced, subject to site specifics
** Diagram illustrative of Basic Standards only. Site layout also should consider active frontages to the highway. 

Basic Standard

Front or Back to Front or Back

Side to Boundary
Side to Side
- with driveway

- where two driveways are 
adjacent

Front or Back to Side

Back to Boundary

Distance 
(metres)

Reason

Protection of residential amenity and to enable 
‘permitted development’ extensions at the rear
Maintenance
Maintenance
Functional distance to achieve vehicular access to the 
rear and provision for maintenance
Distance required to achieve vehicular access to the 
rear of both homes
At the front - for protection of amenity, access and 
maintenance. At the rear - to achieve minimum 
private garden depth plus maintenance strip. 
Protection of residential amenity

21*

1
2
4

6

12

10.5

Key to Basic Standards Diagram 
F - Front
B - Back 
S - Side

CS10

ba
ck

 to
 fr

on
t 2

1m

*not representative of planned development

P
age 173



Escrick Design Code 036

DESIGN CODE S1.4
Infill
Infill development can be integrated provided the 
design and layout of the new buildings respect the 
traditional street scene and character of the village. 

New houses in existing streetscapes should take 
reference from surrounding building heights. This 
will help to maintain and enhance the proportions, 
rhythm and character of the adjacent buildings 
and contribute more successfully to the street as a 
whole.

Where more than one house is proposed as infill, 
each property should aim to be individual in its 
approach to referencing the surroundings, avoiding 
repetition. This would not apply to proposals for 
terraced infill. 

COMPLIMENTING THE STREET - INFILL

New houses in existing streetscapes should take 
reference from surrounding building heights, being no 
taller than the tallest and no shorter than the shortest.

This will help to maintain and enhance the proportions, 
rhythm and character of the adjacent buildings and 
contribute more successfully to the street as a whole.

Successful examples of single houses can be seen 
across the village. These take surrounding building 
heights, materials and proportions and reference them 
within the new design. In the examples below, the Wolds 
Stone, corbels, quoining and triangulated gable details 
add to the quality of the design and suggest a particular 
character that is distinctly from North Cave.

Where more than one house is proposed as infill, each 
property should aim to be individual in its approach to 
referencing the surroundings, avoiding repetition.

BUILDING HEIGHT

too high too short

COMPLIMENTING THE STREET - INFILL

New houses in existing streetscapes should take 
reference from surrounding building heights, being no 
taller than the tallest and no shorter than the shortest.

This will help to maintain and enhance the proportions, 
rhythm and character of the adjacent buildings and 
contribute more successfully to the street as a whole.

Successful examples of single houses can be seen 
across the village. These take surrounding building 
heights, materials and proportions and reference them 
within the new design. In the examples below, the Wolds 
Stone, corbels, quoining and triangulated gable details 
add to the quality of the design and suggest a particular 
character that is distinctly from North Cave.

Where more than one house is proposed as infill, each 
property should aim to be individual in its approach to 
referencing the surroundings, avoiding repetition.

BUILDING HEIGHT

too high too short

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

COMPLIMENTING THE STREET - INFILL

New houses in existing streetscapes should take 
reference from surrounding building heights, being no 
taller than the tallest and no shorter than the shortest.

This will help to maintain and enhance the proportions, 
rhythm and character of the adjacent buildings and 
contribute more successfully to the street as a whole.

Successful examples of single houses can be seen 
across the village. These take surrounding building 
heights, materials and proportions and reference them 
within the new design. In the examples below, the Wolds 
Stone, corbels, quoining and triangulated gable details 
add to the quality of the design and suggest a particular 
character that is distinctly from North Cave.

Where more than one house is proposed as infill, each 
property should aim to be individual in its approach to 
referencing the surroundings, avoiding repetition.

BUILDING HEIGHT

too high too short

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 174



Escrick Design Code 037

How far are 
neighbouring 

properties from 
the street?

What are the 
typical boundary 
treatments in the 

area?

What are the 
height and 
massing of 
buildings? 

Example of infill development

How are 
properties 
orientated?

How do 
properties sit 
within their 

plot, and what 
amount of 

amenity space 
do they have?

*not representative of planned development

Example of 
appropriate infill 

development
All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 175



Escrick Design Code 038

PRACTICALITIES OF
THE HOME
The way homes are designed can positively or negatively 
shape the way in which people live their daily lives. 
Service infrastructure and practicalities of the home 
should be considered as a key part of the design process 
to ensure homes and streets function properly and 
support safe and convenient living. 

Parking, access, storage, renewable energy provision and 
property maintenance are key functions and infrastructure 
that, if designed poorly, can cause visual clutter, detract 
from the streetscene and inconvenience residents and 
visitors. 

This section demonstrates how service infrastructure can 
be designed in a way that supports the needs of users 
whilst contributing to a high quality public realm and 
neighbourhood.
 

Practicalities of the home checklist

• Rooms should be well proportioned and should be large enough to 
function properly for their use

• Front gardens must not be designed for parking alone

• Residents should have secondary access to their rear garden without 
having to walk through the home

• Bin stores should be located where they are convenient for residents as 
well as for refuse collectors, but their visual impact from the street should 
be minimised

• Telephone, radio and television systems should be integrated, and 
servicing should be located to minimise visual impact from the street

• Hard landscaping for parking at the fronts of houses should be permeable 

• Sufficient space around the dwelling should be provided for the long term 
maintenance of the property and for infrastructure provision

P
age 176



Escrick Design Code 039

Are external ground treat-
ments permeable? 
e.g lawn or paving

Can drain pipes be 
located to the side and 

rear of properties?

Are there opportunities to 
collect surface water and 

rain water?

Can the visual 
impact of bin stores 
from the street be 

minimised?

Have television satellite 
dishes been located where 

they are least visually 
intrusive?

Are services 
accessible for 
maintenance?

Are garages designed in 
the same architectural style 

as the house?

*not representative of planned development

Have service infrastructre 
such as gas cylinders and 

oil storage tanks been 
sited and stored safely and 

discreetly? 
Does the front 

garden allow for 
planting?

Is there sufficient 
space around 
the dwelling to 

provide access for 
maintenance?

P
age 177



Escrick Design Code 040

DESIGN CODE P1.1
Internal space
New properties should be designed to 
provide sufficient internal space in line with 
Nationally Described Space Standards. 

It is important that new homes provide 
adequate internal space for the following 
reasons:

• Suitable space for storage 

• Space to study or work from home 

• Ensure rooms are usable and adaptable

• To ensure that furniture fits in rooms

• Health and wellbeing of families 

• Privacy within the home 

• Space for cooking and food preparation 

• Space for family dining

• Circulation and ventilation 

The standard requires that:

a. the dwelling provides at least the gross internal floor area and built-in storage area set out in Table 1 on 
the opposite page

b. a dwelling with two or more bedspaces has at least one double (or twin) bedroom

c. in order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom has a floor area of at least 7.5m2 and is at least 2.15m 
wide

d. in order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin bedroom) has a floor area of at least 11.5m2

e. one double (or twin bedroom) is at least 2.75m wide and every other double (or twin) bedroom is at least 
2.55m wide

f. any area with a headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the Gross Internal Area unless used 
solely for storage (if the area under the stairs is to be used for storage, assume a general floor area of 1m2 
within the Gross Internal Area)

g. any other area that is used solely for storage and has a headroom of 900-1500mm (such as under eaves) 
is counted at 50% of its floor area, and any area lower than 900mm is not counted at all

h. a built-in wardrobe counts towards the Gross Internal Area and bedroom floor area requirements, but 
should not reduce the effective width of the room below the minimum widths set out above. The built-in 
area in excess of 0.72m2 in a double bedroom and 0.36m2 in a single bedroom counts towards the built-in 
storage requirement

i. the minimum floor to ceiling height is 2.3m for at least 75% of the Gross Internal Area

P
age 178



Escrick Design Code 041

P
age 179



Escrick Design Code 042

DESIGN CODE P.1.2
Parking
The relationship between new housing development and parking is an 
important contributor to the success and liveability of the scheme. 

• Car parking should be designed and managed to ensure adequate 
provision for residents and visitors, to minimise the likelihood of 
conflicts and to prevent parked vehicles from blocking emergency 
access. 

• Design should minimise the physical and visual impact of cars on 
people and the environment and design for equal priority amongst 
streets users.

• Unregulated on-street parking (such as on verges and kerbs) should 
be designed out by the arrangements of paving and carriageway, and 
by providing adequate spaces for each dwelling.

• Parking strategies should allow buildings to define streets rather 
than driveways. In this regard, a strong building frontage should be 
encouraged as part of a defined street section.

• Parking location should allow for the possibility of defined and green 
front gardens.

• Parking surfaces should be permeable and minimise surface run-off.

P
age 180



Escrick Design Code 043

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

Parking in the curtilage
Parking within the curtilage of a property 
helps prevent cars from dominating the street 
scene. However, if hard landscaping is not well 
considered and is not balanced with areas of 
soft landscaping then building frontages can be 
overbearing and can exacerbate issues with water 
run-off and potential flooding. 

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

P
age 181



Escrick Design Code 044

DESIGN CODE P1.3
Storage
New properties should provide secure 
storage for cycling equipment. Cycle and 
bin stores should be integrated into the 
garden and screened from the street.

Bin storage must be adequately provided 
for with each dwelling having sufficient 
space for 4 recycling bins. Adequate 
space must be available for bins to be 
wheeled to collection points easily. 

The location of individual and communal 
bins should be considered from the 
outset in all proposals, with a clear design 
strategy outlined. 

Bins should not be visible from the 
streetscape and the location of and 
access to bin storage should encourage 
households to bring in their bins directly 
after collection. High quality and robust 
materials should be used for bin storage 
that tie into surrounding materials and 
detailing.

BIN STORAGE

The location of individual and communal bins should be 
considered from the outset in all proposals, with a clear 
design strategy outlined. Bins should not be visible from 
the streetscape and the location of and access to bin 
storage should encourage households to bring in their 
bins directly after collection. High quality and robust 
materials should be used for bin storage that tie into 
surrounding materials and detailing.

Bins should 
not be visible 
from the street

Avoid cheap 
materials

consider a 
change in level 
to screen bins

robust and 
integrated

keep building integrated 
access doors away from 
entrances

provide direct and level 
hard landscaping route 
from side / rear bin 
stores to street

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS

Hedges: Existing hedges should be retained and 
incorporated. New hedges should consider whether 
evergreens (such as Yew or Holly) or deciduous 
varieties (such as Beech or Hornbeam) are required 
and how they will be maintained. 
Walls: Walls should be designed to be structurally 
sound and detailed and decorated to match the main 
house. Capping should be incorporated in brick, 
tile or terracotta to improve durability and weather 
resistance.

As with the design of new dwellings, new boundary 
treatments should reference the existing boundary 
treatments that can be found within North Cave. As 
shown above, the nature of current boundary treatments 
changes towards the village centre to being more formal 
in their design. 
A mixture of formal and natural boundary treatments 
should be included across new developments  and take 
cues from existing built form in close proximity.

Appropriate boundary treatments include:

RURAL VILLAGE CENTRE

hedge: maintained to approx.
1m when used to front
Can be grown higher when 
used to the side or the rear 
of property

Wolds stone wall with brick 
detailing up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Honey / red brick wall with 
coping up to 1m in height
Honey / red brick wall with 
coping up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Timber fence: vertical closed 
board with capping. Only to 
be used to rear of properties 
to seperate gardens. Must 
not face the street

Wolds stone wall with hedge 
above. Up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Honey / red brick wall with 
coping and hedge above. 
Up to 1m in height (when 
used at front). Up to 2m to 
side and rear (with piers at 
regular intervals)

Wolds stone / brick wall with 
metal railings above. Up to 
1m in height (when used at 
front). Up to 2m to side and 
rear (with piers at regular 
intervals)

Metal railings on stone base. 
Up to 1m in height (when 
used at front). Up to 2m to 
side and rear.

BIN STORAGE

The location of individual and communal bins should be 
considered from the outset in all proposals, with a clear 
design strategy outlined. Bins should not be visible from 
the streetscape and the location of and access to bin 
storage should encourage households to bring in their 
bins directly after collection. High quality and robust 
materials should be used for bin storage that tie into 
surrounding materials and detailing.

Bins should 
not be visible 
from the street

Avoid cheap 
materials

consider a 
change in level 
to screen bins

robust and 
integrated

keep building integrated 
access doors away from 
entrances

provide direct and level 
hard landscaping route 
from side / rear bin 
stores to street

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS

Hedges: Existing hedges should be retained and 
incorporated. New hedges should consider whether 
evergreens (such as Yew or Holly) or deciduous 
varieties (such as Beech or Hornbeam) are required 
and how they will be maintained. 
Walls: Walls should be designed to be structurally 
sound and detailed and decorated to match the main 
house. Capping should be incorporated in brick, 
tile or terracotta to improve durability and weather 
resistance.

As with the design of new dwellings, new boundary 
treatments should reference the existing boundary 
treatments that can be found within North Cave. As 
shown above, the nature of current boundary treatments 
changes towards the village centre to being more formal 
in their design. 
A mixture of formal and natural boundary treatments 
should be included across new developments  and take 
cues from existing built form in close proximity.

Appropriate boundary treatments include:

RURAL VILLAGE CENTRE

hedge: maintained to approx.
1m when used to front
Can be grown higher when 
used to the side or the rear 
of property

Wolds stone wall with brick 
detailing up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Honey / red brick wall with 
coping up to 1m in height
Honey / red brick wall with 
coping up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Timber fence: vertical closed 
board with capping. Only to 
be used to rear of properties 
to seperate gardens. Must 
not face the street

Wolds stone wall with hedge 
above. Up to 1m in height
(when used at front). Up to 
2m to side and rear (with 
piers at regular intervals)

Honey / red brick wall with 
coping and hedge above. 
Up to 1m in height (when 
used at front). Up to 2m to 
side and rear (with piers at 
regular intervals)

Wolds stone / brick wall with 
metal railings above. Up to 
1m in height (when used at 
front). Up to 2m to side and 
rear (with piers at regular 
intervals)

Metal railings on stone base. 
Up to 1m in height (when 
used at front). Up to 2m to 
side and rear.

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 1

12Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.07.01 Wakefield Council’s Waste Development Plan Document deals with all 
planning matters associated with waste management in the District. Policy W7 
states a waste management plan must be provided with all planning applications 
for significant development. As part of the plan it may be appropriate to consider 
some, or all, of the following: 

1.07.02 Design: Consider how the design and materials of bin stores integrates 
with the architectural treatment of the home. Consider what residents and visitors 
will see as they approach the home and the appearance of the development 
on collection days. Bins should not have a negative impact on the surrounding 
environment but should remain easy to collect. 

1.07.03 Space Requirements: Each home must have enough space for three 
240 litre wheelie bins (for refuse, recycling and garden waste). Adequate space 
must be available for bins to be wheeled to collection points easily. 

1.07.04 Placement: Bin stores should be to the side or rear of houses or off the 
street in a protected enclosure screening them visually from the street. 

1.07.05 Terrace housing: Designate an enclosed section of a porch or boundary 
structure for bins. Shared rear access paths to mid terraces are discouraged 
unless access meets secure by design standards and is for bin storage. 

1.07.06 Flexibility: There may be a need to accommodate changes to waste 
technology or the extent of recycling in the future. Try to design storage that can 
accommodate additional bins.

1.07 Storage of Waste

Storage behind garage-type doors
Bins are concealed from the street by screens 
that respond to the architecture of the home. 

Storage integrated into porch
Bins are stored adjacent to front doors, 
integrated into a wide porch.

Storage in front of homes
Bins are kept in screened purpose-built 
stores in front of homes along the property 
boundary.

W7

Storage integrated 
into porch
Bins are stored 
adjacent to front 
doors, integrated into 
a wide porch. 

Storage behind 
garage-type door
Bins are concealed 
fron the street by 
screens that respond 
to the architecture of 
the home. 

Storage in front of 
homes
Bins are kept in 
screened purpose-
built stories in front 
of homes along the 
property boundary.

P
age 182



Escrick Design Code 045

Renewable technologies
Technologies that help developments generate, 
store and distribute electricity sustainably, or reduce 
the amount of resources a dwelling requires are a 
requirement for new housing in Escrick. 

While solar panels are encouraged, their appearance 
from the street should be considered to assess 
whether there is a visual impact. Ground source 
heat pumps should be located to the side or rear of 
properties to not detract from the street scene. 

Sustainability 
An important factor in good design is the 
sustainability of the proposal. All new 
developments should promote high levels of 
sustainability which can reduce carbon emissions, 
increase energy efficiency, and lead to healthier 
and happier communities. 

EV charging
EV Charging for existing properties
There are two options for charging an electric car 
at home: using a domestic three-pin socket or a 
dedicated EV charge point. We would encourage 
dedicated home charge points as the safest method 
of domestic charging.

EV charging for new developments 
We expect that developers will install dedicated 
home charge points.  Any EV charge point 
installations must adhere to the most current 
IET code of practice for electric vehicle charging 
equipment installations. 

P
age 183



Escrick Design Code 046

Accessible and adaptable homes

Homes should be designed in a way that makes them accessible for 
occupants and with the ability to be easily adaptable to meet the changing 
needs of users.  

Accessible and adaptable homes aim to make life as easy as possible for 
occupants for as long as posible because they are thoughtfully designed. 
They provide accessible and adaptable accommodation for everyone 
including people with temporary of permanent physical impairments. 

Providing homes to these standards should allow older people to stay in 
their own homes for longer, reduce the need for home adaptations and 
give greater choice to disabled people who cannot achieve independent 
living due to lack of suitable housing. 

Guidance is included her to make it easier for applicants and designers to 
understand both the benefits and points to consider if designing to these 
standards. These standards are currently optional but are encouraged. 

The Government is considering forcing all new homes to be built to be fully 
accessible and adaptable to suit older or disabled people and may change 
building regulations to ensure all developments must meet the “category 
2” standard for accessibility – broadly equivalent to the old “Lifetime 
Homes” standard. Category 2 means a home must be accessible to most 
people and able to suit older people, those with reduced mobility and 
some wheelchair users. Requirements include level access front and rear 
doors, an entrance level bathroom, kitchen and dining area and low height 
windows.The standard is already defined in Part M of the building regs. but 
currently it is not mandatory, although local authorities can require a certain 
proportion of homes in their area meet it.

The 16 areas accessible homes are concerned with are: 

1. Parking (width and widening)
2. Approach to dwelling from parking (distance, gradient and widths)
3. Approach to all entrances
4. Entrances
5. Communal stairs and lifts
6. Internal doorways and hallways
7. Circulation space
8. Entrance level living space
9. Potential for entrance level bed-space
10. Entrance level WC and shower drainage
11. WC and bathroom walls
12. Stairs and potential through-floor lift in dwelling
13. Potential for fitting of hoists and bedroom / bathroom
14. Bathrooms
15. Glazing and window handle heights
16. Location of service controls

These are explained in the following illustrations. 

P
age 184



Escrick Design Code 047

Glazing and Window
 H

andle Heights

St
ai

rs
 a

nd provision of stair lift 

En
tr

an
ce

 Level WC and Show
er D

rainage 

In
te

rn
al

 Doorways 

Glazing and Window Handle Heights 
To allow a reasonable view from the living spaces, the 
windows glazing should start no higher than 800mm 
above floor level. There should also be potential for a 
750mm wide approach route to the window to enable a 
wheelchair user access.

Circulation space
Living rooms/ dining areas should be 
capable of having a clear turning circle 
of 1500mm diametre. Furthermore, 
basic circulation space for wheelchair 
users should be implemented 
elsewhere.

The existing stairs should have the potential for stair-lift instal-
lation without significant alteration or reinforcement. A clear 

width of 900mm should be provided on the stairs.

Potential for entrance level 
bed-space
In dwellings with two or more 
storeys, with no permanent 
bedroom on the entrance 
level, there should be space 
on the entrance level that 
could be used as a convenient 
temporary bed-space.

The minimum clear 
opening width of any 
doorway within a dwell-
ing, when the approach 
to the door is ‘head on’ 
is 750mm.

Where an accessible bathroom is 
not provided on the entrance level 
of a dwelling, the entrance level 
should have an accessible WC 
compartment, with potential for a 
shower to be installed.

Circulation space
Walls in all bathrooms and WC 
compartments should be capable of firm 
fixing and support for adaptions such as 
grab rails.

P
age 185



Escrick Design Code 048

Internal Hallw
ays 

Lo
ca

tio
n of service controls

Provisi
on

 o
f t

hr
ou

gh
-fl

oor lift 

WC and bathroom
 w

alls

Movement in 
hallways and through 
doorways should be 
as convenient to the 
widest range of people. 
If the dwelling provides 
adequate door opening 
widths the minimum 
width of any hallway/
landing in a dwelling is 
900mm.

An accessible bathroom 
should be provided on 
the same storey as a 
main bedroom.

A suitable identified space 
for a through the floor lift 
from the entrance level to 
a storey containing a main 
bedroom and bathroom is 
required. The minimum space 
allocated should be 1000mm 
x 1500mm.

Location of service controls should 
be within a height band of 450mm 
to 1200mm from the floor level and 
at least 300mm away from any 
internal room corner.

First Floor

P
age 186



Escrick Design Code 049

Entrances

En
tr

an
ce

s

Entrances

Approach to all entrances
The approach to all 
entrances should preferably 
be level or gently sloping.

All entrances must be 
illuminated

On plot parking
Where a dwelling has car parking within its 
individual plot boundary at least one space 
length should be capable of enlargement to 
achieve a minimum  width of 3300mm.

All entrances must have level access 
over the threshold (max 15mm up-

stand) and have clear opening widths 
of 800mm.

All main entrances should 
be covered to provide 
weather protection for 
those unlocking or waiting 
at the door.

External 

P
age 187



Escrick Design Code 050

EXTENSIONS AND 
ALTERATIONS
Many homeowners choose to extend or alter their 
properties to meet their changing needs. In the current 
context of the Covid-19 pandemic people are spending 
more time at home and many require additional space 
to help facilitate homeworking or other activities. 

It is important that extensions and alterations are 
designed and undertaken sympathetically to the 
property and the street scene. 

This means ensuring that the proposals respond to 
the form and proportions of the property and are of 
an appropriate size and scale. Materials should also 
complement or match existing and neighbouring 
materials. Architectural detailing should reference 
existing details found on the property such as style of 
windows or brick detailing. 

Extensions and alterations can also have a detrimental 
impact on neighbouring properties or their boundaries 
so these should be carefully considered when designing. 

Extensions or alterations should seek to retain space 
around the dwelling for movement, maintenance and 
to ensure there is no negative impact on neighbouring 
properties. 

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

All elevations of new houses should be treated as 
important and include fenestration. This will avoid a 
visual clash between the front of the house and the side. 
Unsightly elements such as meter boxes, satellite dishes 
and and pipework should be designed and located to 
minimise the impact on the elevation.

Skylights should not be included on roofs facing the 
street. Instead, dormer windows will be acceptable to 
provide natural light and contribute to the skyline of the 
street.

Where a house is to be set back from the main building 
line, the resulting space should be adequately planted 
and greened to contribute to the rural character of the 
village.

The inclusion of front parking should be avoided in both 
existing and new properties. The boundary treatments to 
gardens are important contributors to the character of 
the village and should be maintained.

Houses should be orientated so that the principal 
elevation faces the main street. Presenting a blank gable 
end to the street must be avoided to ensure that there is 
activity and passive surveillance to the street. 

This orientation will also help to define streetscapes 
more clearly and enclose space more successfully.

Orientation should be considered to maximise 
opportunities for increased internal daylight and the 
inclusion of renewable energy technologies.

MEETING THE STREET

ORIENTATION ELEVATIONS FRONT GARDENS

Unacceptable extension

• Extension is not subservient to 
the existing dwelling

• Brick and roof tiles are not 
matched 

• Rhythm and style of fenestration 
does not match

• Scale of extension is too large
• Inappropriate dormer window

Acceptable extension

• Extension is subservient to the 
existing dwelling by being set 
back

• Brick and roof tiles are matched 
• Rhythm and style of fenestration 

matches existing
• Scale of extension is 

sympathetic
• Side elevation has fenestration 

that matches the existingP
age 188



Escrick Design Code 05151Escrick Village Design Code

DESIGN CODE E1.1
Materials 
Materials used for the repair or alteration of 
buildings, for new buildings, and for surfacing 
and boundaries should complement the existing 
high quality palette of materials that typifies the 
character of the area.  Materials proposed for 
the use in building extensions shall complement 
those used in the existing building.

Use locally appropriate materials. Materials 
proposed for the use in building extensions shall 
complement those used in the existing building.

Differing materials on an extension or a different 
design approach may result in a development 
appearing incongruous. Whilst, exceptionally, an 
extension may intentionally be designed to be 
contrasting, such an approach will need to be 
carefully justified and its success will rely on a 
high quality design. Cladding is not considered 
appropriate in Escrick. 

P
age 189



Escrick Design Code 052

DESIGN CODE E1.2
Side Extensions
Detached, Semi-detached or End-terraced Properties

Side extensions should generally be designed to:

•  generally be set back 450mm from the front elevation*

•  have the ridge level lower than the main ridge

•  have a hipped or pitched roof match with the original in terms  
 of pitch and shape

•  leave at least a 2m distance between the extension and the  
 side boundary for maintenance and access.

•  have materials that match the original house in type, colour  
 and detail

•  maintain space for parking within the plot

09

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property

“(...)Extensions and alterations to dwellings 
shall respect residential amenity, the 
character and scale of the dwelling, and its 
location(...)” Development Policy D10

1.06.01 An attempt to exactly match the 
existing style and proportions may not always 
be possible or appropriate. However, it is 
generally advised that referencing aspects 
of the existing external appearance is good 
practice in order to create an addition that 
harmonises with the existing property. 

1.06.02 A contrasting extension design 
may be acceptable if its relationship with 
the existing home has been well considered 
and the design process is convincingly 
demonstrated.

The form and scale of 
this extension are not well 
considered in relation to 
the original house. It is not 
set back or down from the 
existing house. 

This extension is set back 
from the building frontage, 
and set down from the roof 
line. 

Hunt House, Sheffield
Halliday Clark Architects

This extension is not set down from the existing 
building, however, it reflects principles of 
subordinate design through the glazed link 
between the original house and the new extension. 
This glazed link is subordinate, as it is both set 
back and set down in relation to the original 
house. The use of contrasting materials creates 
a strong visual break between the original house 
and the extension. 
The extension is for an end-of-terrace plot, and 
clearly defines the end of the block of houses. This 
decision reflects good urban design principles and 
adds character to the street.
The scheme won the self-build category of the 
Telegraph Homebuilding and Renovating Magazine 
Awards 2011.

Comply or Justify case study: 

Im
ag

e 
01

NPPFD9 D10 Relationship to Existing House: Subordinate Design

1.06.03 Subordinate design means design that allows the 
original building to remain dominant in terms of massing, 
height and position. Extensions should normally be 
subordinate to the original house to reduce its visual impact. 

1.06.04 Wakefield Council will be looking to see that 
proposed extensions are:

a) set back from the front of the house
b) set down from existing roof line

1.06.05 The appropriate distance that an extension should 
be set back and set down will depend on the size of the 
existing house and the design of the extension. As a guide it is 
recommended that extensions are set back by a minimum of 
500mm and set down by a minimum 500mm.  

© Camera Crew

09

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property

“(...)Extensions and alterations to dwellings 
shall respect residential amenity, the 
character and scale of the dwelling, and its 
location(...)” Development Policy D10

1.06.01 An attempt to exactly match the 
existing style and proportions may not always 
be possible or appropriate. However, it is 
generally advised that referencing aspects 
of the existing external appearance is good 
practice in order to create an addition that 
harmonises with the existing property. 

1.06.02 A contrasting extension design 
may be acceptable if its relationship with 
the existing home has been well considered 
and the design process is convincingly 
demonstrated.

The form and scale of 
this extension are not well 
considered in relation to 
the original house. It is not 
set back or down from the 
existing house. 

This extension is set back 
from the building frontage, 
and set down from the roof 
line. 

Hunt House, Sheffield
Halliday Clark Architects

This extension is not set down from the existing 
building, however, it reflects principles of 
subordinate design through the glazed link 
between the original house and the new extension. 
This glazed link is subordinate, as it is both set 
back and set down in relation to the original 
house. The use of contrasting materials creates 
a strong visual break between the original house 
and the extension. 
The extension is for an end-of-terrace plot, and 
clearly defines the end of the block of houses. This 
decision reflects good urban design principles and 
adds character to the street.
The scheme won the self-build category of the 
Telegraph Homebuilding and Renovating Magazine 
Awards 2011.

Comply or Justify case study: 

Im
ag

e 
01

NPPFD9 D10 Relationship to Existing House: Subordinate Design

1.06.03 Subordinate design means design that allows the 
original building to remain dominant in terms of massing, 
height and position. Extensions should normally be 
subordinate to the original house to reduce its visual impact. 

1.06.04 Wakefield Council will be looking to see that 
proposed extensions are:

a) set back from the front of the house
b) set down from existing roof line

1.06.05 The appropriate distance that an extension should 
be set back and set down will depend on the size of the 
existing house and the design of the extension. As a guide it is 
recommended that extensions are set back by a minimum of 
500mm and set down by a minimum 500mm.  

© Camera Crew

11

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property (continued)

Roof verge 
to dormer

Before: After:

Cedar 
shingles Juliet 

balcony

Reclaimed 
bricks

Angle of new 
roof parallel to 

original roof

New metal 
framed 

bi-folding 
doors

Materiality 

1.06.09 Materiality means the building finish - e.g. brick, 
render, timber etc. Materials chosen for an extension 
should match or be complimentary to the existing house. 

1.06.10 When extending older properties (e.g. Victorian 
and Edwardian) it is not usually possible to find bricks 
that match the handmade bricks of the past. Where areas 
of brickwork are being removed to make new openings, 
bricks can be salvaged and re-used in the new extension. 

1.06.11 If a direct match is not possible, or not deemed 
appropriate, then it is advisable to choose an alternative 
material that is already evident in the street scene. 

Here the materiality 
of the of the extension 
has not been well 
considered in relation 
to the original house, 
causing it to look out of 
place. 

The roof tiles and brick 
plinth of the extension 
help visually connect the 
extension to the original 
house.

Greyswood Street, London
Integreat Plus

The extension to this Victorian terraced 
house creates a new 4th bedroom at 
roof level and a kitchen extension at the 
ground floor.
Materials have been carefully chosen 
to complement the original brickwork. 
Cedar shingles clad the new dormer 
and the colour of the shingles has been 
selected from the same colour spectrum 
as the original bricks. 
In this example the bricks that were 
removed to make an opening for the 
bi-fold doors have been re-used to create 
the kitchen side extension. This creates 
a very subtle transition between the 
original house and the extension. 
The dark roof verge and window frames 
throughout the rear elevation help to unify 
the house overall. 

Pitch roof matches slope 
and materiality of the 

original roof

Im
ag

es
 0

2 
&

 0
3

Space around dwellings

• Extensions, installation of air source heat pumps 
or side stores must not restrict or impede safe 
access to the property at the side.   

• In the case of small detached, semi-detached 
and end-of-terrace dwellings a minimum gap of 
*1m must be maintained between any wall of the 
dwelling and the side boundary.

• However on a corner plot and in the case of a 
large detached or semi-detached house (ie over 
10m wide) a gap of at least *2m will be required.  
An exception may be made in the case of a link 
semi-detached dwellings where pairs of houses 
are linked by pairs of garages.

• Detached garages to the side of a dwelling 
may also be acceptable abutting the boundary, 
but should maintain a gap of 1m between the 
dwelling and the garage to provide access to 
the rear garden.

P
age 190



Escrick Design Code 053

Corner Plots

Corner plots or properties which face 
two public streets can be particularly 
prominent. Many corner plots are 
characterised by having side gardens that 
have an open character which provides 
good visibility for pedestrians and 
motorists. It is advisable for coner plots to 
not project beyond the building lines of 
neighbouring properties. This applies to 
single and double storey properties. 

The following criteria for corner plots 
should be met in addition to the above 
requirements:

• The width of the extension should not 
be more than half the width of the original 
frontage of the property

• The depth of the extension should 
not be more than half the depth of the 
garden. Where properties have large rear 
gardens this figure should be reduced 
proportionately. 

12

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property (continued)

Rosemary clay tiles

Black gutters and 
downpipes with 

traditional profile 

Details 

1.06.12 Carefully considering the detail of the design is 
highly important in order to ensure your project comes 
together successfully. Along with siting, scale, and 
massing, sensible detailing is a fundamental part of the 
design process. 

1.06.13 Door surrounds, window openings, soldier 
courses, eaves and verges are some of the building 
elements that can be designed to reflect the original 
house. 

Window proportions do 
not match the original 
windows and there is 
no effort to reference 
original brick details. 
Two storey flat roof 
extensions are generally 
discouraged.  

Brick detailing and 
window surrounds, and 
windows of a similar 
style and proportion, 
help create an extension 
that sits well with the 
original house.

The Old Manse, East Hardwick
Anthony J Blaza & Associates

This single storey extension in Wakefield District 
has been carefully designed and constructed to 
reflect the details of the original house. 
The new slate roof is constructed so that 
it smoothly connects with the existing roof  
seamlessly.
Gutters and downpipes are black to reflect 
traditional cast-iron rainwater goods, and have a 
traditional profile. 
Stonework and roof colours very closely match the 
main house.

Im
ag

e 
04

1.06.14 Rainwater goods should copy the existing 
even if they are made of a different material.

1.06.15 Elements to consider in relation to the 
existing house and the surrounding buildings:

1.06.16 Often it is a home’s details that create a 
visual and contextual relationship to the past whilst 
also looking to the future. 

porches eaves and verges doors and 
surrounds

materials and 
colours

brick detailing window details

This proposed extension 
retains a 2 metre gap 
between the edge of the 
extension and the shared 
boundary, therefore 
allowing sufficient space 
for the maintenance of both 
properties. 

2 metre

12

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property (continued)

Rosemary clay tiles

Black gutters and 
downpipes with 

traditional profile 

Details 

1.06.12 Carefully considering the detail of the design is 
highly important in order to ensure your project comes 
together successfully. Along with siting, scale, and 
massing, sensible detailing is a fundamental part of the 
design process. 

1.06.13 Door surrounds, window openings, soldier 
courses, eaves and verges are some of the building 
elements that can be designed to reflect the original 
house. 

Window proportions do 
not match the original 
windows and there is 
no effort to reference 
original brick details. 
Two storey flat roof 
extensions are generally 
discouraged.  

Brick detailing and 
window surrounds, and 
windows of a similar 
style and proportion, 
help create an extension 
that sits well with the 
original house.

The Old Manse, East Hardwick
Anthony J Blaza & Associates

This single storey extension in Wakefield District 
has been carefully designed and constructed to 
reflect the details of the original house. 
The new slate roof is constructed so that 
it smoothly connects with the existing roof  
seamlessly.
Gutters and downpipes are black to reflect 
traditional cast-iron rainwater goods, and have a 
traditional profile. 
Stonework and roof colours very closely match the 
main house.

Im
ag

e 
04

1.06.14 Rainwater goods should copy the existing 
even if they are made of a different material.

1.06.15 Elements to consider in relation to the 
existing house and the surrounding buildings:

1.06.16 Often it is a home’s details that create a 
visual and contextual relationship to the past whilst 
also looking to the future. 

porches eaves and verges doors and 
surrounds

materials and 
colours

brick detailing window details

P
age 191



Escrick Design Code 054

DESIGN CODE E1.3
Rear Extensions: 

Single Storey
Rear extensions, including conservatories, should not 
dominate, nor significantly alter, the existing levels of 
sunlight, privacy and daylight to adjoining and adjacent 
properties. 

The following aspects should be considered when 
designing a single-storey rear extension:
•  size, height, orientation and materials
•  proximity to the boundary and windows of  
 adjacent properties 
•  the size of the remaining garden
•  the extent to which any adjacent properties  
 have already been extended. 
•  minimum back to back (21m) and side to side  

 (2m) distances should be maintained

Consideration will be given to the use of mono-pitched 
roofs for single-storey extensions thus overcoming 
the problems of building up to the boundary and 
overhanging gutters.

10

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property (continued)

Relationship to Existing House: Over 
Development

1.06.06 Aims: 

•	 To prevent development which reduces the 
space outside a property, thereby causing 
significant harm to residential facilities and 
assets such as a school, a park, or a view

•	 To prevent development that restricts the space 
needed to adequately service properties in terms 
of: 

i) Bin Storage
ii) parking
iii) Carrying out maintenance to the property 
iv) Water Drainage

1.06.07 Development will not normally be approved 
if it results in more than half of the garden being 
developed, or if it causes harm to residential 
facilities and assets. 

1.06.08 For small gardens, development which 
results in the effective loss of an existing functional 
garden will not normally be permitted.

proposed plan:

proposed perspective:

This proposal would not be 
accepted as:
• the new extension blocks 

the side access to the 
house and the garden;

• more than half the 
garden is being 
developed.

Proposed Extension

Existing plan:

Boundary line

Street

Adjoining house

Rear garden

proposed plan:

proposed perspective:

Proposed Extension

This proposal would be 
accepted as:
• movement along the 

side of the house is not 
interrupted;

• the majority of the 
garden is kept.

10

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.06 Design in Relation to the Existing property (continued)

Relationship to Existing House: Over 
Development

1.06.06 Aims: 

•	 To prevent development which reduces the 
space outside a property, thereby causing 
significant harm to residential facilities and 
assets such as a school, a park, or a view

•	 To prevent development that restricts the space 
needed to adequately service properties in terms 
of: 

i) Bin Storage
ii) parking
iii) Carrying out maintenance to the property 
iv) Water Drainage

1.06.07 Development will not normally be approved 
if it results in more than half of the garden being 
developed, or if it causes harm to residential 
facilities and assets. 

1.06.08 For small gardens, development which 
results in the effective loss of an existing functional 
garden will not normally be permitted.

proposed plan:

proposed perspective:

This proposal would not be 
accepted as:
• the new extension blocks 

the side access to the 
house and the garden;

• more than half the 
garden is being 
developed.

Proposed Extension

Existing plan:

Boundary line

Street

Adjoining house

Rear garden

proposed plan:

proposed perspective:

Proposed Extension

This proposal would be 
accepted as:
• movement along the 

side of the house is not 
interrupted;

• the majority of the 
garden is kept.

P
age 192



Escrick Design Code 055

Semi-detached or End-terraced properties

For semi-detached or end-terraced properties, a 
single-storey extension is generally acceptable if:

• It does not cause any significant loss of daylight 
to the principal habitable rooms in neighbouring 
properties.

• Its length does not exceed 3m measured externally

Detached properties

For detached properties, a single-storey 
extension is generally acceptable if:

• It does not cause any significant loss of 
daylight to the principal habitable rooms in 
neighbouring properties.

• Its length does not exceed 4m measured 
externally

P
age 193



Escrick Design Code 056

DESIGN CODE E1.4
Rear Extensions: 
Two-storey
Careful consideration should be given to the design of 
two-storey rear extensions as they can have a serious 
impact on neighbouring properties, such as poor 
outlook, overshadowing and overlooking into adjacent 
windows and private gardens.

The impact of overshadowing will increase if the 
neighbouring property is located to the north of the 
proposed extension.

The following aspects should be considered when 
designing a two-storey rear extension:

•  size, height, orientation and materials 

•  proximity to the boundary and windows of  
 adjacent properties

•  the size of the remaining garden 

•  the extent to which any adjacent properties  
 have already been extended

Detached, Semi-detached or End-terraced 
properties

A two-storey extension is generally acceptable if:

• It does not cause any significant loss of daylight to 
the principal habitable rooms.

• Its length does not exceed 3m (semi-detached and 
end-terraced properties) or 4m (detached properties) 
measured externally

• It maintains a minimum distance of 21m between 
the first floor main window of the extension and your 
neighbour’s facing windows 

• It has blank walls, it should still maintain a 
minimum distance of 12m from the main windows of 
neighbouring buildings

• It has a pitched roof to match the existing roof where 
it is visible from the public highway* or other public 
areas

21

While this design code is relevant 
for extensions requiring planning 
permission, it is worth noting that 
two storey rear extensions can be 
built on the rear under ‘Permitted 
Development’ rights, subject to 
meeting the specified criteria. 

P
age 194



Escrick Design Code 057

DESIGN CODE E1.5
Dormer Windows
The design of dormer windows should avoid:

•  creating a dominant ‘top heavy’ appearance  
 out of proportion with the rest of the building

•  exceeding the height of the main ridge

•  wrapping round the side ridges of a hipped  
 roof

•  causing overlooking or loss of privacy to  
 neighbours

•  exceeding more that 1/3 of the face area of the  
 roof (a number of smaller individual dormer  
 windows is preferred to a large continuous  
 one)

A dormer extension is generally acceptable if:

•  its design is subordinate to the roof

•  its height and length are kept to a minimum

•  the materials harmonise with those of the  
 existing roof

•  preference is that dormers are located to the  
 rear of properties where possible

23

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.11 Roof Extensions and Alterations

Changing the height, rhythm or form of a 
roof will not usually be acceptable in areas 
where the roof pitches and heights in the 
streetscape are consistent. 

1.11.01 Increasing the height of a property 
by amending the roof pitch or eaves height, 
will significantly affect the character and 
proportions of the building and will impact on 
the surrounding streetscape and is usually 
not acceptable. 

1.11.02 proposals should usually match the 
pitch angle of the original house, and should 
be set down by at least 500mm from the 
original roofline. 

1.11.03 Extensions to houses with hipped 
roofs should normally have hipped roofs. 

1.11.04 Roof extensions should be similar in 
materiality to the main house.

1.11.05 Consider including mitigation 
measures  for wildlife and protected species. 
Mitigation measures may include: 
i) providing bat boxes and roost creation 
opportunities in lofts
ii) protection of foraging habitats and 
provision of nesting places for Barn Owls 
typically in a roof void or within the structure 
of a roof or wall
iii) providing swift bricks and nesting boxes

1.11.09 Wakefield Council will be looking to see that 
proposed dormers:

i) reflect the style and materiality of the existing 
house and re-use existing materials from the roof 
where possible. The use of wide barge boards and 
inappropriate material will be resisted. Timber and 
upVC cladding should also be avoided;

ii) are detailed to reflect the roof and gutter details of 
the main roof;

iii) are set down from the ridge of the roof;

iv) are set in from the sides of the roof;

v) are positioned well in relation to windows on lower 
levels; 

vi) do not take up more than one third of the roof area 
at the front of the house; 

vii) do not overlook neighbours. 

Dormer Windows

1.11.05 When designing a dormer window it is advisable 
to start by looking at the street and wider area for good 
examples of existing dormer windows. A proposal is 
more likely to be accepted where there are similar local 
examples. 

1.11.06 If dormer windows are not common in an area, 
the applicant must clearly show that any part of the 
dormer that can be seen from the street will not have a 
negative effect on the property or the street scene. 

1.11.07 Ideally dormers should be located to the rear of 
a house. Front dormer windows on unbroken terraced 
roof slopes will not usually be acceptable. 

1.11.08 Dormers to the front of a semi-detached 
property where the neighbouring property does not have 
a dormer are unlikely to be approved. 

These rooflights are small, 
well proportioned, and well 
aligned with the elevation 
below and would therefore 
be acceptable.

These rooflights would be 
unacceptable due to being 
too close to the eaves and 
verge; being of varying 
proportions and sizes, and 
not aligning with the elevation 
below.

D10

23

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

1.11 Roof Extensions and Alterations

Changing the height, rhythm or form of a 
roof will not usually be acceptable in areas 
where the roof pitches and heights in the 
streetscape are consistent. 

1.11.01 Increasing the height of a property 
by amending the roof pitch or eaves height, 
will significantly affect the character and 
proportions of the building and will impact on 
the surrounding streetscape and is usually 
not acceptable. 

1.11.02 proposals should usually match the 
pitch angle of the original house, and should 
be set down by at least 500mm from the 
original roofline. 

1.11.03 Extensions to houses with hipped 
roofs should normally have hipped roofs. 

1.11.04 Roof extensions should be similar in 
materiality to the main house.

1.11.05 Consider including mitigation 
measures  for wildlife and protected species. 
Mitigation measures may include: 
i) providing bat boxes and roost creation 
opportunities in lofts
ii) protection of foraging habitats and 
provision of nesting places for Barn Owls 
typically in a roof void or within the structure 
of a roof or wall
iii) providing swift bricks and nesting boxes

1.11.09 Wakefield Council will be looking to see that 
proposed dormers:

i) reflect the style and materiality of the existing 
house and re-use existing materials from the roof 
where possible. The use of wide barge boards and 
inappropriate material will be resisted. Timber and 
upVC cladding should also be avoided;

ii) are detailed to reflect the roof and gutter details of 
the main roof;

iii) are set down from the ridge of the roof;

iv) are set in from the sides of the roof;

v) are positioned well in relation to windows on lower 
levels; 

vi) do not take up more than one third of the roof area 
at the front of the house; 

vii) do not overlook neighbours. 

Dormer Windows

1.11.05 When designing a dormer window it is advisable 
to start by looking at the street and wider area for good 
examples of existing dormer windows. A proposal is 
more likely to be accepted where there are similar local 
examples. 

1.11.06 If dormer windows are not common in an area, 
the applicant must clearly show that any part of the 
dormer that can be seen from the street will not have a 
negative effect on the property or the street scene. 

1.11.07 Ideally dormers should be located to the rear of 
a house. Front dormer windows on unbroken terraced 
roof slopes will not usually be acceptable. 

1.11.08 Dormers to the front of a semi-detached 
property where the neighbouring property does not have 
a dormer are unlikely to be approved. 

These rooflights are small, 
well proportioned, and well 
aligned with the elevation 
below and would therefore 
be acceptable.

These rooflights would be 
unacceptable due to being 
too close to the eaves and 
verge; being of varying 
proportions and sizes, and 
not aligning with the elevation 
below.

D10

P
age 195



Escrick Design Code 058

24

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

Roof Lights

1.11.17 Rooflights can be the best way to obtain natural light into a loft conversion 
or roof space and do not always require planning permission. 

1.11.18 Where planning permission is required, Wakefield Council will be looking 
to see that: 

i) the location and number of rooflights introduced is not detrimental to the 
character of the property;
ii) they are located to the least visible aspect of a roof where possible.

1.11.19 While solar panels are encouraged, the Council advise that their 
appearance from the street is considered in addition to their energy efficiency.

Pitched roof dormer windows

1.11.10 pitched roof dormers should be well designed additions which retain the 
original roof form. 

1.11.11 Traditional pitched roof dormer windows should be a maximum of 1.5 
metres wide. pitched roof dormers on modern properties may be slightly wider 
than 1.5 metres. 

1.11.12 Two smaller pitched roof dormers may look better than one large dormer 
or window, particularly if they can be aligned with windows below. 

1.11.13 These are three common types of pitched roof dormers. Choosing a 
dormer roof type that mirrors your existing roof is a good way to ensure that the 
dormer looks in-keeping with the original house. 

1.11 Roof Extensions and Alterations (continued)

Flat roof dormer windows

1.11.14 Flat roof extensions and dormers are much harder to design and detail 
well than those with pitched roofs and will not be acceptable at the front of a 
house. Dormers with flat roofs at the rear may be acceptable if their design has 
been well considered. 

1.11.15 A rear flat roof dormer should be a maximum of 3 metres wide. They 
should be set down from the roof ridge, up from the eaves level, and in from the 
sides. 

i) gabled ii) shed iii) hipped

These rooflights are small, 
well proportioned, and well 
aligned with the elevation 
below and would therefore 
be acceptable.

These rooflights would be 
unacceptable due to being 
too close to the eaves and 
verge; being of varying 
proportions and sizes, 
and not aligning with the 
elevation below.

24

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

Roof Lights

1.11.17 Rooflights can be the best way to obtain natural light into a loft conversion 
or roof space and do not always require planning permission. 

1.11.18 Where planning permission is required, Wakefield Council will be looking 
to see that: 

i) the location and number of rooflights introduced is not detrimental to the 
character of the property;
ii) they are located to the least visible aspect of a roof where possible.

1.11.19 While solar panels are encouraged, the Council advise that their 
appearance from the street is considered in addition to their energy efficiency.

Pitched roof dormer windows

1.11.10 pitched roof dormers should be well designed additions which retain the 
original roof form. 

1.11.11 Traditional pitched roof dormer windows should be a maximum of 1.5 
metres wide. pitched roof dormers on modern properties may be slightly wider 
than 1.5 metres. 

1.11.12 Two smaller pitched roof dormers may look better than one large dormer 
or window, particularly if they can be aligned with windows below. 

1.11.13 These are three common types of pitched roof dormers. Choosing a 
dormer roof type that mirrors your existing roof is a good way to ensure that the 
dormer looks in-keeping with the original house. 

1.11 Roof Extensions and Alterations (continued)

Flat roof dormer windows

1.11.14 Flat roof extensions and dormers are much harder to design and detail 
well than those with pitched roofs and will not be acceptable at the front of a 
house. Dormers with flat roofs at the rear may be acceptable if their design has 
been well considered. 

1.11.15 A rear flat roof dormer should be a maximum of 3 metres wide. They 
should be set down from the roof ridge, up from the eaves level, and in from the 
sides. 

i) gabled ii) shed iii) hipped

These rooflights are small, 
well proportioned, and well 
aligned with the elevation 
below and would therefore 
be acceptable.

These rooflights would be 
unacceptable due to being 
too close to the eaves and 
verge; being of varying 
proportions and sizes, 
and not aligning with the 
elevation below.

DESIGN CODE E1.6
Skylights

Rooflights can be a good way to obtain natural light 
into a loft conversion or roof space and do not always 
require planning permission. 

Where planning permission is required the following 
criteria should be followed:

• the location and number of rooflights introduced is 
not detrimental to the character of the property;

• they are located to the least visible aspect of a roof 
where possible.

P
age 196



Escrick Design Code 059

DESIGN CODE E1.7
Garages and Carports
Garages and carports as side extensions

• garages and carports should be set back at least 
450mm from the front elevation

• they should have a driveway at least 5.5m clear of 
the highway*

• if the garden is not deep enough to provide a 5.5m 
deep driveway, the garage must be set back from 
the front elevation to provide this minimum driveway 
length

• where existing parking spaces are lost as a result 
of an extension, and this would cause road safety or 
congestion problems, replacement spaces must be 
provided on plot, not blocking windows and should 
maintain some green frontage 

Detached garages

• the location of the detached garage should 
respect the appearance of the area

• the detached garage should not appear 
excessively bulky in relation to the existing 
property

• materials of the detached garage should match 
the original house in type, colour and detail

• garages should be large enough to store a 
vehicle, and to ensure occupants can safely 
enter/exit the vehicle and garage. 

• space for storage. Internal dimensions of garage 
should be a minimum of 3.6m wide by 6m length. 

25

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

Outbuildings

1.12.10 Similarly to garages, outbuildings must 
reflect on the character of the main house in terms 
of size, materials and proportions. They must respect 
neighbouring developments and can be sited either at 
the rear or at the side of the property. It is not permitted 
to use an outbuilding for self contained accommodation 
but only for purposes ancillary to the main house.

Driveways and Parking Spaces

1.12.08 If you wish to replace part of your garden 
with a hard surface you will be required to make 
the hard surface of a porous material, or make 
provision for water run-off. please refer to permitted 
Development for Householders Technical Guidance 
from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government.

1.12.09 Dropped crossing points for vehicular 
access purposes may require planning permission 
or highway approval. please speak to the Highways 
Service for further information. 

1.12.06 If your garage will be smaller than 3m by 6m 
internally, additional parking space must be provided 
on site. For information about parking space allowance 
please see section 1.06 Design in Relation to the 
Existing property.

1.12.07 Car Ports: Applicants are advised to check 
with the Council whether it will require planning 
permission.

1.12 Garages, parking and Outbuildings

Garages and Outbuildings must respect the 
physical character of the main dwelling and 
must not disrupt a disproportionate amount 
of the original garden space. Their size must 
be an appropriate proportion to the main 
dwelling. 

1.12.01 A garage needs to be at least 3m by 
6m internally in order for it to be regarded by 
the Council as a parking space. It should be 
sited to the side, or rear of the house and must 
allow for a driveway of at least 5.6m in length 
between the garage door and the nearest edge 
of the pavement.

1.12.02 An external structure can be 
considered as an outbuilding only if it is 
ancillary to the main house. Its uses can 
include things such as a shed for bicycles, or a 
store for garden equipment.

1.12.03 Wakefield Council will not accept 
garages that are in highly prominent locations 
or project forward of the front wall of the 
house. 

1.12.04 Converting an integral garage may 
require planning permission. please contact 
Wakefield Council’s Development Team for 
further information.

Garages and Car Ports

1.12.05 When designing a garage it is important 
to take into account the neighbouring gardens and 
windows, and make sure it will not have a significantly 
negative impact on them. The scale, size, and design 
of a garage must be in keeping with the character of 
the house and therefore using similar materials to the 
house is advised. 

This garage is 
acceptable as it is 
proportionate to the 
size of the house, it 
does not disturb its 
neighbours, and it 
leaves sufficient space 
from the road for a car 
to park in front of it.

This garage would not 
be granted permission 
as it is located in too 
prominent a position at 
the front of the house.

min. 5.6m

SDG

25

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

Outbuildings

1.12.10 Similarly to garages, outbuildings must 
reflect on the character of the main house in terms 
of size, materials and proportions. They must respect 
neighbouring developments and can be sited either at 
the rear or at the side of the property. It is not permitted 
to use an outbuilding for self contained accommodation 
but only for purposes ancillary to the main house.

Driveways and Parking Spaces

1.12.08 If you wish to replace part of your garden 
with a hard surface you will be required to make 
the hard surface of a porous material, or make 
provision for water run-off. please refer to permitted 
Development for Householders Technical Guidance 
from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government.

1.12.09 Dropped crossing points for vehicular 
access purposes may require planning permission 
or highway approval. please speak to the Highways 
Service for further information. 

1.12.06 If your garage will be smaller than 3m by 6m 
internally, additional parking space must be provided 
on site. For information about parking space allowance 
please see section 1.06 Design in Relation to the 
Existing property.

1.12.07 Car Ports: Applicants are advised to check 
with the Council whether it will require planning 
permission.

1.12 Garages, parking and Outbuildings

Garages and Outbuildings must respect the 
physical character of the main dwelling and 
must not disrupt a disproportionate amount 
of the original garden space. Their size must 
be an appropriate proportion to the main 
dwelling. 

1.12.01 A garage needs to be at least 3m by 
6m internally in order for it to be regarded by 
the Council as a parking space. It should be 
sited to the side, or rear of the house and must 
allow for a driveway of at least 5.6m in length 
between the garage door and the nearest edge 
of the pavement.

1.12.02 An external structure can be 
considered as an outbuilding only if it is 
ancillary to the main house. Its uses can 
include things such as a shed for bicycles, or a 
store for garden equipment.

1.12.03 Wakefield Council will not accept 
garages that are in highly prominent locations 
or project forward of the front wall of the 
house. 

1.12.04 Converting an integral garage may 
require planning permission. please contact 
Wakefield Council’s Development Team for 
further information.

Garages and Car Ports

1.12.05 When designing a garage it is important 
to take into account the neighbouring gardens and 
windows, and make sure it will not have a significantly 
negative impact on them. The scale, size, and design 
of a garage must be in keeping with the character of 
the house and therefore using similar materials to the 
house is advised. 

This garage is 
acceptable as it is 
proportionate to the 
size of the house, it 
does not disturb its 
neighbours, and it 
leaves sufficient space 
from the road for a car 
to park in front of it.

This garage would not 
be granted permission 
as it is located in too 
prominent a position at 
the front of the house.

min. 5.6m

SDG P
age 197



Escrick Design Code 060

The 45º Rule
The 45-degree rule can be used to establish the 
maximum permissible height, depth and width of 
an extension. It provides a general guide to what is 
normally considered acceptable. 

However, it is only a general rule of thumb and 
we may, on occasion, consider an extension to be 
unacceptable even if it appear acceptable on paper.

The 45-degree rule can be used to check if your 
extension may result in a loss of light to adjoining 
windows. This is generally less applicable to large 
detached dwellings with large distances between 
neighbours. 

When assessing a planning application for both single 
and two-storey extensions, two methods for applying 
the 45-degree rule will be used:

Method 1: Considers the depth and width of the 
extension
Method 2: Considers the height of the extension

If the proposed extension breaks one of the 45-degree 
lines it may be unacceptable. If it breaks both 
45-degree lines if would be found unacceptable.
You are advised to locate any extension as far from the 
45-degree splay as practically possible to reduce the 
impacts to your neighbours, and thereby increasing 
your chances of creating an acceptable extension.

Method 1: Considers the depth and width of the 
extension

Steps
1. Work out the depth and width of the proposed 
extension
2. Draw the proposed extension in PLAN* form
3. Plot your neighbour’s property on the drawing
4. Mark the position of the nearest window serving a 
habitable room* onto the drawing
5. Mark the CENTRE POINT of your neighbour’s 
window, and from this point draw a 45-degree splay 
line out towards your proposed extension
If your property is between two properties, make sure 
that you include them both.

15

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

The ‘45 Degree Rule’ Additional considerations

Level Changes 
1.07.09 Where a change in level separates two adjoining 
houses, an extension to the higher house will have a far 
greater effect on its lower neighbour than in the reverse.

Joint Extensions
1.07.10 Joint extensions to adjoining properties may be 
accepted even if the individual extension would not comply 
with the 45 degree rule, providing that they are of the same 
depth and are to be constructed at the same time.

1.07 Effect on Neighbours (continued)

The ‘45 Degree Rule’

1.07.06 The ‘45 degree rule’ highlights 
extensions that are likely to overshadow 
neighbouring properties. It takes into account 
the location of your neighbours’ habitable 
rooms.

1.07.07 How to use the 45 degree rule:

i) locate the midpoint of the closest habitable 
window on your neighbour’s property to the 
proposed extension;

ii) in plan view, draw a line from the midpoint 
of the window at an angle of 45 degrees;

iii) check whether the proposed extension 
is set within this line. If it overlaps the 45 
degree line, the extension is likely to cause 
overshadowing of the neighbouring property 
and may be refused. 

1.07.08 It is good practice to also apply this 
rule to existing windows of the house being 
extended.

plan:

plan:

Elevation:

Extension achieves the ‘45° 
rule’ as it is within the 45° 
line.
Proposed extension:
acceptable

Extension fails the ‘45° 
rule’ as it goes beyond the 
45° line.

Proposed extension:
unacceptable as it causes 
overshadowing

Proposed extension

Nearest window to 
habitable room in 
neighbouring house

Boundary Line

Boundary Line

45°

45°

Proposed extension may 
be deemed acceptable.

Proposed extension
Proposed extension

plan:

Elevation:

Boundary Line

Boundary Line

P
age 198



Escrick Design Code 061

Method 2: Considers the height of the extension
Steps

1. Work out the height and width of the proposed 
extension
2. Draw the proposed rear extension in ELEVATION* 
form (make sure your elevation reflects any changes 
in levels between your property
and any neighbouring properties)
3. Plot your neighbour’s property on the drawing
4. Mark the CENTRE POINT of the top of the window 
of the nearest habitable ground floor window of your 
neighbour’s property
5. From the CENTRE POINT draw a 45-degree splay 
line out towards your proposed extension.
*If your property is between two properties, make 
sure that you include them both*

15

Wakefield District Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document: Part 2

Wakefield Council Local Development Framework - Adopted 31 January 2018 

The ‘45 Degree Rule’ Additional considerations

Level Changes 
1.07.09 Where a change in level separates two adjoining 
houses, an extension to the higher house will have a far 
greater effect on its lower neighbour than in the reverse.

Joint Extensions
1.07.10 Joint extensions to adjoining properties may be 
accepted even if the individual extension would not comply 
with the 45 degree rule, providing that they are of the same 
depth and are to be constructed at the same time.

1.07 Effect on Neighbours (continued)

The ‘45 Degree Rule’

1.07.06 The ‘45 degree rule’ highlights 
extensions that are likely to overshadow 
neighbouring properties. It takes into account 
the location of your neighbours’ habitable 
rooms.

1.07.07 How to use the 45 degree rule:

i) locate the midpoint of the closest habitable 
window on your neighbour’s property to the 
proposed extension;

ii) in plan view, draw a line from the midpoint 
of the window at an angle of 45 degrees;

iii) check whether the proposed extension 
is set within this line. If it overlaps the 45 
degree line, the extension is likely to cause 
overshadowing of the neighbouring property 
and may be refused. 

1.07.08 It is good practice to also apply this 
rule to existing windows of the house being 
extended.

plan:

plan:

Elevation:

Extension achieves the ‘45° 
rule’ as it is within the 45° 
line.
Proposed extension:
acceptable

Extension fails the ‘45° 
rule’ as it goes beyond the 
45° line.

Proposed extension:
unacceptable as it causes 
overshadowing

Proposed extension

Nearest window to 
habitable room in 
neighbouring house

Boundary Line

Boundary Line

45°

45°

Proposed extension may 
be deemed acceptable.

Proposed extension
Proposed extension

plan:

Elevation:

Boundary Line

Boundary Line

P
age 199



Escrick Design Code 062

GLOSSARY
Accessibility: The ability of people to move around an area and reach 
places and facilities, including older and disabled people, those with young 
children and those carrying luggage or shopping. 

Active frontage: The front of a buildings with openings onto the space that 
generate activity and engagement between the building interior and the 
space outside, particularly entrances.

Backland Development: New buildings within the curtilage of existing 
buildings e.g a new house in the rear garden of an existing house. 

Blue/Green infrastructure: A network of multifunctional green space or 
water, which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and 
quality of life benefits for local communities.

Context : The location of the development and the attributes of its 
immediate, local and regional surroundings.

Curtilage: An area of land attached to a house and forming one enclosure 
with it.

Design guide: A document providing guidance on how development can 
be carried out in accordance with good design practice.

Design code: A set of illustrated design requirements that provide specific, 
detailed parameters for the physical development of a site or area. The 
graphic and written components of the code should build upon a design 
vision, such as a masterplan or other design and development framework 
for a site or area.

Form: Form is the three-dimensional shape and modelling of buildings 
and the spaces they define. Buildings and spaces can take many forms, 
depending upon their: size and shape in plan; height; bulk - their volume; 
massing - how bulk is shaped into a form; building lines - the alignment of 
building frontages along a street; and relationship to the plot boundary - 
and whether they share party walls or not. 

Infill Development: New buildings sited on plots with existing development 
surrounding the proposal e.g either side. 

Local vernacular: An indigenous building style using local materials and 
traditional methods of construction and ornament, especially as distinguished 
from academic or historical architectural styles.

Natural surveillance: When buildings around a space are designed with features 
that are likely to lead to people overlooking the space. These may be windows, 
balconies, front gardens or entrances.

Scale: Scale is the height, width and length of each building proposed within a
development in relation to its surroundings. This relates both to the overall size 
and massing of individual buildings and spaces in relation to their surroundings, 
and to the  scale of their parts. It affects how a space can be used and how it is 
experienced. The relationships between the different dimensions of a building or 
component are known as its proportions.

Street Scene: The appearance of all of the elements of a street, including the 
carriageway, pavement, street furniture, planting, and the buildings or structures 
along its edges, particularly the composition of buildings on each side of the 
street. 

Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS): Features designed to reduce flood risk, 
which are built to receive surface water run-off, such as constructed wetlands, 
permeable surfaces, retention ponds, green roofs and swales. 

P
age 200



Escrick Design Code 063

APPENDICES
Useful resources (hyperlinks)

Escrick Parish Council Website 
 - Maps of Escrick
 - Photos of Escrick 

Escrick heritage 

Escrick Neighbourhood Plan 

National Design Guide 

Selby Landscape Character Assessment 

P
age 201

https://www.escrick.org/
https://www.escrick.org/village/maps/
https://www.escrick.org/village/photos/
https://www.escrickheritage.org/
https://www.escrick.org/council/neighbourhood-development-plan/
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962113/National_design_guide.pdf
https://www.selby.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Selby%20LCA%20Report%20Combined.pdf


Escrick Design Code 064

P
age 202


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Financial Results and Budget Exceptions Report to 30 September 2022 (Quarter 2) (E/22/27)
	Appendix A: General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Revenue Budget Exceptions
	Appendix B: General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Savings
	Appendix C: General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme
	Appendix D: Programme for Growth

	5 Treasury Management - Quarterly Update - Quarter 2 2022/23 (E/22/28)
	Appendix A: Quarter 2 Prudential Indicators
	PI Q monitoring


	6 Discretionary Housing Payments (E/22/29)
	7 Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021 - 2035 (ENDP) (E/22/30)
	Appendix A: Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021 - 2035
	Appendix B: Escrick Neighbourhood Development Plan Design Code


